Functional characterization of genetic risk factors in autoimmune Addison's disease

Sigrid Aslaksen

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) University of Bergen, Norway 2020



UNIVERSITY OF BERGEN

Functional characterization of genetic risk factors in autoimmune Addison's disease

Sigrid Aslaksen



Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

Date of defense: 23.10.2020

© Copyright Sigrid Aslaksen

The material in this publication is covered by the provisions of the Copyright Act.

Year: 2020

Title: Functional characterization of genetic risk factors in autoimmune Addison's disease

Name: Sigrid Aslaksen

Print: Skipnes Kommunikasjon / University of Bergen

Scientific environment

The work of this thesis was conducted between 2017 and 2020 at the Department of Clinical Science and KG Jebsen Senter for Autoimmune Sykdommer, Faculty of Medicine, University of Bergen, with Dr. Eirik Bratland as supervisor and Professor Eystein S. Husebye as co-supervisor. Financial support was provided by the Research Council of Norway (grant no. 262677), and travel grants from Dr. Nils Henrichsen og hustru Anna Henrichsens legat, Det alminnelige medisinske forskningsfond and Scandinavian Society of Immunology.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I sincerely thank my principal supervisor Dr. Eirik Bratland for the continuous support, scientific guidance and for always being available throughout the PhD. Your theoretical knowledge and practical skills have been invaluable during these three years. I am also grateful for all our discussions and brainstorming, which have been so inspiring and encouraging. This work would not have been possible without your supervision and involvement.

I am greatly thankful to my co-supervisor Professor Eystein S. Husebye for offering me the opportunity to become part of the exciting scientific environment within the Endocrine Medicine group. Thank you for sharing theoretical expertise in endocrinology and for supporting this project.

I would also like to express my gratitude to all my past and present colleagues in the Endocrine Medicine group for contributing to such a stimulating and social environment. A special thanks goes to Lars Breivik, Alexander Hellesen, Anette Bøe Wolff, Bergithe Eikeland Oftedal (especially during my visit in Oxford), Amund Berger, Ellen Røyrvik, Åse Bjorvatn Sævik, Elisabeth Halvorsen, Hajirah Muneer, Marie Karlsen, Elin Theodorsen, Øyvind Bruserud, Obaidur Rahman, Solveig Henriette Einevoll, Thea Sjøgren, Shahinul Islam, Andre Sulen, Marianne Øksnes, Elinor Vogt, Paal Methlie and Haydee Artaza Alvarez for valuable discussions, supportive moments, technical support, and for many appreciated lunch breaks.

My sincere thanks to my girls Kristin, Regine, Kristina and Martha for all the good times shared on and off work. Our coffee and lunch breaks, online quizzes during the time of corona, social events, not to mention your good sense of humor, have been especially important to me during the PhD. Thanks to Olivera Bozickvic for being such a positive, kind and motivating person. Thanks to Thomas Helland for great coffee breaks and DJ tips, in addition to the rest of the Hormone group for creating a good working environment. Thanks to Brith Bergum for technical support with flow cytometry analyses.

I sincerely thank my precious family and friends, especially my parents Kathinka and Per for always believe in me and for giving me endless motivation and support. I am also thankful to Aslak and Kari for all the pleasant evenings and discussions at Møllendal Fetevare.

Finally, I want to thank my Per Gunnar for your love, understanding and encouragement during the PhD. Your support in the final stages of my thesis writing has been indispensable.

Bergen, July 2020

SgntAslalisin

Sigrid Aslaksen

Summary

Autoimmune diseases occur when the immune system attacks and damages the body's own tissue. *Why* people develop these diseases, and *how* the autoimmune reaction develops are unanswered questions. Autoimmune Addison's disease (AAD) is an organ-specific autoimmune disorder characterized by an immunological attack of the adrenal cortex. The complex genetic architecture underlying AAD has not been entirely established, and the overall aim of this project was therefore to identify and functionally characterize genetic risk factors in AAD.

We discovered several rare and damaging inborn errors of antiviral immunity in AAD patients. Among them, variants in the gene encoding Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3), which recognizes double-stranded RNAs (dsRNAs) upon viral infection. Functional characterization of the *TLR3* variants revealed a partial loss of function effect on the receptor's signaling activity, leading to impaired interferon (IFN) responses *ex vivo*.

Next, we identified a homozygous stop-gain variant in the gene encoding 3β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (3β HSD2), causing a rare form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH). The mutation was carried by an AAD patient with circulating antibodies against the major AAD autoantigen 21-hydroxylase (210H). To our knowledge, this combination represents a novel disease etiology.

Finally, we wanted to identify HLA-specific immunodominant epitopes of 21OH, targeted by autoreactive T cells. We discovered a new immunodominant epitope, ARLELFVVL (210H₄₃₄₋₄₄₂), presented by HLA-C*0701. This is the first HLA-C*0701 restricted epitope described for a self-antigen in an autoimmune disease. We also confirmed the presence of autoreactive CD8⁺ T cells responses to the previously proposed epitope LLNATIAEV (210H₃₄₂₋₃₅₀), restricted to HLA-A2.

Altogether, the work in this doctoral dissertation has provided new insights into *why* certain individuals might be more genetically susceptible to develop AAD, and partly *how* the autoimmune reaction progresses.

Table of contents

SCIENTIFIC ENVIRONMENT	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
SUMMARY	7
TABLE OF CONTENTS	8
ABBREVIATIONS	10
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	14
INTRODUCTION	15
THE INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM	15
The cellular components of innate immunity	16
Innate immune receptors	17
The adaptive immune system	
IMMUNOLOGICAL TOLERANCE	
Central tolerance	
Peripheral tolerance	
AUTOIMMUNITY	
Genetic factors	25
Environmental factors	
AUTOIMMUNE ADDISON'S DISEASE	
The adrenal cortex	
Clinical characteristics	
The genetic basis of AAD	
Immunopathogenesis	35
Viruses as triggers of the autoreactive immunity	
AIMS	41
METHODOLOGY	43
PATIENT AND CONTROL MATERIAL	
Reporter gene assay (paper I)	
MHC CLASS I/PEPTIDE MULTIMERS (PAPER III)	44
HLA-C TYPING (PAPER III)	
RESULTS	45
DISCUSSION	51
Involvement of inborn errors of innate immunity	
IDENTIFICATION OF AN EXTREMELY RARE HOMOZYGOUS MUTATION IN THE HSD3B2 GENE	54

IMMUNODOMINANT HLA-RESTRICTED EPITOPES OF 210H IN AAD	56
CONCLUSIONS	61
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	63
REFERENCES	65
APPENDIX	76

Abbreviations

AAD	Autoimmune Addison's disease
АСТН	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
AH	Ancestral haplotype
AIH	Autoimmune hepatitis
AIRE	Autoimmune regulator
AITD	Autoimmune thyroid disease
ALRs	AIM2-like receptors
APECED	Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
APS	Autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome
BACH2	BTB domain and CNC homolog 2
BCR	B cell receptor
CADD	Combined Annotation Dependent Depletion
САН	Congenital adrenal hyperplasia
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CD	Celiac disease
CLEC16A	C-Type Lectin Domain Containing 16A
CLRs	C-type lectin receptors
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CNS	Central nervous system
СТ	Computer tomography
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4
CVID	Common variable immunodeficiency
DC	Dendritic cell

DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
DHEA-S	DHEA-sulfate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsRNA	Double-stranded RNA
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
EV	Enteroviruses
GWAS	Genome wide association study
gnomAD	Genome aggregation database
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HSE	Herpes simplex virus encephalitis
HPA	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
HSV	Herpes simplex virus
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
ΙΚΚε	Inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B kinase subunit epsilon
IL	Interleukin
ILC	Innate lymphoid cells
IPEX	Immunodysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked
IRAK4	IL-1R-associated kinase 4
IRF3	IFN regulatory factor 3
ISGs	IFN-stimulated genes
JAK/STAT	Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription
KIRs	Killer cell Ig-like receptors
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectroscopy

LKM-1	Liver/kidney microsomal antibody type 1
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
MAPK	Mitogen-activated kinase
MDA5	Melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MR	Magnetic resonance
MS	Multiple sclerosis
mTECs	Medullary thymic epithelial cells
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response 88
NALP1	NACHT leucine-rich-repeat protein 1
NF-kB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
NK	Natural killer
NLRs	NOD-like receptors
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PD1	Programmed cell death protein 1
PGN	Peptidoglycan
PIDs	Primary immunodeficiency diseases
POI	Premature ovarian insufficiency
Poly(I:C)	Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
PTPN22	Protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene I
RLRs	RIG-I-like receptors

RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROAS	Norwegian National Registry of organ-specific autoimmune diseases
SEAP	Secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
ssRNA	Single-stranded RNA
TBK1	TANK-binding kinase 1
TCR	T cell receptor
TGF - β	Transforming growth factor beta
Th	T helper
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
Tregs	Regulatory T cells
TRAF6	TNF receptor-associated factor 6
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-β
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
WES	Whole-exome sequencing
210Н	21-hydroxylase
3βHSD2	3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2

List of publications

Paper I

Sigrid Aslaksen, Anette B. Wolff, Magnus D. Vigeland, Lars Breivik, Ying Sheng, Bergithe E. Oftedal, Haydee Artaza, Beate Skinningsrud, Dag E. Undlien, Kaja K. Selmer, Eystein S. Husebye, Eirik Bratland (2019). Identification and characterization of rare Toll-like receptor 3 variants in patients with autoimmune Addison's disease

Journal of Translational Autoimmunity, 1, 100005.

Paper II

Sigrid Aslaksen, Paal Methlie, Magnus D. Vigeland, Dag E. Jøssang, Anette B. Wolff, Ying Sheng, Bergithe E. Oftedal, Beate Skinningsrud, Dag E. Undlien, Kaja K. Selmer, Eystein S. Husebye, Eirik Bratland (2019).

Coexistence of congenital adrenal hyperplasia and autoimmune Addison's disease

Frontiers in Endocrinology, 10, 648.

Paper III

Alexander Hellesen * and **Sigrid Aslaksen** *, Lars Breivik, Ellen Christine Røyrvik, Øyvind Bruserud, Kine Edvardsen, Karl Albert Brokstad, Anette Susanne Bøe Wolff, Eystein S. Husebye, Eirik Bratland (2020).

Circulating 21-hydroxylase-specific CD8 + T cells in autoimmune Addison's disease are predominantly restricted by HLA-A2 and HLA-C7 molecules.

Submitted to Science Immunology *Both authors contributed equally

Introduction

Protection against invasive pathogens is fully dependent on the immune system, a highly evolved network of specialized cells and molecules. This host defense system is remarkably effective as serious persistent infections are quite rare. Nonetheless, there are some limitations in that severe infections occasionally may occur, and also, in that the immune response sometimes fails to discriminate self from non-self, causing autoimmunity.

The development of autoimmunity recapitulates the same immune responses used to fight off infections and results in destruction of the host's own cells and tissues. Autoimmune disorders may affect almost all organs, whereby the clinical phenotype and severity are dependent on which tissue is being attacked. In autoimmune Addison's disease (AAD), the immune system is directed against the hormone-producing cells of the adrenal cortex, leading to insufficient production of vital steroids. Patients with Addison's disease therefore depend upon lifelong replacement therapy [1].

In the following, a brief introduction of the main components of the immune system is given, followed by a description of immunological tolerance and autoimmunity with emphasis on AAD.

The innate and adaptive immune system

To establish an infection, the pathogen must break through the first line of defense consisting of the skin and mucous barriers that secretes chemical compounds restricting the adherence and growth of microbes. Pathogens that manage to overcome these barriers will meet the two further lines of defense, the innate and adaptive immune systems [2].

The components constituting the innate immune response may be found in all advanced living organisms and has been refined for a longer period throughout evolution than the adaptive immune system, which is believed to have arisen with the vertebrate lineage [3, 4]. The innate immune system mounts the same immediate response each

time it gets exposed to a certain pathogen, whereas the adaptive immune response will improve on every exposure to the same pathogen, making it antigen-specific.

The cellular components of innate immunity

The innate immune response is largely dependent on phagocytosis by mononuclear and polymorphonuclear phagocytes. The mononuclear phagocytes include monocytes, dendritic cells (DCs), and macrophages. DCs are professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that can activate immune cells of the adaptive immunity and are found in most tissues including lymphoid organs, skin, lung, and kidneys [3, 5]. Macrophages are specialized cells that engulf and destroy any foreign invader, as well as clearing up debris from dead cells, and are located within the parenchyma of major organs throughout the body. They also serve as APCs to activate adaptive immune responses. Upon recognition of a pathogen, macrophages release chemotactic cytokines to attract other phagocytes, in particular polymorphonuclear phagocytes, to the site of infection. The polymorphonuclear myeloid cells (also known as granulocytes) include neutrophils and eosinophils, releasing reactive oxygen species to kill bacteria and parasites, in addition to basophils and mast cells, the main mediators of inflammation and allergic responses [2]. Another important cell population of innate immunity is the innate lymphoid cells (ILCs). ILCs respond quickly to pathogens by producing various cytokines and are especially abundant at mucosal surfaces [6]. ILCs include the natural killer (NK) cells that can kill infected and malignant cells, in addition to produce diverse cytokines such as interferon gamma (IFNy) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFα) [7]. To further control the spreading of microorganisms, the complement system is activated, involving acute phase proteins in the blood that mediate opsonization and lysis of the pathogen, in addition to enhancing the inflammatory response [8].

To recognize pathogens, the innate immune system uses pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that are specialized to detect small molecules deriving from viruses, fungi, bacteria, and protozoa, known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) [9].

Binding of PAMPs to PRRs will activate numerous different signaling pathways that produce cytokines promoting the host response to infection [10, 11].

Innate immune receptors

The existence of PAMPs has been known for decades, but the PRRs recognizing them were introduced more recently by Charles Janeway in 1989 [12]. Since then, several classes of PRRs have been discovered including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) and AIM2-like receptors (ALRs). These receptors are categorized by their structure and specificity, in addition to their tissue-specific expression and cellular localization [11]. The best characterized PRRs are the TLRs, and at present ten functional human TLRs have been defined. TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6, and probably TLR10 are all expressed on the cell surface, detecting extracellular components of bacterial and fungal cell walls, such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS), di- and triacyl lipopeptides, peptidoglycan (PGN) and flagellin. The remaining TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 are localized within endosomes, where they detect foreign nucleic acids such as doublestranded ribonucleic acid (dsRNA), single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) and unmethylated CpG deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), respectively. These intracellular TLRs are believed to function primarily as viral sensors (Figure 1) [9, 11].

Activation of intracellular TLR signaling is induced by binding of the ligand to the leucine-rich repeats of the receptors' ectodomain. For all TLRs except TLR3, this leads to activation of the adaptor protein myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88). MyD88 then interacts with interleukin (IL)-1R-associated kinase-4 (IRAK4), which phosphorylates IRAK1 and IRAK2 that, in turn, activate TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) [9, 13]. TRAF6 is further involved in activation of the mitogen-activated kinase (MAPK) pathway, and the two transcription factors nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) and IFN regulatory factor 7 (IRF7), leading to the production of antiviral and proinflammatory cytokines like TNF, IL-12 and IL-6, and type I and III IFNs [14-16].

Upon TLR3 signaling, MyD88 is substituted with the adaptor protein TIR-domaincontaining adapter-inducing IFN- β (TRIF), which interacts with both TRAF3 and TRAF6. TRAF3 links TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) with inhibitor of NF-kB kinase subunit epsilon (IKK ϵ), which together phosphorylate IRF3, leading to the production of type I and III IFNs. TRAF6, as mentioned earlier, induces transcription of proinflammatory cytokines and IFNs [14].



Figure 1. TLR signaling pathways. The extracellular TLRs (TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6, and probably TLR10) are activated by molecules deriving from bacterial and fungal cell walls including lipopolysaccharides (LPS), di- and triacyl lipopeptides, peptidoglycan (PGN) and flagellin. The intracellular TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 are activated by nucleic acids within endosomes. Binding of the ligand to the receptors' ectodomain induces activation of the adaptor proteins MyD88 or TRIF. MyD88 recruits IRAK4 to phosphorylate IRAK1 and IRAK2, which further phosphorylate TRAF6, leading to activation of the IKK complex (IKK γ , IKK α , and IKK β). This complex activates NF-kB, allowing it to translocate into the nucleus and initiate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. The other adaptor protein TRIF interacts with both TRAF3 and TRAF6. TRAF3 links TBK1 with IKK ϵ , which promotes phosphorylation of IRF3 and IRF7, leading to the production of type I and III IFNs. The TLRs generally form homodimers upon activation, whereas TLR2 also functions as a heterodimer with TLR1 and TLR6. Figure modified from Wang et al [17].

Apart from the TLRs, RLRs also sense viral RNA products, not within endosomes, but in the cytosol of infected cells. RIG-I and melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA5) are two well-defined RLRs, and activate NF-kB and IFN production through the same signaling pathways utilized by the TLRs [18].

Newly synthesized type I IFNs (α and β) and type III IFN (λ) will engage their cognate receptors to activate the Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT) signaling pathway. The result is the expression of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs), which induce an antiviral state involving RNA degradation, inhibition of protein synthesis, upregulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I (described later), chemokine secretion, and apoptosis [19-22].

The adaptive immune system

While the innate immunity mediates a rapid response to infectious agents, the range of innate sensors recognizing them is limited. Consequently, an adaptive and more specific recognition system has evolved, providing a broader repertoire for detecting constantly mutating microbes. Also, after the initial exposure, the adaptive immune response develops memory cells with the capacity of mediating a rapid and enhanced response upon re-exposure to the same pathogen [23].

Cells of the adaptive immune system include thymus-derived T lymphocytes and bone marrow-derived B lymphocytes. During their development, they acquire T cell receptors (TCRs) and B cell receptors (BCRs), respectively, which enable them to recognize a wide range of antigens. The receptors are generated by random combinations of gene segments that are both variable and constant, giving rise to a wide T and B cell repertoire [2]. Following their development in the thymus and bone marrow, T and B cells migrate to secondary lymphoid organs for activation and proliferation. Activation is initiated upon binding of antigens by TCRs and BCRs, presented by professional APCs, in particular DCs, that have migrated to secondary lymphoid organs. The lymphocytes then migrate to the sites of infection and work together with the innate immunity to eliminate the pathogen [23]. There are two types of adaptive immune responses: the humoral response involving antigen-specific

antibodies produced by plasma cells (terminally differentiated B cells), and the cellmediated response mediated by T cells, which destroys infected cells [24].

T cells

T cells can be divided into two main subsets based on their expression of either cluster of differentiation (CD) 8 or CD4 [25]. CD8⁺ T cells interact with antigen peptides presented by MHC class I molecules expressed by all nucleated cells, whereas CD4⁺ T cells interact with antigens presented by MHC class II molecules mainly restricted to APCs. The MHC proteins are encoded by the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) system including class I genes (HLA-A, HLA-B, and HLA-C) and class II genes (HLA-DR, HLA-DQ, and HLA-DP) [23]. In addition to antigen stimuli (signal 1), co-stimulatory signaling is required for T cell activation, involving the interaction of CD80/CD86 on APCs with CD28 on T cells (signal 2), as well as inflammatory cytokines (such as IL-12 or IFN α/β) (signal 3) (Figure 2). The co-stimulatory signal is finely tuned by inhibitory receptors including cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD1) [26].

Following these stimulating events, the production of IL-2 is induced and CD8⁺ T and CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into functionally distinct effector populations. Naïve CD4⁺ T cells, also known as T helper (Th) cells, develop into either Th1, Th2, or Th17 depending on the surrounding cytokine milieu mediated by innate immune cells. IL-12 results in differentiation toward Th1 cells, which support cell-mediated responses in which they secrete IFN γ and IL-2 to activate macrophages and CD8⁺ T cell development (Figure 2). IL-4 induces differentiation towards Th2 cells that stimulate humoral and allergic responses by releasing IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 [23, 24, 27, 28]. Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) and IL-6 promote the development of Th17 cells, which secrete IL-17 important for protection against extracellular fungi and bacteria. Notably, Th17 cells are known to be implicated in the disease progression of several autoimmune disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), and psoriasis [29, 30]. In addition to Th17 cell development, TGF- β , accompanied by IL-2, induces differentiation towards regulatory T cells

(Tregs), critical for regulating T-cell responses through anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-10 [31].



Figure 2. A simplified schematic of T cell activation. Extracellular antigens are taken up by an APC, in this figure a DC, and presented to CD4⁺ T cells via class II MHC molecules and CD8⁺ T cells via class I MHC molecules (Signal 1). For proper T cell activation, costimulatory signals are required, involving the interaction of CD80/CD86 on the APC with CD28 on the T cells (Signal 2), as well as inflammatory cytokines produced by the APC (Signal 3). Release of cytokine IL-12 will push the CD4⁺ T cell into the Th1 type, which, in turn, will secrete cytokines, such as IL-2, to support T cell proliferation and differentiation. Figure produced using Medical Servier Art.

Activation of naïve CD8⁺ T cells results in the conversion to cytotoxic T cells that are essential for defeating pathogens (mostly viruses) in the cytosol of infected cells. Once they are activated, they produce IFN γ to stimulate their cytotoxicity and motility, enabling them to efficiently colonize sites of inflammation [32]. Importantly, IFN γ production is associated with several autoimmune diseases including SLE and AAD [33-35]. Following migration to the site of inflammation, cytotoxic T cells recognize antigens presented by MHC class I molecules on the surface of target cells and kill them by mediating the coordinated action of perforin and granzymes. Perforin generates pores in the membrane of the target cell, allowing granzymes to enter and activate a caspase cascade. Ligation of Fas-ligand on the cytotoxic T cell to Fas receptors on the target cell can also induce apoptosis, although this mechanism functions mainly to delete activated Fas-expressing lymphocytes after an infection has been cleared, to maintain lymphocyte homeostasis [23, 36].

B cells and antibodies

The adaptive humoral response is mediated by antibody-producing plasma cells developed from B cells. In the bone marrow, B cells pass through several differentiation stages involving rearrangements of the genes encoding antibody, or immunoglobulin (Ig), heavy and light chains to become IgD and IgM-expressing cells. This stage does not require contact with exogenous antigens and is therefore called antigen-independent B cell development [23]. In the next phase, B cells migrate to secondary lymphoid organs to finalize their Ig repertoire. This development stage is mainly dependent on the ability of B cells to function as APCs. The IgM and IgG receptors capture antigens and internalize them for further presentation by MHC class II molecules on the B cell surface. When the B cell then interacts with a T cell, in particular a Th cell specific for the MHC class II/antigen, the T cell starts producing cytokines to promote B cells promotes differentiation of B cells into short-lived - or memory plasma cells, as well as Ig class switching from IgM and IgD to IgG, IgA or IgE, depending on the surrounding cytokine milieu [23, 27].

Immunological tolerance

Cells of the adaptive immunity are shaped to recognize and neutralize an infinite number of pathogens. Inevitably, some of their receptors may also react to host components. T and B cells must therefore undergo immunological tolerance enabling them to discriminate between self and non-self. There are two mechanisms by which immunological tolerance occurs: i) during lymphocyte maturation in the primary lymphoid organs (central tolerance); ii) during lymphocyte-antigen interactions in the secondary lymphoid organs (peripheral tolerance). If these mechanisms fail, lymphocytes may start to attack cells of our own body resulting in autoimmunity [37, 38].

Central tolerance

The process of central B cell tolerance is thought to be less complex than the one for T cells. Immature B cells that display self-reactive receptors in the bone marrow either undergo apoptosis or get the chance to rearrange their receptors' specificity to become less self-reactive, resulting in survival [38]. On the other hand, T cells are required to pass through two tolerance mechanisms: positive- and negative selection. Positive selection represents the first step where only double-positive T cells ($CD4^+CD8^+$) showing a defined affinity to self MHC molecules survive. Those without any affinity, constituting 90% of all double-positive cells, undergo a death pathway called "death by neglect" [39]. Following positive selection, double-positive T cells differentiate into single-positive cells (either CD4⁺ or CD8⁺) before subjected to negative selection in the thymic medulla. Here, they encounter a variety of self-antigens by interacting with medullary stromal cells including medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) [40]. By utilizing promiscuous gene expression, mTECs and other APCs in the thymus express and present numerous peripheral tissue-specific antigens [41, 42]. These antigens represent diverse tissues such as the lung, heart, stomach, and kidney, and their expression is regulated by the key transcription factor "autoimmune regulator" (AIRE). AIRE is therefore a critical regulator of central tolerance, and deficiency causes autoimmune destruction of several, mostly endocrine, organs manifesting as the syndrome autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED), also known as autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type-1 (APS-1) [43, 44]. Besides this well-established role for AIRE in negative selection, there is increasing evidence that AIRE also promotes thymic Treg development [45]. A recent study of Aire-deficient mice showed that AIRE promotes the generation of Foxp3⁺CD4⁺ Tregs in the perinatal period [46]. Given this influence, it has been speculated that Treg defects caused by AIRE deficiency might contribute to autoimmunity [45]. However, this hypothesis requires further testing.

After surviving both positive and negative selection, the remaining CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells expressing TCRs without high affinity for self-peptides, migrate to the periphery and secondary lymphoid organs where they have the potential to interact with their cognate antigens presented by APCs [37].

Peripheral tolerance

Although central tolerance is thought to be efficient, some self-reactive lymphocytes manage to escape deletion in the primary lymphoid organs. Thus, peripheral tolerance has evolved to serve as a second elimination process in the periphery. This mechanism is based upon the principle that any escaping self-reactive lymphocyte would need to find a cooperating partner for sufficient co-stimulation and activation. In the absence of such cooperation, autoreactive lymphocytes enter an inactive state, known as anergy, which remains even if they re-encounter the same antigen under appropriate stimuli.

For autoreactive B cells, anergy is induced when they interact with self-antigens without finding a cooperating Th cell. In this condition, B cells are outcompeted by other B cell clones and become excluded from entering the lymphoid follicles to receive survival factors [37, 47].

When self-reactive T cells escape negative selection, peripheral tolerance is promoted by at least three distinct mechanisms: i) anergy; ii) deletion by activation-induced cell death; iii) immune suppression by Tregs [37]. Anergy is induced, as previously mentioned, when the TCR encounters antigens in the absence of co-stimulation. It can also be induced by binding of CD80/CD86 on APCs to CTLA-4 on T cells, which transmits an inhibitory signal [48, 49]. The second mechanism, deletion by activationinduced cell death, is induced when Fas (CD95) and FasL (CD95L) on T cells interact after repeated stimulation of the TCR [50]. The last peripheral tolerance process is mediated by Tregs, which suppress T cell responses either in a contact-dependent manner or by producing immunosuppressive cytokines such as TGF- β or IL-10 [51]. Tregs are therefore important for maintaining self-tolerance, which is underlined by previous research showing that decrease in their numbers and function is associated with several autoimmune disorders such as SLE, multiple sclerosis (MS), type 1 diabetes (T1D), APS-1, RA, and immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy and enteropathy, X-linked (IPEX) syndrome [52-54].

Autoimmunity

From the brief overview of immunological tolerance above, it appears that autoimmunity is a result of defective elimination of self-reactive lymphocytes. Once some of these autoreactive lymphocytes are activated, multiple parts of the immune system may get involved in attacking host tissue, leading to either systemic or organ-specific autoimmune disorders. So far, more than 80 autoimmune disorders have been described, and their incidence and prevalence are still rising [55]. Some of them seem to have shared, yet complex, genetic bases and etiology pathways as they often tend to co-occur within individuals and families [56]. However, they may only develop after exposure to certain environmental factors, making them challenging to study and fully understand.

Genetic factors

Several genetic risk factors for autoimmunity have been identified, but their precise contribution is often hard to specify. Nonetheless, a few autoimmune disorders are induced by single gene alterations, making them easier to study and diagnose. One classic example is the unique disorder APS-1 caused by both autosomal recessive mutations and dominant-negative mutations in *AIRE* [44, 57, 58]. Another example is the autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome, also known as the Canale-Smith syndrome, caused by impairment of Fas-induced apoptosis, due to mutations in the *FAS* gene or other genes involved in apoptosis [59]. The IPEX syndrome is also a monogenic autoimmune disease, caused by mutations in forkhead box P3 (*FOXP3*) that regulates the development and suppressive activity of Tregs [60, 61].

Apart from these disorders, most autoimmune diseases are polygenic, resulting from multiple susceptibility variants in many genes. The best-characterized genetic component so far is mapped to the HLA locus encoding class I or II MHC molecules.

Several associations between polymorphisms in the HLA complex and autoimmune diseases have been described. For instance, the haplotypes *DRB1*03:01-DQA1*05:01-DQB1*02:01* and *DRB1*04:04-DQA1*03:01-DQB1*03:02* (DR3-DQ2 and DR4-DQ8) are shown to confer risk to both celiac disease (CD), T1D, autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD), and AAD, explaining why these diseases tend to co-occur within individuals [43, 62, 63]. CD is nonetheless considered one of the most evident HLA-associated diseases as it occurs selectively in individuals expressing the DQ2 or DQ8 haplotypes [64, 65]. In conjunction, specific HLA alleles seem also to be involved in drug-induced autoimmunity by abacavir, an anti-retroviral medication used to treat human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). In treated individuals expressing the HLA-B*57:01, abacavir seems to alter the binding cleft of the HLA class I molecule, increasing self-epitope binding. This leads to autoreactive T cell responses and abacavir hypersensitivity reactions [66, 67].

The role of certain HLA alleles in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity is most probably related to their antigen-presenting capacity; either by enhancing peptide-presentation in the periphery, leading to increased activation of T cells or by an insufficient presentation of self-antigens in the thymus, resulting in more self-reactive T cells or fewer Tregs [68, 69]. Apart from the HLA locus, several other autoimmune susceptibility genes have been identified, encoding cytokines, costimulatory molecules, molecules involved in promoting apoptosis, members of cytokine- or antigen-signaling cascades, and molecules that clear antigen or antigen-antibody complexes [70]. None of these genetic risk factors, however, can alone induce autoimmunity as it is the overall genetic background of the host that determines the probability of disease development [70].

Autoimmune susceptibility genes can also increase immunoreactivity, but they may not necessarily lead to an improved immune response against pathogens. In fact, individuals with autoimmune disorders show increased susceptibility to infections, and manifestations of autoimmunity may only occur after exposure to certain pathogens [71, 72]. This is mirrored by the high degree of genetic overlap between autoimmune disorders and monogenic primary immunodeficiency diseases (PIDs). Variations in the PID genes including *AIRE, STATs, FOXP3, LRBA* (lipopolysaccharide responsive beige-like anchor), and *CTLA4* are reported to be involved in the immune dysregulation of several autoimmune diseases including APS-1, IPEX, T1D, RA, vitiligo and AITD [73, 74]. Patients with PID caused by mutations in these genes are also prone to develop autoimmune diseases. Therefore, a major reason for autoimmunity could be the lack of clearance of microbial antigens, implying the impact of environmental triggers.

A useful tool for studying the relative contribution of genetic and environmental factors in autoimmune diseases is twin studies. In CD and AAD, the concordance rates among monozygotic twins are 75-86% [75, 76] and 71% [77] respectively, whereas RA and systemic sclerosis have less concordance [78], suggesting higher involvement of environmental factors. Moreover, a true twin concordance rate may only develop after several years, meaning that monozygotic twins have different disease onsets, also suggesting the involvement of non-genetic factors [78]. Another compelling evidence for an environmental contribution is the genotype-independent geographic variation of β -cell autoimmunity involved in T1D [79].

Environmental factors

The well-known environmental factors associated with autoimmunity include infections, vaccines, hormones, chemical exposures, drugs, diet, and cigarette smoking [80-82]. Among these, the most compelling and studied one is infection caused by viruses, bacteria, and other pathogens [83]. Several mechanisms of how infections induce autoimmune responses have been proposed. The pathogen may carry epitopes that are similar to the host's antigens, a phenomenon termed "molecular mimicry". Lymphocytes that react to such epitopes may then also react to self-antigens, resulting in tissue damage and activation of other parts of the immune system. Another mechanism is "epitope spreading", whereby the host tissue is damaged by the immune response to a persistent infection, and/or by necrosis caused by the pathogen itself. Self-antigens are then released, leading to local activation of APCs and presentation of self-peptides that further activate autoreactive lymphocytes. Activation and stimulation of these lymphocytes may also be indirect or non-specific, caused by inflammation present during an infection, a mechanism called "bystander activation" involving "cryptic antigens" [84]. In contrast to dominant antigens, cryptic antigens are usually invisible to the immune system as they appear in low concentrations. Upon inflammation, however, their concentration can increase due to elevated production of proteases and differential processing of released self-peptides by APCs [85, 86]. This creates the opportunity for autoreactive lymphocytes to develop.

The role of infection underlying autoimmune responses has especially been assigned to T1D, MS, and autoimmune liver disease or autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) [87-89]. Concerning T1D, previous research has demonstrated the presence of enteroviruses (EV) in pancreatic islets from patients [89]. Epidemiological studies have also reported more EV infections in T1D patients than in controls [89, 90]. Regarding MS, several epidemiological and immunological studies indicate an association with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) [91-96]. However, the results remain controversial; some researchers provide evidence for the expression of EBV in B cells in inflamed post-mortem brain tissue [91], while others do not detect EBV-positive cells, or at least in very few patients only [97-100]. In patients with AIH, previous research demonstrates the presence of antibodies against hepatitis C virus (HCV), in addition to a type of autoantibodies called liver/kidney microsomal antibody type 1 (LKM-1) in patients with chronic HCV infection [87]. Notably, many of the infections associated with autoimmune disorders are opportunistic, primarily affecting individuals who cannot efficiently eradicate the virus, leading to persistent proinflammatory conditions.

Impaired immunity and increased susceptibility to infections have also been demonstrated in patients with AAD in terms of reduced NK cell cytotoxicity and poor responses to IFNs in-vitro [101, 102]. These findings are mirrored by studies reporting that AAD patients have a higher intake of antibiotics and antivirals, both before and after the diagnosis, compared to the general population [103, 104].

Autoimmune Addison's disease

While Addison's disease during the last century was predominantly caused by tuberculous infiltration of the adrenal glands, the autoimmune form currently dominates in developed countries where it is responsible for approximately 80% of the cases in adult patients [83, 105, 106]. AAD is a classic organ-specific autoimmune disease characterized by an immune-mediated attack on the hormone-producing cells in the adrenal cortex, while the adrenal medulla remains intact. Destruction of the adrenal cortex leads to deficiency of the vital steroids cortisol and aldosterone, and patients with AAD therefore depend upon lifelong supplementation therapy [1, 107].

The adrenal cortex

The adrenal gland is a hormone-producing organ, composed of two cell layers with distinct embryological origins. The inner adrenal layer (medulla) arises from the ectoderm lineage and produces catecholamines (such as epinephrine and norepinephrine), whereas the outer adrenal cortex derives from intermediate mesoderm and converts cholesterol into various bioactive steroid hormones (Figure 3 and 4). The adrenal cortex consists of three separate zones, whereby each produces different steroids mediating stress response and regulation of blood pressure. The zona glomerulosa forms the outermost layer and produces the mineralocorticoid aldosterone, important for the maintenance of blood pressure. Zona glomerulosa is under the control of the renin-angiotensin system, which is regulated by blood pressure and changes in sodium and potassium levels. The next cell layer constitutes zona fasciculata that synthesizes glucocorticoids like cortisol under stimulation by the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Cortisol induces gluconeogenesis and anti-inflammatory processes during stress. The innermost zona reticularis secrete androstenedione and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), which can further be converted to sex hormones in peripheral tissues [108, 109].



Figure 3. Adrenal anatomy. The adrenal glands are located on top of the kidneys and consist of the outer adrenal cortex and the inner adrenal medulla. The adrenal cortex is subdivided into three distinct layers: Zona glomerulosa, producing mineralocorticoids, zona fasciculata, secreting glucocorticoids, and zona reticularis, producing androgens. The inner medulla synthesizes catecholamines including epinephrine and norepinephrine. Figure produced using Medical Servier Art.



Figure 4. Steroidogenesis in the adrenal cortex. Cholesterol is converted to aldosterone, cortisol, and androgens through different pathways that require the specific enzymes cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme (CYP11A), 17α -hydroxylase (CYP17), 3β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (3β HSD2), 21-hydroxylase (CYP21), 11β -hydroxylase (CYP11B1), and aldosterone synthase (CYP11B2).

Clinical characteristics

AAD is a relatively rare disorder with a prevalence in European populations ranging from 93-220 cases per million [105, 110-114]. Like other autoimmune diseases, AAD affects more women (female: male ratio 1.5-3.5:1) and can occur at any age, although it generally affects individuals between 30 to 50 years of age [105]. Patients have insufficient production of the adrenal steroids due to the autoimmune attack of the adrenal cortex. The pathological changes can develop slowly over many years before the clinical manifestations appear, which include fatigue, nausea, dizziness, weight loss, skin hyperpigmentation, and salt-craving [105, 107, 115]. Hyperpigmentation is due to the absence of the cortisol-mediated negative feedback mechanism of the HPA axis response, leading to increased production of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) and pro-opiomelanocortin (precursor of ACTH), which enhances stimulation of the melanocortin 1 receptor of skin melanocytes [116, 117]. Salt-craving is caused by aldosterone deficiency, which impairs the kidney's ability to reabsorb salt, causing low blood pressure. This increases the activity of renin to activate the protein hormone angiotensin that, in turn, tries to stimulate the release of aldosterone by the adrenals [115, 118]. Elevated ACTH levels and plasma renin activity are therefore important clinical characteristics of AAD. To correct the insufficient levels of cortisol and aldosterone, patients are treated with hydrocortisone and fludrocortisone, respectively [115].

The dominant target of the adrenal autoantibodies seems to be the steroid cytochrome P450 21-hydroxylase (21OH) and has ever since its discovery in 1992 been the important diagnostic marker of AAD [119]. 21OH is located in the smooth endoplasmic reticulum (ER) of adrenocortical cells and are involved in the synthesis of cortisol and aldosterone (Figure 4) [120]. Autoantibodies against 21OH are reported to be present in >95% of patients at diagnosis in developed countries [121] and 86% of all Norwegian patients [122]. This high frequency, however, tends to decline with a disease duration greater than 20 years. Furthermore, a previous study reported that 21OH autoantibody-positive patients with other autoimmune endocrinopathies or first-degree relatives of patients with organ-specific autoimmune

diseases have a cumulative risk for AAD of around 50% [123]. Thus, presence of these antibodies may predict AAD development. Among the general population, the frequency of 21OH autoantibodies is approximately 0.5% [124].

AAD may not only occur in isolation. Around 50% of AAD patients also suffer from other autoimmune entities such as T1D, AITD, premature ovarian insufficiency (POI), CD, and autoimmune gastritis [124]. The co-existence of at least two of the three endocrine diseases T1D, AITD, and AAD is typically referred to as APS-2 [43]. AAD is also frequently present in the unique disorder APS-1 (prevalence 1:90 000 in Norway) defined clinically by the presence of two out the three manifestations: AAD, hypoparathyroidism, and mucocutaneous candidiasis [125]. Whereas APS-1 is a monogenic disease, AAD (and APS-2) seem to have a more complex etiology involving multiple genes and unknown environmental factors [126].

The genetic basis of AAD

Investigating the genetic basis of complex diseases, such as AAD, is challenging due to several factors. The genotype of a patient does not necessarily correlate with the phenotype; phenocopies may occur, meaning that environmental factors could induce an AAD phenotype in a patient without known disease susceptible variants that matches the phenotype of a patient that does carry such variants. Additionally, AAD is a genetically heterogeneous disease in which variants in any one of several susceptibility genes may cause the same phenotype, and multiple of these may be necessary to produce it (polygenic inheritance). Lastly, AAD show incomplete penetrance, which means that certain individuals who inherit susceptibility alleles might not develop the disease [105].

Despite all these complicating factors, research on monozygotic twins and familial clustering of AAD have revealed the existence of highly penetrant susceptible alleles [105, 127, 128]. The best characterized seem to be located within the HLA class II haplotypes HLA-DR3-DQ2 and HLA-DR4-DQ8. Polymorphisms in these haplotypes enable the presentation of a different repertoire of self-antigens in the peptide-binding pocket. Notably, individuals carrying the heterozygous combination DR3-DQ2/DR4-

DQ8 are at higher risk than homozygotes carrying either one of the haplotypes (Figure 5) [113, 129]. This may be due to the formation of heterodimers by the *trans*-encoded DQ molecules, increasing the functional diversity of the MHC complex [130]. HLA class I genes have also been associated with AAD, more specifically those that are part of the conserved allele combination DR3-B8 (Figure 5) [62, 63]. These alleles are further part of the ancestral haplotype defined as 8.1 (AH 8.1) containing the core HLA alleles *HLA-A*01:01, -C*07:01, -B*08:01, -DRB1*03:01, -DQA1*05:01* and *-DQB1*02:01* [131]. Apart from AAD, AH 8.1 has been associated with a wide range of immune-mediated diseases including T1D, CD, SLE, AIH, common variable immunodeficiency (CVID), and IgA deficiency [132, 133].



Figure 5. Combination of HLA alleles conferring high risk of AAD development. Figure produced using Genome Decoration Page (NCBI).

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in genes regulating T and B cell activation and differentiation are also associated with increased risk of AAD development (summarized in Table 1). Among these, SNPs in *CTLA4* and *PTPN22* (protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22) appear frequently as genetic risk variants (also in other autoimmune disorders), underlining the importance of fine-tuning T cell signaling to avoid development of autoimmunity [134-137]. CTLA-4 downregulates T cell signaling by binding to CD80/86 on APCs, and gene polymorphisms impairing this mechanism may lead to reduced inhibition of T cell responses [138, 139]. PTPN22 inhibits T cell activation by dephosphorylating key signaling molecules downstream of the TCR. This process is dependent on the binding of PTPN22 to C-terminal Src kinase tyrosine kinase, and SNPs (in particular c.1858C>T, p.Arg620Trp) interrupting this physical interaction cause lack of T cell inhibition [138, 140, 141]. Other susceptibility variants are located in the genes encoding BACH2 (BTB domain and CNC homolog 2), important for B cell differentiation and generation of Tregs [129, 142]; NALP1 (NACHT leucine-rich-repeat protein 1), promoting inflammasome assembly and inflammatory cytokine release [143, 144]; and CLEC16A (C-Type Lectin Domain Containing 16A), presumably regulating autophagy and NK cell function [145]. Recently, variants in *AIRE* were also found to be associated with AAD, at least in the Swedish patient cohort [146]. This finding has yet to be replicated in other populations, although many AAD risk loci may differ between studies of different cohorts.

Gene	Function	References
CTLA-4	Inhibits T cell responses	[134], [137]
PTPN22	Dephosphorylates signaling molecules downstream of the TCR, important for T cell inhibition	[135], [136]
BACH2	Promotes B cell differentiation and generation of Tregs	[129], [142]
NALP1	Promotes inflammasome assembly and inflammatory cytokine release	[143], [144]
CLEC16A	Regulates autophagy and NK cell function	[145]
AIRE	Master regulator of negative selection in the thymus	[146]

Table 1. Susceptible genes contributing to AAD, outside the MHC region.

None of the risk genes described so far, except for HLA, seem to have a major impact on an individual's genetic susceptibility to develop AAD; they only explain a small fraction of familial clustering. An explanation for this missing heritability problem is that many of the available genotyping assays focus on SNPs present in more than 1-5% of the patient population [147]. However, the genetic architecture of AAD seems to be complex, involving multiple variants. An important step towards solving this missing heritability problem is therefore to search for rare and low-frequency variants with high impact. This strategy could illuminate the genetic variation in AAD, which is important for better prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of the disease.

Immunopathogenesis

The specific triggers underlying the progression of AAD from one phase to another are still not clear, but there have been considerable advances in our understanding of the pathogenesis over the past few decades.

Histologic studies of adrenal glands from patients with AAD show a significant mononuclear cell infiltration and atrophy of the adrenal cortex, in addition to some fibrosis, while the medulla is spared [148, 149]. These data suggest that during the active phase of the disease there is an extensive destruction and loss of all three cell layers of the adrenal cortex mediated by lymphocytes, plasma cells, and macrophages [150]. Since AAD is primarily associated with class II HLA alleles, it seems likely that initiation of adrenocortical destruction depends upon activation of CD4⁺T cells that, in turn, license autoreactive immune cell responses. As there is a potentially unlimited supply of self-antigens, this autoreactive immune attack may continue until the target organ is destroyed and replaced by fibrous tissue.

Irreversible damage of both zona glomerulosa and zona fasciculata is what causes the first clinical signs of adrenal insufficiency [105, 150]. Notably, this might not be until 90% of all adrenocortical cells are destroyed [151]. Before overt, symptomatic adrenal failure, however, autoantibodies against 21OH are typically present. Whether these autoantibodies are involved in disease progression is yet not clear, although it appears that they have no inhibiting effect on the 21OH enzyme *in vivo* [107, 150, 152]. This
is not that surprising since 21OH is an intracellular enzyme. Also, a previous study demonstrated that transplacental passage of 21OH autoantibodies from a mother with AAD was not sufficient to cause autoimmune adrenocortical destruction in the child [153]. Thus, the main mediators of the autoimmune destruction seem to be cytotoxic T cells, although the specific mechanisms remain unclear.

The first indication of T cell proliferation in response to adrenal proteins was provided by Freeman and Weetman, using peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from AAD patients [154]. However, no individual adrenal antigens were identified. Husebye et al. in contrast, used BALB/c and SJL mice, immunized with recombinant 21OH, to demonstrate proliferation of lymph node cells to a specific 21OH-derived epitope, 210H₃₄₂₋₃₆₁ [155]. A few years later, Bratland et al. showed T cell proliferation and IFN- γ production in response to the same epitope (210H₃₄₂₋₃₆₁), using PBMCs from AAD patients [33]. Since then, epitope mapping has suggested two specific 21OH epitopes targeted by circulating autoreactive CD8⁺ T cells. The first epitope, published by Rottembourg et al. [34], was mapped to the HLA-B8 restricted sequence EPLARLEL (210H₄₃₁₋₄₃₈) after performing an ELISPOT assay to detect IFN-y producing T cells in response to 210H peptides of 20 amino acids length. Subsequently, using MHC-peptide multimer technology, two responder patients were shown to have higher frequencies of EPLARLEL-specific CD8⁺ T cells than a HLA-B8-positive control. A few years later, a second epitope was revealed by Dawoodji et al. [156]. This one was mapped to the HLA-A2 restricted sequence LLNATIAEV $(210H_{342-350})$. T cells specific for this sequence were reported to have the ability to lyse cells pulsed with the LLNATIAEV-peptide, by granzyme B secretion. Together, these studies suggest a central role for 21OH-specific T cells in the pathogenesis of AAD and open up new avenues for research into the features of these cells.

The major and unanswered question of the immunopathogenesis is what causes the lymphocytic infiltration of the adrenal cortex. This issue is challenging to address because all histochemical analyses of adrenal glands from AAD patients are postmortem due to practical and ethical reasons. Also, the experimental animal models developed so far, have shown limited relevance to the human AAD [105]. Most studies on the pathogenesis of AAD have therefore been restricted to peripheral blood and serum. Interestingly, evidence of lymphocytic infiltration in the adrenal gland has not only been limited to AAD patients. A previous study on autopsy cases of young and old individuals revealed that approximately 7% of the subjects less than 50 years had mononuclear cell infiltration within the adrenal cortex, and this frequency increased with age [157]. These infiltrations are most likely not significantly pathogenic, as the prevalence of AAD is far more rare, but it might indicate that focal infiltration of the adrenals does occur. In such circumstances, a healthy adrenal gland is producing a sufficient amount of cortisol that would ensure an anti-inflammatory milieu, protecting the cortex from an autoimmune attack [158]. This protective and immunosuppressive effect of cortisol could then help explain why AAD is a rare condition compared to other autoimmune endocrine disorders [105]. In that case, a key step in the pathogenesis of AAD could therefore be a reduction of cortisol at sites of infiltration (e.g. due to adrenocortical damage) which may reduce tolerance to adrenal proteins and lead to activation of lymphocytes. As a result, steroid production decreases along with increased infiltration, resulting in a vicious cycle of adrenocortical cell damage and steroidogenesis impairment. Together, these events may trigger an autoreactivity to adrenal antigens, eventually leading to a complete adrenal failure [105]. The exact mechanisms underlying this selective autoimmune attack and reduced cortisol production in AAD patients remain elusive, but it has been postulated that virus infection of the adrenal gland is a potent trigger [83].

Viruses as triggers of the autoreactive immunity

The coordinated attack of the adrenocortical cells, involving CD4⁺T cells, CD8⁺T cells and antibody-producing B cells, driven mainly by the self-antigen 21OH, is highly reminiscent of the specific immune response against viruses. In this context, we could speculate that viral infection of the adrenal gland leads to necrosis of adrenocortical cells, resulting in the release of self-antigens and augmentation of lymphocytic infiltration, causing inflammation of the adrenal cortex. This may further lead to uptake of self-antigens and/or viral peptides by APCs. Since 21OH and other steroid enzymes are among the most abundant proteins in the adrenal cortex, they are likely to be presented as peptides on MHC molecules. Release, uptake, and presentation of selfantigens (epitope spreading) can further activate autoreactive T and B cells, and thereby eventually lead to autoimmune adrenalitis (Figure 6) [83].



Figure 6. A potential viral pathogenic mechanism in AAD. A simplified model of how virus infection of the adrenal cortex may lead to activation of autoreactive immune cells and adrenal insufficiency. First, persistent viral infection causes necrosis of adrenocortical cells and subsequently release, uptake, and presentation of self-antigens by APCs. Secondly, autoreactive T cells get activated by self-antigen presentation within local draining lymph nodes, which, in turn, license the activation of macrophages (M) and autoreactive B cells. Further necrosis and apoptosis of adrenocortical cells cause decreased cortisol production, increasing the lymphocyte infiltration in the adrenal cortex, eventually leading to AAD. Figure produced using Medical Servier Art.

This hypothetical model for AAD development is supported by previous studies showing that the adrenals are permissive to a variety of viral agents including cytomegalovirus (CMV), EBV, herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2 (HSV-1/HSV-2), HCV and polyomaviruses [83]. Most of these viruses cause opportunistic infections and usually do not lead to autoimmunity, suggesting the requirement of additional host genetic errors and immunodeficiencies. Indeed, this seems to be the case for AAD

patients, as previously mentioned [101-103, 159]. Viral pathogenic mechanisms are also suggested for other complex immune-mediated diseases like asthma, T1D, and Crohn's disease [160]. Unlike these diseases, however, no specific pathogens have been identified for AAD, highlighting the need for research on viral exposure in affected patients. In this way, we may gain a better understanding of the pathogenesis, and thereby design therapies to protect susceptible individuals with inappropriate antiviral responses.

Aims

The overall objective of this project was to identify and functionally characterize genetic risk factors involved in AAD pathogenesis. To fulfill this aim, we used a two-sided strategy: First, we validated and characterized specific mutations revealed by whole-exome sequencing (WES) of 142 AAD patients. Since AAD is a rare condition with a complex genetic basis, we set out to search for and characterize rare genetic variants (allele frequency <1% in the general population) predicted to- or previously demonstrated to be damaging, which could make up for the missing heritability problem in AAD. Secondly, we aimed to elucidate genetic and immunological factors that influence disease progression from one phase to the other. For this, we focused on HLA-specific immunological determinants for autoreactive T cells, as these cells are thought to be the main driver of adrenal gland destruction in AAD.

The specific aims were:

- I. Validate and characterize rare *TLR3* variants identified in several unrelated patients.
- II. Investigate clinical aspects of a patient carrying a rare homozygous nonsense mutation in the *HSD3B2* gene.
- III. Characterize autoreactive CD8⁺ T cells from AAD patients to identify HLAclass I restricted immunodominant peptides of 210H.

Methodology

In this section, the most central parts of the methodology used in the thesis will be discussed. A detailed description of the materials and methods can be found in the separate papers.

Patient and control material

Through the Norwegian Registry of organ-specific autoimmune diseases (ROAS), we have access to serum, plasma, EDTA blood, DNA and, PBMCs from almost 1000 AAD patients. All have signed a written informed consent approved by the Health Region West Ethics committee (2018/1417, 146/96-47.96). Samples from healthy controls were collected from blood donors provided by the blood bank at Haukeland University Hospital. All experiments were conducted following the declaration of Helsinki.

Reporter gene assay (paper I)

To determine the functional impact of the *TLR3* variants revealed by WES, we studied the response to polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C)) stimulation in cells transfected with constructs encoding the wild type or variant TLR3 proteins. This was achieved using Hek Dual Null cells, which are stably transfected with a secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) reporter gene induced by NF-kB. As the endogenous *TLR3* gene is specifically knocked out, all expression and activity of the receptor are therefore dependent on transfected TLR3. Following transfection, we assessed TLR3 activity by monitoring NF-kB-induced SEAP production after poly(I:C) stimulation, which was measured by spectrophotometry in the cell supernatants after adding QUANTI-Blue solution.

MHC class I/peptide multimers (paper III)

The MHC multimer technology is a highly useful tool to detect and quantify antigenspecific T cells from PBMCs or other sources/tissues. Recombinant MHC molecules are loaded with peptides of antigen proteins, which can be recognized by cytotoxic T cells. Several of these MHC-peptide complexes are attached to a fluorescent backbone that can be detected and quantified by flow cytometry [161].

In *paper III*, we used MHC class I/peptide multimers (dextramers and streptamers) containing either HLA-A2-, HLA-B8- or HLA-C7-bound peptides. For details about the HLA-A2/B8-dextramers, see paper III. The MHC I-streptamers consisted of an HLA-C7-peptide complex attached to strep-tags, which are short peptides with binding affinity to a streptavidin molecule, named Strep-Tactin. Strep-Tactin molecules are fluorescently labeled, enabling quantification by flow cytometry.

HLA-C typing (paper III)

Since the HLA types of all the patients included in *paper III* were already estimated by allelic imputation by a genome-wide association study (GWAS) [162], we needed to find a quick and reliable way to HLA-type healthy controls. We decided to perform a PCR using sequence-specific primers for HLA-C7, published by Bunce et al. [163]. PBMCs and DNA from 51 healthy controls were then collected for HLA-typing, whereby 30% turned out to be positive for the HLA-C*0701 allele and thereby included in the study.

Results

Paper I:

Identification and characterization of rare Toll-like receptor 3 variants

From the results revealed by the WES analysis including 142 AAD patients, a total number of 135 variants with CADD (Combined Annotation Dependent Depletion) scores >20 in 76 different candidate genes were detected. CADD is an *in silico* variant pathogenicity predictor, whereby scores above 20 indicate that a variant is amongst the top 1% of deleterious variants in the human genome [164].

Searching for rare and potentially damaging variants, we identified several interesting hits in the TLR3 gene: p.Thr59Asn (T59N), p.Gly221Arg (G221R), p.Phe351Ile (F3511), p.Leu742Phe (L742F) and p.Arg867Gln (R867Q). These were carried by five unrelated AAD patients. According to our in-house database, the variants were absent in Norwegian controls, whereas their allele frequencies in a cohort of Norwegian cancer patients were ranging from 0 to 0.0019. Similar frequencies were found in the genome aggregation database (gnomAD), ranging from 0 to 0.0017. Intriguingly, the F351I variant, detected in two unrelated AAD patients, is only reported once before (in Finland) according to gnomAD. R867O has been described in a homozygous state in a Finnish patient with HSV encephalitis (HSE) [165]. Functional analysis indicated that this mutant is hypomorphic, causing a partial loss of TLR3's function. T59N has also been described in a patient with HSE but did not show any effect on TLR3's function when tested in vitro [166]. Using Sanger sequencing to validate the variants, we subsequently discovered that three of the five patients also carried a more common TLR3 variant (p.Leu412Phe [L412F]), previously associated with a variety of immunemediated diseases including cutaneous candidiasis, tick-borne encephalitis and increased susceptibility to CMV infection [167, 168]. L412F has also been associated with autoimmunity including T1D and AAD, although the data are conflicting [167, 169, 170].

With one of the patients carrying both T59N and F351I, these findings revealed that four of the five patients had two variants each. Genotyping of the patients showed that all were compound heterozygotes, including one patient that was homozygous for L412F and heterozygous for R867Q. We further genotyped family members when available, revealing that three of the patients had at least one sibling that was heterozygous for either one of the two *TLR3* variants, and some also carried both. All these siblings were healthy, except for one who also had AAD (heterozygous for T59N).

In silico analysis of the variants demonstrated that F351, L412, L742, and R867 were located at highly conserved residues in the 18 species studied, suggesting that these four variants would be the most damaging. We further tested the functional impact of the *TLR3* variants by studying the response to poly(I:C) in Hek Dual Null cells transfected with constructs encoding the wild type or variant TLR3 proteins. Consistent with the *in silico* analysis, F351I, L743F, and R867Q proved to be the most deleterious variants, reducing TLR3 activity by ~ 50-70%.

For three of the patients carrying the damaging variants, PBMCs were available for experiments. By performing ELISA, we demonstrated an impaired immune response to the dsRNA analog polyadenylic:polyuridylic acid (poly(A:U)) in all three patients compared to healthy controls, as revealed by a significant loss in the production of IL28A/IFN λ 2. IFN λ s are among the first IFNs produced to suppress viral infection and are induced in a wide range of cell types by PRRs including the TLRs [171, 172].

In addition to *TLR3* variants, the WES analysis identified seven possibly damaging variants (both novel and previously described) among eight additional AAD patients in three different innate immune genes (*IRF3*, *TICAM1* [TRIF] and *IKBKE* [IKK ε]). All are involved in the TLR3-IFN signaling pathway. Interestingly, one of the detected *IRF3* variants was the loss-of-function mutation p.Arg285Gln (R285Q) previously reported and extensively functionally characterized in a patient with HSE [173]. Likewise, one of the *TICAM1* variants (p.Ser160Phe [S160F]), carried by two patients, has also been associated with HSE [166].

In summary, we discovered 13 AAD patients with inborn errors in genes involved in the innate immune response against viruses.

Paper II:

Coexistence of congenital adrenal hyperplasia and autoimmune Addison's disease

Among the many variants revealed by the WES analysis, we also identified a patient homozygous for an extremely rare variant in exon 2 of the *HSD3B2* gene (frequency \sim 0.00003 in gnomAD), resulting in the exchange of the cysteine codon to a premature stop codon (p.Cys5Ter [C5X]). This leads to 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (3βHSD2) deficiency, which is a rare autosomal recessive form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) [174]. Subsequent screening of ROAS identified the patient carrying the C5X variant; an adult female with AAD, POI, vitamin B12 deficiency, elevated ACTH levels on multiple occasions, and circulating 210H- and parietal cell autoantibodies. She did not carry any of the risk HLA alleles associated with AAD. Scrutiny of old medical records revealed that she was initially diagnosed with CAH with hyperandrogenism and severe salt-wasting shortly after birth.

To study her steroid profile, liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectroscopy (LC-MS/MS) was performed of a serum sample taken after an overnight medication fast. Levels of all mineralocorticoids, glucocorticoids, and androgens were below the detection limit, except for tetrahydrocortisol (0.308 nmol/L), 5α -tetrahydrocortisol (0.187 nmol/L), and testosterone (0.066 nmol/L).

Isolated 3β HSD2 deficiency causes accumulation of the Δ 5-steroids pregnenolone, 17hydroxypregnenolone, DHEA, and DHEA-sulfate (DHEA-S) [174]. We therefore measured total pregnenolone, DHEA, and DHEA-S levels by ELISA from previously collected serum samples spanning the years 1996-2013. Nearly normal levels of pregnenolone and DHEA were found in samples from the first two years, but then levels decreased towards the subnormal levels generally seen in AAD patients. The level of DHEA-S was below the normal range, typical of AAD patients, at all time points. Computer tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance (MR) scans, taken from age 43 to age 51, were re-evaluated and the adrenals were found to be in the lower range of normal thickness, 2-3 mm., indicating adrenocortical atrophy rather than hyperplasia as would be expected in case of isolated CAH.

To the best of our knowledge, these findings constitute the first description of AAD in a patient with 3β HSD2 deficiency.

Paper III:

Circulating 21-hydroxylase-specific CD8⁺ T cells in autoimmune Addison's disease are predominantly restricted by HLA-A2 and HLA-C7 molecules.

While autoantibodies against 21OH have long been established for AAD patients, experimental data point to autoreactive T cells as the main effector cells in the adrenocortical destruction. So far, two immunodominant T cell epitopes of 21OH have been proposed. The first epitope, provided by Rottembourg et al. [34], was mapped to the HLA-B8-restricted sequence EPLARLEL, and the second epitope, published by Dawoodji et al. [156], was mapped to the HLA-A2-restricted sequence LLNATIAEV. However, data on frequencies of EPLARLEL- and LLNATIAEV-specific CD8⁺T cells in AAD patients, and their cytokine responses to the exact epitopes, are limited. Our aim was therefore to address these issues using MHC class I multimers and cytokine analyses.

PBMCs were isolated from patients and controls and used for experiments both *ex vivo* (day 0) and *in vitro* after 13 days of antigen stimulation and expansion. Initial staining (day 0) of cells with HLA dextramers revealed significantly higher frequencies of LLNATIAEV-specific CD8⁺T cells in patients compared to controls. These cells also showed strong peptide-induced expansion *in vitro* after 13 days. In contrast, EPLARLEL-specific CD8⁺T cells were almost completely absent in both patients and controls and did not show any ability to expand upon stimulation with cognate peptide.

Consistent with these results, IFN γ ELISPOT assays on both *ex vivo* and expanded cells revealed clear production of IFN γ in response to LLNATIAEV, whereas no such response was found for EPLARLEL-stimulated cells. Multiplex cytokine analyses further demonstrated production of IL-6, TNF α , MIP-1 α , and MIP-1 β in response to LLNATIAEV, but in contrast to IFN γ , these responses faded after 13 days of expansion. Therefore, IFN γ seemed to be the most appropriate and reliable biomarker for peptide-specific CD8⁺T cells, especially for expanded cells.

Having demonstrated the lack of response to EPLARLEL, we set out to identify alternative epitopes within the longer peptides 21OH₄₃₁₋₄₅₀ (Rottembourg [34]) and 210H₄₃₀₋₄₄₇ (Dawoodji [156]) reported to be immunodominant regions. PBMCs from patients and controls were stimulated with a panel of adjacent 9 amino acidsoverlapping peptides covering the longer peptide 210H₄₃₀₋₄₄₇ (GEPLARLELFVVLTRLLQ). Of the peptides tested, ARLELFVVL (210H₄₃₄₋₄₄₂) induced the strongest IFN γ response among the patients. Furthermore, utilizing an epitope discovery system and complementary biochemical analyses, we discovered that ARLELFVVL did not show any affinity for HLA-B*0801, like EPLARLEL, but instead seemed restricted to HLA-C*0701.

To confirm the immunodominance of ARLELFVVL, we generated an HLA-C*0701/ARLELFVVL streptamer to investigate the frequency of ARLELFVVL-specific CD8⁺ T cells in AAD patients versus controls. Intriguingly, significantly higher frequencies of peptide-specific cells were found in AAD patients. ARLELFVVL did also induce strong expansion of ARLELFVVL-specific CD8⁺ T cells in patients by *in vitro* stimulation for 13 days, but not in controls. PBMCs were also tested in ELISPOT assays *ex vivo*, revealing significantly stronger IFN γ responses to ARLELFVVL in patients than in controls. Importantly, these responses were comparable to the responses against the longer peptide 210H₄₃₀₋₄₄₇.

Collectively, these data indicate the presence of two immunodominant CD8⁺ T celltargeted epitopes of 210H in AAD: LLNATIAEV, presented by HLA-A2, and ARLELFVVL, presented by HLA-C7.

Discussion

Since the discovery of Addison's disease in 1855 by Thomas Addison [175], there have been considerable advances in our understanding of the pathogenesis and etiology. Whereas tuberculosis was the predominant cause of adrenal destruction earlier, autoimmune adrenalitis is now the dominating form and accounts for nearly 90% of cases in developed countries. It is well-established that the autoimmune form is caused by a complex interplay between genes and the environment, although environmental factors are less studied. The role for a genetic basis has been particularly evident by the high disease concordance in monozygotic twins and the familial clustering, suggesting the existence of highly penetrant susceptibility alleles [105, 127, 128]. In this project, we have investigated the involvement of *rare* susceptible alleles, with presumably *large effects*. Furthermore, based on previous genetic studies on AAD pointing out the HLA loci as being the most prominent genetic risk factor, we also examined HLA-specific immunodominant epitopes of the major autoantigen 210H.

Involvement of inborn errors of innate immunity

In *paper I*, we identified several rare missense variants in *TLR3* and associated members of the TLR3-IFN pathway in a subgroup of patients with AAD. The functional impact of the *TLR3* variants on the receptor's response to viral dsRNA was studied utilizing a cell-based reporter assay involving poly(I:C) as the dsRNA analog. Of the five rare variants discovered, three were found to have significantly impaired function; F351I (carried by two unrelated patients) and L742F, both of which have never been functionally characterized before, in addition to R867Q, previously described to be causative (when homozygous) of HSE [165]. Patients harboring F35I or R867Q had healthy siblings heterozygous for the same variants, demonstrating incomplete penetrance. This is in line with previous studies on genetic etiologies of HSE also showing incomplete penetrance of TLR3 pathway deficiencies [165, 173]. Several factors may cause this inheritance pattern including environmental factors such

52

as infections by viruses or other pathogens, or the genetic architecture of the host, as well as epigenetic factors [165].

Although inborn errors of the TLR3-IFN pathway have been shown to impair antiviral immune responses, previous studies are conflicting on the role of this pathway in protective immunity. TLR3 deficiency in fibroblast seem to impair IFN responses and lead to high levels of viral replication, whereas in leukocytes, TLR3-mediated immunity seems to be surprisingly redundant for the antiviral host defense [165, 176, 177]. This may be due to an extensive activation of cytosolic RNA sensors, including MDA5 and RIG-I [178]. Nonetheless, TLR3 seems to have a clear protective role in the central nervous system (CNS) against HSV- and influenza A virus-induced encephalitis in humans [165, 179, 180]. Studies of TLR3- and TRIF-deficient mice, also suggest an important role for TLR3 outside the CNS, in which these mice have abolished IFN production and considerably higher viral load in non-neural tissues compared to the wild-type mice [181]. This is supported by other studies showing that a wide range of immunopathologies and immunological traits are associated with SNPs in TLR3 [167, 169, 170]. Recent findings demonstrated that TLR3-pathway deficiency increases the risk of autoimmune encephalitis in the weeks or months after HSE infection [182, 183]. Furthermore, inborn TLR3 deficiency has also been reported in patients with severe influenza pneumonitis [184] and herpes zoster ophthalmicus [185]. In conjunction, infection of TLR3-deficient mice is shown to cause T1D due to abrogated IFN-I responses and necrosis of virus-infected β -cells [186]. Taken together, the role of the TLR3 pathway seems relevant for inducing immunological phenotypes that eventually lead to immune-mediated diseases. Still, more knowledge about the role of the TLR3 pathway in antiviral immunity is needed, especially in the context of autoimmunity that may only occur ensuing certain infections.

Identifying rare genetic variants that influence the development of complex diseases is challenging and the central question, in this case, would be if the identified variants play any etiological roles in AAD. Exome sequencing is a widely-used approach to identify low-frequency variants, but it is difficult to claim any association when only a few individuals are carriers. The effect of the variants may therefore seem low when

standing alone but could confer increased risk in combination with disease susceptible HLA alleles. Moreover, it is important to note that AAD has a heterogeneous genetic etiology, meaning that several different variants could induce the same phenotype, and multiple of these might be necessary to produce it. Therefore, rare variants carried by only some individuals might play a key role in disease development. Moreover, phenocopies may occur, meaning that environmental factors could induce an AAD phenotype in an individual without known susceptibility variants that matches the phenotype to an individual that does carry high-risk variants [105]. This may explain why the AAD patients in the current study do not exhibit any unique phenotype. At the same time, we might speculate that the genotype could predict the etiology of the disease, even though it does not correlate with the phenotype. Thus, AAD patients with inappropriate antiviral responses, due to inborn errors of innate immunity, may share the same environmental trigger such as viral infections (Figure 7).

The suggested role of viruses in AAD is based upon previous studies showing that the adrenals are permissive to a variety of viral infections and that AAD patients show reduced NK cell cytotoxicity and poor response to IFNs in-vitro, both of which may cause inappropriate antiviral responses [101, 102]. Furthermore, certain genetic risk factors associated with AAD are variants in genes that participate in the immune response against infectious diseases, such as *PTPN22* (also participating in TLR-driven type I IFN production) [135, 187-189] and *BACH2* [142, 190], which together can affect the course of viral infections [191]. Epidemiological and cohort studies have also reported that AAD patients have more infections and increased use of anti-microbial agents (such as antivirals) than the general population, which does not correlate with glucocorticoid dosage [103, 192]. Moreover, a previous study of AAD patients in the risk of AAD development, in which the incidence of AAD peaks in the winter months. This may be linked to the increase of viral infections during this time of year that could trigger the development of AAD later on [193].

Identification of an extremely rare homozygous mutation in the HSD3B2 gene

The steroidogenesis is a fine-tuned mechanism of the adrenal cortex that converts cholesterol into a variety of bioactive signaling molecules. Disturbed steroid biosynthesis is often associated with adrenal disorders, whereby the severity is depending on which steroid enzyme is being deficient. Apart from AAD, underlying causes of steroid enzyme deficiencies include inborn autosomal recessive mutations resulting in CAH [116]. In *paper II* we report an adult female patient with primary adrenal insufficiency due to both CAH, resulting from 3 β HSD2 deficiency, *and* AAD. 3 β HSD2 deficiency is a rare autosomal recessive condition, constituting <0.5% of all CAH cases, and impair the first steps of steroid hormone production and sexual development [194].

At inclusion in ROAS, the patient was classified as having AAD and POI with vitamin B12 deficiency, and 21OH and parietal cell autoantibodies. However, genetic analysis revealed that she also had CAH due to an extremely rare homozygous stop-gain mutation in *HSD3B2*, representing, to our knowledge, a novel disease etiology. Scrutiny of old medical records further revealed the presence of small-sized adrenal glands instead of hyperplastic glands, as normally seen in CAH. The patient had also no overproduction of Δ 5-steroids following elevated ACTH levels, suggesting complete adrenal insufficiency.

Steroid profiling by LC-MS/MS revealed the presence of tetrahydrocortisol and 5α -tetrahydrocortisol, which is consistent with her ongoing replacement therapy including hydrocortisone. Additionally, the very low, but detectable, level of testosterone may be due to the conversion of DHEA by 3 β HSD1 in the periphery. Previously measurable pregnenolone levels suggest that the autoimmune destruction of the adrenal cortex commenced sometimes in the 1990-ties. However, her initial steroid levels were not *above* the normal range as would be expected in case of isolated 3 β HSD2 deficiency, and may indicate an even earlier initiated adrenocortical destruction. The treatment of CAH, starting only 1 week after birth, could have masked the classical manifestations of complete adrenal insufficiency resulting in delayed diagnosis of AAD. Hence, the

diagnosis of AAD could not be confirmed from symptoms, but only by detecting 210H autoantibodies.

According to literature, we could only find one reported case of CAH occurring together with complete adrenal insufficiency suspected to be AAD. This patient, however, did not have 21OH autoantibodies or HLA risk alleles but was weakly positive for autoantibodies against 17α -hydroxylase [195]. Therefore, it is conceivable that there might be other rare unreported cases of AAD due to early diagnosis of CAH, masking the clinical symptoms of adrenal insufficiency. Notably, several other AAD patients included in our WES analysis were heterozygous carriers of rare missense variants in *HSD3B2*. Although family members of CAH patients, carrying heterozygous *HSD3B2* mutations, seem to have maintained normal 3 β HSD2 activity in vivo [196], genetic variations in *HSD3B2* are associated with other conditions such as idiopathic hypospadias and prostate cancer [197, 198].

Apart from *HSD3B2* variants, WES also revealed heterozygous missense variants in the steroidogenesis-related genes *CYP11A* and *STAR* (unpublished data). Additionally, our group has previously detected several exonic and intronic variants in *CYP21A2* (encoding 21OH) in AAD patients, but as all were in linkage disequilibrium (LD) with high-risk HLA-DR alleles they were not considered as independent risk factors [199]. However, it is possible that such subtle molecular abnormalities and inborn errors of steroidogenesis could lead to decreased negative feedback inhibition of the HPA axis and hence elevated levels of ACTH (seen in AAD and CAH patients). Since ACTH regulates expression of steroidogenesis-related genes [200], this in turn may upregulate transcription of steroidogenic enzymes including 21OH, potentially leading to ER stress and accumulation of misfolded proteins, and/or generation of novel adrenal antigens presented by stressed adrenocortical cells. In combination with viral infections, this could have biological consequences and contribute to inflammation and immunological destruction of the adrenal cortex (Figure 7).

Immunodominant HLA-restricted epitopes of 210H in AAD

In *paper III*, we were able to detect significantly higher frequencies of LLNATIAEVspecific CD8⁺ T cells in AAD patients than in controls, utilizing isolated PBMCs and MHC class I dextramers. These cells also displayed a stronger ability of IFN γ production and clonal expansion compared to controls upon stimulation with cognate peptide. This could reflect a previous antigen experience *in vivo* in an inflammatory setting, and thus the CD8⁺ T cells in AAD patients would have a more memory-like phenotype. Likewise, autoreactive T cells in T1D patients are previously demonstrated to be skewed towards a memory phenotype, whereas those detected in healthy controls seem to be predominantly naïve [201, 202].

Surprisingly, we did not detect any significant T cell response to EPLARLEL in terms of low frequencies of EPLARLEL-specific CD8⁺ T cells and weak peptide stimulated IFNγ production. Neither did they show any ability to expand upon peptide stimulation. This lack of response spurred us on to investigate alternative immunodominant epitopes. Having found that AAD patients showed positive IFNγ responses against the longer peptide GEPLARLELFVVLTRLLQ (210H₄₃₀₋₄₄₇), we tried to map alternative epitopes using short, overlapping peptides. Strong T cell responses were detected to peptide 5 (210H₄₃₄₋₄₄₂, ARLELFVVL), but this epitope did not show affinity for HLA-B*08:01 (like EPLARLEL) according to an epitope discovery system. We therefore started to search for alternative HLA class I molecules able to present this peptide, with a particular emphasis on those encoded by AH 8.1, containing the predisposing HLA-B8, -DR3, and -DQ2 alleles.

The extended form of AH 8.1 is usually defined by the haplotype *HLA-A*01:01*, -*C*07:01*, *-B*08:01*, *-DRB1*03:01*, *-DQA1*05:01* and *-DQB1*02:01* [131]. This combination has been highly conserved throughout evolution, hence HLA-B*0801 is in strong LD with the class I alleles HLA-C*0701 and -A*0101. Using the NetMHC 4.0 server for HLA peptide binding prediction, ARLELFVVL was predicted to bind HLA-C*0701. Following generation of C7*ARLELFVVL streptamers, we managed to detect high frequencies of ARLELFVVL-specific CD8⁺ T cells in several HLA-C7 positive patients, but not in HLA-C7 positive controls. These cells also displayed the ability of clonal expansion and IFNγ production upon stimulation with ARLELFVVL, suggesting antigen experience *in vivo*. Intriguingly, these ARLELFVVL-specific responses were comparable to the responses to GEPLARLELFVVLTRLLQ, suggesting that the reactivity against the longer peptide are primarily directed against ARLELFVVL, and not EPLARLEL as previously suggested. Detection of both LLNATIAEV- and ARLELFVVL-specific CD8⁺ T cells supports the hypothesis that the autoimmune reaction in AAD is triggered by various epitopes of 21OH (Figure 7) [105]. This would require a broad MHC peptide-binding repertoire, which is in line with why the heterozygous combination of the DR3-DQ2 and DR4-DQ8 haplotypes, increasing the variety of MHC molecules, confers higher risk of disease development than a homozygous combination of either of the haplotype [63, 203]. This seems also to be the case for T1D, in which the risk of disease development is greater in individuals expressing the heterozygous genotype (DR3-DQ2/ DR4-DQ8), presumably because DQ heterodimers facilitate presentation of several different beta cell antigens [204].

DR3, DQ2, and HLA-C7 are all part of AH 8.1, as previously mentioned, which confers risk of developing a wide range of immune-mediated diseases. Nonetheless, AH 8.1 has been highly conserved through generations and is today one of the most common haplotypes in northern Europe [132, 133]. Carriers of AH 8.1 might develop aberrant immunity including increased antibody production and decreased NK cell activity [132, 205, 206]. Increased antibody production is in line with AAD, and other AH 8.1associated autoimmune disorders, being characterized by the presence of autoantibodies, even though they often are characterized by Th1-mediated immune responses [132]. Also, decreased NK activity fits well with the previous finding that AAD patients seem to have reduced NK cell cytotoxicity, potentially making them more vulnerable to viral infection [102]. The various immune dysfunctions arising from AH 8.1 suggest involvement of several genes beyond the classical high-risk HLA alleles, such as C4 (involved in the complement cascade), *IKBL* (involved in the regulation of NF-kB) and *TNF* (involved in inflammatory conditions) [132, 133]. However, the independent impact of these genes has been difficult to determine due to the strong LD within AH 8.1. Many studies have therefore focused on HLA to understand key events of autoimmune pathologies.

Of the AH 8.1-associated HLA class I alleles, HLA-B8 stands out as an important autoimmune-prone factor, whereas HLA-C7 has received little attention [207]. Our study seems therefore to represent the first demonstration of an HLA-C7 restricted epitope in the context of autoimmune diseases. The limited focus on HLA-C, in general, may be due to its low expression, but maybe more importantly because of the strong LD with the predisposing HLA-B, -DR and DO that makes it difficult to detect any independent associations for individual HLA variant loci [63, 133, 208]. However, since AH 8.1 is so well conserved and seems unique in its association with several autoimmune diseases [132, 133, 209], it is conceivable that HLA-C7 to some extent does contribute to disease susceptibility. Besides, a growing number of publications have demonstrated that HLA-C alleles, including C7, play a role in T1D, SLE, and RA [204, 208, 210-215]. For instance, the HLA-C*0602 allele is a major risk factor in psoriasis by which CD8⁺ T cells react to epitopes derived from streptococcal M proteins and type 1 keratin, presented by HLA-C*0602 [216]. However, the majority of the HLA-C/autoimmunity associations are not linked to antigen-presentation, but rather the capacity of HLA-C to act as a ligand for killer cell Ig-like receptors (KIRs), expressed by NK cells [207].

KIRs and HLA-C interact to regulate the cytotoxic activity of NK cells, ensuring a balanced immune response and self-tolerance [207, 217]. Polymorphisms of KIRs and HLA can therefore disrupt this balance, potentially leading to inflammation and autoimmune diseases later on [218]. Concerning HLA-C7, its role in autoimmune diseases has been particularly evident in patients with both T1D and CD, where it contributes to elevated levels of the weak inhibitory KIR ligand C1 [215]. Predominantly weak regulation and inhibition of NK cells could lead to higher cytotoxic activity and inflammation, accelerating an initiated autoimmune process. With regards to AAD, excessive NK activity does not seem to play a major role in the autoimmune attack of the adrenal cortex, especially since NK cells seem rather impaired in some AAD patients [102]. On the other hand, it has been demonstrated that

HLA-C7 zygosity affects NK cells' cytotoxicity, whereby homozygotes for HLA-C7 have a lower frequency of NK cells with lytic activity than heterozygotes [219]. We may therefore envisage that it is the HLA-C7 zygosity in AAD patients (carrying AH 8.1) that impairs their NK cell cytotoxicity, and further make them vulnerable to viral infection, which may trigger AAD later on. Therefore, as well as being an immunodominant antigen-presenting molecule shown in this study, HLA-C7 might also contribute to AAD development by affecting innate immune responses.



Figure 7. A model for the pathogenesis of AAD. Inborn errors of innate immunity could cause persistent viral infection and lead to necrosis of adrenocortical cells and subsequent release of 21OH and other autoantigens engulfed by APCs. Next, autoreactive T cells get activated by self-antigen-presentation by APCs within local draining lymph nodes, which, in turn, license the activation of autoreactive T and B cells with specificities for 21OH and/or other adrenocortical antigens. Circulating 21OH-specific CD8⁺ T cells, recognizing the immunodominant epitopes LLNATIAEV presented by HLA-A2 or ARLELFVVL presented by HLA-C7, produce IFN γ to stimulate their cytotoxicity and motility and cause further necrosis and apoptosis of adrenocortical cells, leading to decreased cortisol production. Besides, inborn errors of steroidogenesis-related genes may influence the pathogenesis through altered ACTH stimulation of steroidogenic enzyme synthesis. This may cause ER stress and/or generation of novel antigens presented by stressed adrenocortical cells. Altogether, these events may result in inflammation and increased lymphocyte infiltration of the adrenal cortex, eventually leading to AAD. Figure produced using Medical Servier Art.

Conclusions

The conclusions to the work in this doctoral dissertation are as follows:

- I. Several AAD patients carry rare and damaging variants in the TLR3-IFN signaling pathway, some of which impair the TLR3 signaling function in response to dsRNA (poly(I:C)).
- TLR3 pathway deficiencies affect the patients' IFN production, potentially making them more susceptible to viral infections.
- III. The identified *TLR3* variants show incomplete penetrance as several siblings of the patients were healthy carriers, which is consistent with previous studies demonstrating that the penetrance of TLR3 pathway deficiencies are incomplete for HSE.
- IV. We report the first description of a patient with complete adrenal insufficiency due to both AAD and 3βHSD2 deficiency caused by an extremely rare variant in the *HSD3B2* gene. To our knowledge, this combination represents a novel disease etiology.
- V. Unreported cases of AAD may exist due to early diagnosis of CAH, masking the clinical symptoms of autoimmune adrenalitis.
- VI. AAD patients have significantly high frequencies of CD8⁺ T cells reacting to the previously reported HLA-A2-restricted 210H epitope LLNATIAEV (210H₃₄₂₋₃₅₀).
- VII. LLNATIAEV-specific CD8⁺ T cells display a strong ability of clonal expansion and cytokine production (including IFNγ) in response to its cognate peptide, compared to healthy controls.

- VIII. CD8⁺ T cells specific for the proposed HLA-B8-restricted 21OH epitope (21OH₄₃₁₋₄₃₈) EPLARLEL, were almost absent in all the AAD patients tested. Neither did the epitope induce significant IFNγ response or CD8⁺ T cell clonal expansion.
 - IX. We have identified a new immunodominant region of 21OH, ARLELFVVL (21OH₄₃₄₋₄₄₂), detected in a large proportion of HLA-C7-positive patients. Following stimulation with ARLELFVVL, all patients exhibited clear CD8⁺ T cell clonal expansions and IFNγ production.

Future perspectives

This thesis demonstrates the presence of several inborn errors in innate immunity among patients with AAD, which might indicate that they have impaired immune response against viruses in terms of deficient IFN production. Given these findings and previous experimental data, one of the most important future tasks would be to confirm if there is a true association between viral infection and autoimmune adrenalitis. Currently, we are analyzing the viral exposure among AAD patients utilizing a Virscan analysis. Virscan is a high-throughput method to analyze antiviral antibodies from sera using immunoprecipitation and DNA sequencing of a bacteriophage library displaying peptides covering the whole human virome. This analysis might enable us to sort out specific viral candidates potentially initiating adrenocortical autoimmunity. Furthermore, it is desirable to perform adrenal cortex small-needle biopsies via endoscopic ultrasound in AAD patients to evaluate presence of virus particles and viral nucleic acids in adrenocortical tissue. However, as this procedure is rather invasive, it may face ethical challenges.

Another interesting follow-up study would be to investigate the response of PBMCs and fibroblasts from AAD patients, in particular from those with variants in the TLR3-IFN signaling pathway, to *in vitro* exposure to live viruses. Such studies could provide answers to whether AAD patients, in general, have aberrant immune responses against live viruses, as well as how genetic deficiencies of innate immunity influence the pathogenesis of AAD. Moreover, prospective studies should be carried out, as they would be invaluable to discover key events between infections and signs of adrenalitis or adrenal insufficiency. Individuals with a strong family history of AAD could then be followed from birth to disease onset to monitor their viral exposure in relation to signs of adrenal impairment. If a role for viruses in AAD can be proved and specific viral candidates can be identified, vaccines or antiviral drugs would be obvious choices to protect susceptible individuals and to prevent disease development.

In *paper III* of the present study, we report the identification of a new immunodominant epitope, ARLELFVVL, restricted by HLA-C7, as well as confirming the presence of

HLA-A2*LLNATIAEV-specific CD8⁺ T cells in AAD patients. Future research should investigate whether LLANTIAEV and ARLELFVVL promote expression of HLA-A2 and HLA-C7, respectively, in the adrenal cortex. Since hyperexpression of HLA class I is observed in pancreas samples from T1D patients [220], it is conceivable that the same mechanism can occur in AAD, influencing the $CD8^+$ T cell-driven of adrenocortical cells. destruction As we are planning to perform immunohistochemical staining of adrenocortical tissue from deceased AAD patients, we could stain for HLA-C7 and HLA-A2 molecules to see if they are hyper-expressed. Furthermore, the cytotoxic potential of ARLELFVVL-specific CD8⁺ T cells should be explored to assess wether they lyse HLA-C7/ARLELFVVL-expressing cells, as shown for HLA-A2-restricted CD8⁺ T cells recognizing LLNATIAEV [156].

It will also be important for future studies to perform a comprehensive investigation of the phenotypic characteristics of ARLELFVVL- and LLNATIAEV- specific T cells, using the established HLA-multimer reagents. Recent advances in next-generation sequencing technologies have made it possible to examine the clonality and diversity of such T cells on a single-cell level. Utilizing MHC class I multimer technology to sort these antigen-specific T cells, followed by single cell immune profiling to identify the cells' TCR sequences, we can assess whether they have an identical antigen specificity and gene rearrangement, as well as analyzing their transcriptomes.

Elucidating the diversity of 21OH autoreactive T cells would aid our understanding of disease mechanisms, as well as facilitate the use of these cells as disease biomarkers and therapeutic targets for intervention at a stage when the majority of adrenocortical cells are still viable.

References

- Bratland, E. and E.S. Husebye, *Cellular immunity and immunopathology in autoimmune Addison's disease*. Molecular and cellular endocrinology, 2011. 336(1-2): p. 180-190.
- 2. Delves, P.J. and I.M. Roitt, *The immune system*. New England journal of medicine, 2000. **343**(1): p. 37-49.
- 3. Beutler, B., *Innate immunity: an overview*. Molecular immunology, 2004. **40**(12): p. 845-859.
- 4. Medzhitov, R. and C. Janeway Jr, *Innate immunity*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2000. **343**(5): p. 338-344.
- 5. Kushwah, R. and J. Hu, *Complexity of dendritic cell subsets and their function in the host immune system*. Immunology, 2011. **133**(4): p. 409-419.
- 6. Kumar, V., *Innate lymphoid cell and adaptive immune cell cross-talk: A talk meant not to forget.* J Leukoc Biol, 2020.
- 7. Vivier, E., et al., *Functions of natural killer cells*. Nature immunology, 2008. **9**(5): p. 503.
- 8. Dunkelberger, J.R. and W.-C. Song, *Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses*. Cell research, 2010. **20**(1): p. 34.
- Blasius, A.L. and B. Beutler, *Intracellular toll-like receptors*. Immunity, 2010. 32(3): p. 305-315.
- 10. Barbalat, R., et al., *Nucleic acid recognition by the innate immune system*. Annual review of immunology, 2011. **29**: p. 185-214.
- 11. Iwasaki, A. and R. Medzhitov, *Control of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system*. Nature immunology, 2015. **16**(4): p. 343.
- 12. Janeway, C.A. *Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology.* in *Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology.* 1989. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 13. Medzhitov, R., *Toll-like receptors and innate immunity*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2001. **1**(2): p. 135.
- 14. Kawasaki, T. and T. Kawai, *Toll-like receptor signaling pathways*. Frontiers in immunology, 2014. **5**: p. 461.
- 15. Kawai, T. and S. Akira, *Toll-like receptor and RIG-1-like receptor signaling*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 2008. **1143**(1): p. 1-20.
- 16. Ank, N., et al., *An important role for type III interferon (IFN-lambda/IL-28) in TLR-induced antiviral activity.* J Immunol, 2008. **180**(4): p. 2474-85.
- 17. Wang, J.Q., et al., *Toll-Like Receptors and Cancer: MYD88 Mutation and Inflammation*. Front Immunol, 2014. **5**: p. 367.
- 18. Reikine, S., J.B. Nguyen, and Y. Modis, *Pattern Recognition and Signaling Mechanisms of RIG-I and MDA5*. Front Immunol, 2014. **5**: p. 342.
- 19. Kotenko, S.V., et al., *IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex.* Nat Immunol, 2003. **4**(1): p. 69-77.
- 20. Yan, N. and Z.J. Chen, *Intrinsic antiviral immunity*. Nat Immunol, 2012. **13**(3): p. 214-22.
- 21. Antonelli, A., et al., *Interferon-alpha, -beta and -gamma induce CXCL9 and CXCL10 secretion by human thyrocytes: modulation by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonists.* Cytokine, 2010. **50**(3): p. 260-7.

- 22. Hellesen, A., et al., *The effect of types I and III interferons on adrenocortical cells and its possible implications for autoimmune Addison's disease.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2014. **176**(3): p. 351-62.
- Bonilla, F.A. and H.C. Oettgen, *Adaptive immunity*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2010. 125(2): p. S33-S40.
- 24. Cota, A.M. and M.J. Midwinter, *The immune system*. Anaesthesia & intensive care medicine, 2012. **13**(6): p. 273-275.
- 25. Germain, R.N., *T-cell development and the CD4–CD8 lineage decision*. Nature reviews immunology, 2002. **2**(5): p. 309.
- 26. Chen, L. and D.B. Flies, *Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2013. **13**(4): p. 227-42.
- Chaplin, D.D., Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2010. 125(2 Suppl 2): p. S3-23.
- Spellberg, B. and J.E. Edwards, Jr., *Type 1/Type 2 immunity in infectious diseases*. Clin Infect Dis, 2001. **32**(1): p. 76-102.
- 29. Curtis, M.M. and S.S. Way, *Interleukin-17 in host defence against bacterial, mycobacterial and fungal pathogens*. Immunology, 2009. **126**(2): p. 177-85.
- 30. Kuwabara, T., et al., *The Role of IL-17 and Related Cytokines in Inflammatory Autoimmune Diseases*. Mediators Inflamm, 2017. **2017**: p. 3908061.
- 31. Hartigan-O'Connor, D.J., et al., *Th17 cells and regulatory T cells in elite control over HIV and SIV*. Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS, 2011. **6**(3): p. 221.
- 32. Bhat, P., et al., *Interferon-gamma derived from cytotoxic lymphocytes directly enhances their motility and cytotoxicity.* Cell Death Dis, 2017. **8**(6): p. e2836.
- Bratland, E., et al., *T cell responses to steroid cytochrome P450 21-hydroxylase in patients with autoimmune primary adrenal insufficiency*. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2009. 94(12): p. 5117-5124.
- 34. Rottembourg, D., et al., 21-Hydroxylase epitopes are targeted by CD8 T cells in autoimmune Addison's disease. J Autoimmun, 2010. **35**(4): p. 309-15.
- 35. Pollard, K.M., et al., *Interferon-gamma and systemic autoimmunity*. Discov Med, 2013. **16**(87): p. 123-31.
- 36. Murphy, K., P. Travers, and M. Walport, *Janeway's immunobiology*. 7th ed. 2008, New York: Garland Science.
- Romagnani, S., *Immunological tolerance and autoimmunity*. Internal and emergency medicine, 2006. 1(3): p. 187-196.
- 38. Goodnow, C.C., et al., *Cellular and genetic mechanisms of self tolerance and autoimmunity*. Nature, 2005. **435**(7042): p. 590-7.
- 39. Klein, L., et al., *Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see)*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2014. **14**(6): p. 377-91.
- 40. Takahama, Y., *Journey through the thymus: stromal guides for T-cell development and selection.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2006. **6**(2): p. 127-35.
- 41. Klein, L., et al., *CD4 T cell tolerance to human C-reactive protein, an inducible serum protein, is mediated by medullary thymic epithelium.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1998. **188**(1): p. 5-16.
- 42. Anderson, M.S., et al., *The cellular mechanism of Aire control of T cell tolerance*. Immunity, 2005. **23**(2): p. 227-39.
- 43. Husebye, E.S., M.S. Anderson, and O. Kämpe, *Autoimmune Polyendocrine Syndromes*. N Engl J Med, 2018. **378**(12): p. 1132-1141.
- 44. Anderson, M.S. and J.-L. Casanova, *More than meets the eye: monogenic autoimmunity strikes again.* Immunity, 2015. **42**(6): p. 986-988.

- 45. Anderson, M.S. and M.A. Su, *AIRE expands: new roles in immune tolerance and beyond*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2016. **16**(4): p. 247-58.
- 46. Yang, S., et al., *Immune tolerance. Regulatory T cells generated early in life play a distinct role in maintaining self-tolerance.* Science, 2015. **348**(6234): p. 589-94.
- 47. Ekland, E.H., et al., *Requirements for follicular exclusion and competitive elimination of autoantigen-binding B cells*. The Journal of Immunology, 2004. 172(8): p. 4700-4708.
- 48. Powell, J.D., *The induction and maintenance of T cell anergy*. Clinical Immunology, 2006. **120**(3): p. 239-246.
- 49. Walunas, T.L., et al., *CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation*. Immunity, 1994. **1**(5): p. 405-413.
- 50. Van Parijs, L. and A.K. Abbas, *Homeostasis and self-tolerance in the immune system: turning lymphocytes off.* Science, 1998. **280**(5361): p. 243-8.
- 51. Bluestone, J.A. and A.K. Abbas, *Opinion-regulatory lymphocytes: natural versus adaptive regulatory T cells*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2003. **3**(3): p. 253.
- 52. Grant, C.R., et al., Regulatory T-cells in autoimmune diseases: challenges, controversies and—yet—unanswered questions. Autoimmunity reviews, 2015. 14(2): p. 105-116.
- 53. Kekalainen, E., et al., *A defect of regulatory T cells in patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(2): p. 1208-15.
- 54. Bennett, C.L., et al., *The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3*. Nat Genet, 2001. **27**(1): p. 20-1.
- 55. Autoimmune Diseases Coordinating Committee, *Progress in Autoimmune Diseases Research: National Institutes of Health, US Department of Health and Human Services.* 2005, NIH Publication.
- 56. Cooper, G.S., M.L. Bynum, and E.C. Somers, *Recent insights in the epidemiology of autoimmune diseases: improved prevalence estimates and understanding of clustering of diseases.* J Autoimmun, 2009. **33**(3-4): p. 197-207.
- 57. Bruserud, Ø., et al., *AIRE-mutations and autoimmune disease*. Current opinion in immunology, 2016. **43**: p. 8-15.
- Oftedal, B.E., et al., Dominant Mutations in the Autoimmune Regulator AIRE Are Associated with Common Organ-Specific Autoimmune Diseases. Immunity, 2015. 42(6): p. 1185-96.
- Worth, A., A.J. Thrasher, and H.B. Gaspar, *Autoimmune lymphoproliferative* syndrome: molecular basis of disease and clinical phenotype. Br J Haematol, 2006. 133(2): p. 124-40.
- Chatila, T.A., et al., JM2, encoding a fork head-related protein, is mutated in Xlinked autoimmunity-allergic disregulation syndrome. J Clin Invest, 2000. 106(12): p. R75-81.
- 61. Hori, S., T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi, *Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3*. Science, 2003. **299**(5609): p. 1057-61.
- 62. Skinningsrud, B., et al., *Multiple loci in the HLA complex are associated with Addison's disease*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2011. **96**(10): p. E1703-8.
- 63. Baker, P.R., et al., *Haplotype analysis discriminates genetic risk for DR3-associated endocrine autoimmunity and helps define extreme risk for Addison's disease*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2010. **95**(10): p. E263-70.
- 64. Lopez Casado, M.A., et al., *Celiac Disease Autoimmunity*. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz), 2018. **66**(6): p. 423-430.

- 65. Bodis, G., V. Toth, and A. Schwarting, Role of Human Leukocvte Antigens (HLA) in Autoimmune Diseases. Rheumatol Ther, 2018. 5(1): p. 5-20. 66. Norcross, M.A., et al., Abacavir induces loading of novel self-peptides into HLA-*B*57: 01: an autoimmune model for HLA-associated drug hypersensitivity.* Aids. 2012. 26(11): p. F21-9. Llano, A. and C. Brander, Mechanisms involved in the Abacavir-mediated 67. hypersensitivity syndrome. Cell Res, 2012. 22(12): p. 1637-9. 68. Marrack, P., J. Kappler, and B.L. Kotzin, Autoimmune disease: why and where it occurs. Nat Med, 2001. 7(8): p. 899-905. Christen, U. and M.G. von Herrath. Initiation of autoimmunity. Curr Opin Immunol. 69. 2004. 16(6): p. 759-67. 70. Davidson, A. and B. Diamond, Autoimmune diseases. N Engl J Med, 2001. 345(5): p. 340-50. 71. Getts, D.R., et al., Virus infection, antiviral immunity, and autoimmunity. Immunological reviews, 2013. 255(1): p. 197-209. 72. Arason, G., G. Jorgensen, and B. Ludviksson, Primarv immunodeficiency and autoimmunity: lessons from human diseases. Scandinavian journal of immunology, 2010. 71(5): p. 317-328. Schmidt, R.E., B. Grimbacher, and T. Witte, Autoimmunity and primary 73. immunodeficiency: two sides of the same coin? Nat Rev Rheumatol, 2017. 14(1): p. 7-18. 74. Azizi, G., et al., Monogenic polvautoimmunity in primary immunodeficiency diseases. Autoimmun Rev, 2018. 17(10): p. 1028-1039. 75. Greco, L., et al., The first large population based twin study of coeliac disease. Gut, 2002. 50(5): p. 624-8. 76. Nistico, L., et al., Concordance, disease progression, and heritability of coeliac disease in Italian twins. Gut, 2006. 55(6): p. 803-8. Skoy, J., et al., Heritability of Addison's disease and prevalence of associated 77. autoimmunity in a cohort of 112.100 Swedish twins. Endocrine, 2017, 58(3); p. 521-527. 78. Bogdanos, D.P., et al., Twin studies in autoimmune disease: genetics, gender and
- environment. J Autoimmun, 2012. 38(2-3): p. J156-69.
 79. Kukko, M., et al., *Geographical variation in risk HLA-DQB1 genotypes for type 1 diabetes and signs of β-cell autoimmunity in a high-incidence country*. Diabetes care,
- 2004. 27(3): p. 676-681.
 80. Cooper, G.S., F.W. Miller, and D.R. Germolec, *Occupational exposures and autoimmune diseases*. Int Immunopharmacol, 2002. 2(2-3): p. 303-13.
- 81. Perricone, C., et al., *Smoke and autoimmunity: The fire behind the disease*. Autoimmun Rev, 2016. **15**(4): p. 354-74.
- 82. Molina, V. and Y. Shoenfeld, *Infection, vaccines and other environmental triggers of autoimmunity*. Autoimmunity, 2005. **38**(3): p. 235-245.
- Hellesen, A. and E. Bratland, *The potential role for infections in the pathogenesis of autoimmune Addison's disease*. Clinical & Experimental Immunology, 2019. **195**(1): p. 52-63.
- 84. Ercolini, A. and S. Miller, *The role of infections in autoimmune disease*. Clinical & Experimental Immunology, 2009. **155**(1): p. 1-15.
- 85. Lanzavecchia, A., *How can cryptic epitopes trigger autoimmunity?* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1995. **181**(6): p. 1945-1948.

- Warnock, M. and J. Goodacre, *Cryptic T-cell epitopes and their role in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases*. British journal of rheumatology, 1997. 36(11): p. 1144-1150.
- 87. Christen, U. and E. Hintermann, *Autoantibodies in Autoimmune Hepatitis: Can epitopes Tell Us about the etiology of the Disease?* Frontiers in immunology, 2018.
 9: p. 163.
- Lassmann, H., et al., Epstein–Barr virus in the multiple sclerosis brain: a controversial issue—report on a focused workshop held in the Centre for Brain Research of the Medical University of Vienna, Austria. Brain, 2011. 134(9): p. 2772-2786.
- 89. Hyöty, H., Viruses in type 1 diabetes. Pediatric diabetes, 2016. 17: p. 56-64.
- 90. Yeung, W.C., W.D. Rawlinson, and M.E. Craig, *Enterovirus infection and type 1* diabetes mellitus: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational molecular studies. Bmj, 2011. **342**: p. d35.
- 91. Serafini, B., et al., *Dysregulated Epstein-Barr virus infection in the multiple sclerosis brain*. J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(12): p. 2899-912.
- 92. Thacker, E.L., F. Mirzaei, and A. Ascherio, *Infectious mononucleosis and risk for multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis.* Ann Neurol, 2006. **59**(3): p. 499-503.
- Martyn, C.N., M. Cruddas, and D.A. Compston, *Symptomatic Epstein-Barr virus infection and multiple sclerosis*. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1993. 56(2): p. 167-8.
- 94. Haahr, S., et al., *Increased risk of multiple sclerosis after late Epstein-Barr virus infection: a historical prospective study.* Mult Scler, 1995. 1(2): p. 73-7.
- 95. Lünemann, J.D., et al., *Epstein-Barr virus: environmental trigger of multiple sclerosis?* Journal of virology, 2007. **81**(13): p. 6777-6784.
- 96. Haahr, S. and P. Hollsberg, *Multiple sclerosis is linked to Epstein-Barr virus infection*. Rev Med Virol, 2006. **16**(5): p. 297-310.
- 97. Willis, S.N., et al., *Epstein-Barr virus infection is not a characteristic feature of multiple sclerosis brain*. Brain, 2009. **132**(Pt 12): p. 3318-28.
- 98. Peferoen, L.A., et al., *Epstein Barr virus is not a characteristic feature in the central nervous system in established multiple sclerosis.* Brain, 2009. **133**(5): p. e137-e137.
- 99. Sargsyan, S.A., et al., *Absence of Epstein-Barr virus in the brain and CSF of patients with multiple sclerosis.* Neurology, 2010. **74**(14): p. 1127-35.
- 100. Torkildsen, O., et al., Upregulation of immunoglobulin-related genes in cortical sections from multiple sclerosis patients. Brain Pathol, 2010. **20**(4): p. 720-9.
- 101. Edvardsen, K., et al., Peripheral blood cells from patients with autoimmune Addison's disease poorly respond to Interferons in vitro, despite elevated serum levels of interferon-inducible Chemokines. Journal of Interferon & Cytokine Research, 2015. 35(10): p. 759-770.
- 102. Bancos, I., et al., Primary adrenal insufficiency is associated with impaired natural killer cell function: a potential link to increased mortality. European journal of endocrinology, 2017. 176(4): p. 471-480.
- Smans, L.C., et al., Increased use of antimicrobial agents and hospital admission for infections in patients with primary adrenal insufficiency: a cohort study. European Journal of Endocrinology, 2013. 168(4): p. 609-614.
- 104. Bjornsdottir, S., et al., Drug prescription patterns in patients with Addison's disease: a Swedish population-based cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2013. 98(5): p. 2009-18.
- 105. Mitchell, A.L. and S.H. Pearce, *Autoimmune Addison disease: pathophysiology and genetic complexity*. Nature reviews Endocrinology, 2012. **8**(5): p. 306.

106.	Naletto, L., et al., <i>THE NATURAL HISTORY OF AUTOIMMUNE ADDISON'S</i> <i>DISEASE FROM THE DETECTION OF AUTOANTIBODIES TO DEVELOPMENT</i> <i>OF THE DISEASE: A LONG FOLLOW-UP STUDY ON 143 PATIENTS</i> . Eur J
	Endocrinol, 2019.
107.	Hellesen, A., E. Bratland, and E.S. Husebye. Autoimmune Addison's disease–An undate on pathogenesis in Annales d'endocrinologie 2018. Elsevier
108.	Walczak, E.M. and G.D. Hammer, <i>Regulation of the adrenocortical stem cell niche:</i> implications for disease. Nat Boy Endocrinol. 2015. 11 (1): p. 14.28
109.	Kim, A.C., et al., <i>In search of adrenocortical stem and progenitor cells</i> . Endocrine
110.	Lovas, K. and E.S. Husebye, <i>High prevalence and increasing incidence of Addison's</i>
111.	<i>disease in western Norway.</i> Clin Endocrinol (Oxt), 2002. 56 (6): p. 787-91. Olafsson, A.S. and H.A. Sigurjonsdottir, <i>INCREASING PREVALENCE OF</i> <i>ADDISON DISEASE: RESULTS FROM A NATIONWIDE STUDY.</i> Endocr Pract,
	2016. 22 (1): p. 30-5.
112.	Meyer, G., et al., <i>Increasing prevalence of Addison's disease in German females: health insurance data 2008-2012</i> . Eur J Endocrinol, 2014. 170 (3): p. 367-73.
113.	Erichsen, M.M., et al., Clinical, Immunological, and Genetic Features of
	Autoimmune Primary Adrenal Insufficiency: Observations from a Norwegian Registry. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2009. 94 (12): p. 4882-4890.
114.	Laureti, S., et al., <i>Is the prevalence of Addison's disease underestimated?</i> J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 1999. 84 (5): p. 1762.
115.	Ten, S., M. New, and N. Maclaren, <i>Addison's Disease 2001</i> . The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2001. 86 (7): p. 2909-2922.
116.	Arlt, W. and B. Allolio, <i>Adrenal insufficiency</i> . The Lancet, 2003. 361 (9372): p. 1881-1893.
117.	Gjerstad, J.K., S.L. Lightman, and F. Spiga, <i>Role of glucocorticoid negative feedback</i> <i>in the regulation of HPA axis pulsatility</i> . Stress (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 2018. 21 (5): p. 403-416.
118.	Fountain, J.H. and S.L. Lappin, <i>Physiology, Renin Angiotensin System</i> , in <i>StatPearls</i> [Internet] 2019 StatPearls Publishing
119.	Winqvist, O., F.A. Karlsson, and O. Kampe, 21-Hydroxylase, a major autoantigen in idiopathic Addison's disease. Lancet, 1992. 339 (8809): p. 1559-62.
120.	Guengerich, F.P., M.R. Waterman, and M. Egli, <i>Recent Structural Insights into Cytochrome P450 Function</i> . Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2016. 37 (8): p. 625-640.
121.	Betterle, C. and L. Morlin, <i>Autoimmune Addison's disease</i> . Endocr Dev, 2011. 20 : p. 161-172.
122.	Erichsen, M.M., et al., <i>Clinical, immunological, and genetic features of autoimmune primary adrenal insufficiency: observations from a Norwegian registry.</i> The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2009. 94 (12): p. 4882-4890.
123.	Coco, G., et al., <i>Estimated risk for developing autoimmune Addison's disease in patients with adrenal cortex autoantibodies.</i> J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2006. 91 (5): p. 1637-45.
124.	Husebye, E. and K. Lovas, <i>Pathogenesis of primary adrenal insufficiency</i> . Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2009. 23 (2): p. 147-57.
125.	Husebye, E.S., et al., <i>Clinical manifestations and management of patients with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I.</i> J Intern Med, 2009. 265 (5): p. 514-29.
126.	Husebye, E.S. and M.S. Anderson, <i>Autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes: clues to type 1 diabetes pathogenesis.</i> Immunity, 2010. 32 (4): p. 479-87.

70

- 127. Skov, J., et al., Heritability of Addison's disease and prevalence of associated autoimmunity in a cohort of 112,100 Swedish twins. Endocrine, 2017. 58(3): p. 521-527.
- 128. Skov, J., et al., *Co-aggregation and heritability of organ-specific autoimmunity: a population-based twin study*. Eur J Endocrinol, 2020. **182**(5): p. 473-480.
- 129. Eriksson, D., et al., *Extended exome sequencing identifies BACH2 as a novel major risk locus for Addison's disease*. J Intern Med, 2016. **280**(6): p. 595-608.
- 130. Koeleman, B.P., et al., *Genotype effects and epistasis in type 1 diabetes and HLA-DQ trans dimer associations with disease.* Genes Immun, 2004. **5**(5): p. 381-8.
- Miller, F.W., et al., Genome-wide association study identifies HLA 8.1 ancestral haplotype alleles as major genetic risk factors for myositis phenotypes. Genes Immun, 2015. 16(7): p. 470-80.
- Price, P., et al., *The genetic basis for the association of the 8.1 ancestral haplotype* (A1, B8, DR3) with multiple immunopathological diseases. Immunol Rev, 1999. 167: p. 257-74.
- 133. Gambino, C.M., et al., *Autoimmune diseases and 8.1 ancestral haplotype: An update*. Hla, 2018. **92**(3): p. 137-143.
- 134. Wolff, A.S.B., et al., *CTLA-4 as a genetic determinant in autoimmune Addison's disease*. Genes and immunity, 2015. **16**(6): p. 430.
- 135. Skinningsrud, B., et al., *Mutation screening of PTPN22: association of the 1858T-allele with Addison's disease*. Eur J Hum Genet, 2008. **16**(8): p. 977-82.
- Roycroft, M., et al., *The tryptophan 620 allele of the lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase* (*PTPN22*) gene predisposes to autoimmune Addison's disease. Clinical endocrinology, 2009. **70**(3): p. 358-362.
- Blomhoff, A., et al., *Polymorphisms in the cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 gene region confer susceptibility to Addison's disease*. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2004. **89**(7): p. 3474-3476.
- 138. Brand, O., S. Gough, and J. Heward, *HLA*, *CTLA-4 and PTPN22 : the shared genetic master-key to autoimmunity?* Expert Rev Mol Med, 2005. 7(23): p. 1-15.
- 139. Ban, Y., et al., *Analysis of the CTLA-4, CD28, and inducible costimulator (ICOS)* genes in autoimmune thyroid disease. Genes Immun, 2003. **4**(8): p. 586-93.
- 140. Stanford, S.M. and N. Bottini, *PTPN22: the archetypal non-HLA autoimmunity gene*. Nat Rev Rheumatol, 2014. **10**(10): p. 602-11.
- 141. Brownlie, R.J., R. Zamoyska, and R.J. Salmond, *Regulation of autoimmune and antitumour T-cell responses by PTPN22*. Immunology, 2018. **154**(3): p. 377-382.
- Pazderska, A., et al., A Variant in the BACH2 Gene Is Associated With Susceptibility to Autoimmune Addison's Disease in Humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2016. 101(11): p. 3865-3869.
- 143. Zurawek, M., et al., *A coding variant in NLRP1 is associated with autoimmune Addison's disease*. Hum Immunol, 2010. **71**(5): p. 530-4.
- 144. Magitta, N.F., et al., *A coding polymorphism in NALP1 confers risk for autoimmune Addison's disease and type 1 diabetes.* Genes Immun, 2009. **10**(2): p. 120-4.
- 145. Skinningsrud, B., et al., Polymorphisms in CLEC16A and CIITA at 16p13 are associated with primary adrenal insufficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2008. 93(9): p. 3310-7.
- 146. Eriksson, D., et al., Common genetic variation in the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) locus is associated with autoimmune Addison's disease in Sweden. Sci Rep, 2018.
 8(1): p. 8395.
- 147. Manolio, T.A., et al., *Finding the missing heritability of complex diseases*. Nature, 2009. **461**(7265): p. 747-753.
- 148. Irvine, W.J., A.G. Stewart, and L. Scarth, *A clinical and immunological study of adrenocortical insufficiency (Addison's disease)*. Clin Exp Immunol, 1967. **2**(1): p. 31-70.
- 149. al Sabri, A.M., N. Smith, and A. Busuttil, *Sudden death due to auto-immune Addison's disease in a 12-year-old girl*. Int J Legal Med, 1997. **110**(5): p. 278-80.
- 150. Betterle, C., et al., Autoimmune adrenal insufficiency and autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes: autoantibodies, autoantigens, and their applicability in diagnosis and disease prediction. Endocr Rev, 2002. **23**(3): p. 327-64.
- 151. Cassell, D.K. and N.R. Rose, *The encyclopedia of autoimmune diseases*. 2014: Infobase Publishing.
- 152. Boscaro, M., et al., *Hormonal responses during various phases of autoimmune adrenal failure: no evidence for 21-hydroxylase enzyme activity inhibition in vivo.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 1996. **81**(8): p. 2801-4.
- 153. Betterle, C., et al., Assessment of adrenocortical function and autoantibodies in a baby born to a mother with autoimmune polyglandular syndrome Type 2. J Endocrinol Invest, 2004. 27(7): p. 618-21.
- 154. Freeman, M. and A.P. Weetman, *T and B cell reactivity to adrenal antigens in autoimmune Addison's disease*. Clin Exp Immunol, 1992. **88**(2): p. 275-9.
- 155. Husebye, E.S., et al., *The substrate-binding domain of 21-hydroxylase, the main autoantigen in autoimmune Addison's disease, is an immunodominant T cell epitope.* Endocrinology, 2006. **147**(5): p. 2411-6.
- 156. Dawoodji, A., et al., *High frequency of cytolytic 21-hydroxylase-specific CD8+ T cells in autoimmune Addison's disease patients*. J Immunol, 2014. **193**(5): p. 2118-26.
- 157. Hayashi, Y., et al., *Focal lymphocytic infiltration in the adrenal cortex of the elderly: immunohistological analysis of infiltrating lymphocytes.* Clinical and experimental immunology, 1989. 77(1): p. 101-105.
- 158. Coutinho, A.E. and K.E. Chapman, *The anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids, recent developments and mechanistic insights.* Mol Cell Endocrinol, 2011. **335**(1): p. 2-13.
- 159. Nielsen, P.R., et al., *Infections as risk factor for autoimmune diseases A nationwide study*. J Autoimmun, 2016. **74**: p. 176-181.
- Foxman, E.F. and A. Iwasaki, *Genome-virome interactions: examining the role of common viral infections in complex disease*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2011. 9(4): p. 254-64.
- Ramirez, N. and E. Olavarria, Viral-specific adoptive immunotherapy after allo-SCT: the role of multimer-based selection strategies. Bone Marrow Transplant, 2013. 48(10): p. 1265-70.
- 162. Eriksson, D., et al., *Genome-wide association study links autoimmune Addison's disease to break of central tolerance.* Forthcoming, 2020.
- 163. Bunce, M., et al., *High resolution HLA-C typing by PCR-SSP: identification of allelic frequencies and linkage disequilibria in 604 unrelated random UK Caucasoids and a comparison with serology.* Tissue Antigens, 1997. **50**(1): p. 100-11.
- 164. Kircher, M., et al., *A general framework for estimating the relative pathogenicity of human genetic variants.* Nat Genet, 2014. **46**(3): p. 310-5.
- 165. Lim, H.K., et al., *TLR3 deficiency in herpes simplex encephalitis*. High allelic heterogeneity and recurrence risk, 2014. **83**(21): p. 1888-1897.
- 166. Andersen, L.L., et al., *Frequently used bioinformatics tools overestimate the damaging effect of allelic variants.* Genes Immun, 2019. **20**(1): p. 10-22.

- Nahum, A., et al., *The biological significance of TLR3 variant*, L412F, in conferring susceptibility to cutaneous candidiasis, CMV and autoimmunity. Autoimmunity reviews, 2012. 11(5): p. 341-347.
- Barkhash, A.V., M.I. Voevoda, and A.G. Romaschenko, Association of single nucleotide polymorphism rs3775291 in the coding region of the TLR3 gene with predisposition to tick-borne encephalitis in a Russian population. Antiviral Res, 2013. 99(2): p. 136-8.
- 169. Fichna, M., et al., Polymorphisms of the Toll-Like Receptor-3 Gene in Autoimmune Adrenal Failure and Type 1 Diabetes in Polish Patients. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz), 2016. 64(1): p. 83-7.
- 170. Assmann, T.S., et al., *Polymorphisms in the TLR3 gene are associated with risk for type 1 diabetes mellitus*. European journal of endocrinology, 2014. **170**(4): p. 519-527.
- 171. Syedbasha, M. and A. Egli, *Interferon Lambda: Modulating Immunity in Infectious Diseases*. Front Immunol, 2017. **8**: p. 119.
- 172. Galani, I.E., et al., Interferon-lambda Mediates Non-redundant Front-Line Antiviral Protection against Influenza Virus Infection without Compromising Host Fitness. Immunity, 2017. 46(5): p. 875-890.e6.
- 173. Andersen, L.L., et al., *Functional IRF3 deficiency in a patient with herpes simplex encephalitis.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2015. **212**(9): p. 1371-1379.
- 174. Al Alawi, A.M., A. Nordenstrom, and H. Falhammar, *Clinical perspectives in congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 deficiency*. Endocrine, 2019. **63**(3): p. 407-421.
- 175. Addison, T., On the Constitutional and Local Effects of Diseases of the Supra-Renal Capsules. 1855, London: Warren & Son.
- Guo, Y., et al., *Herpes simplex virus encephalitis in a patient with complete TLR3 deficiency: TLR3 is otherwise redundant in protective immunity.* J Exp Med, 2011.
 208(10): p. 2083-98.
- 177. Andersen, L.L., et al., *Functional IRF3 deficiency in a patient with herpes simplex encephalitis.* J Exp Med, 2015. **212**(9): p. 1371-9.
- 178. Chow, K.T., M. Gale, Jr., and Y.M. Loo, *RIG-I and Other RNA Sensors in Antiviral Immunity*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2018. **36**: p. 667-694.
- 179. Hidaka, F., et al., *A missense mutation of the Toll-like receptor 3 gene in a patient with influenza-associated encephalopathy.* Clin Immunol, 2006. **119**(2): p. 188-94.
- 180. Lafaille, F.G., et al., *Impaired intrinsic immunity to HSV-1 in human iPSC-derived TLR3-deficient CNS cells.* Nature, 2012. **491**(7426): p. 769-73.
- Perales-Linares, R. and S. Navas-Martin, *Toll-like receptor 3 in viral pathogenesis: friend or foe?* Immunology, 2013. 140(2): p. 153-67.
- 182. Armangue, T., et al., *Toll-like receptor 3 deficiency in autoimmune encephalitis postherpes simplex encephalitis*. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm, 2019. **6**(6).
- 183. Armangue, T., et al., *Frequency, symptoms, risk factors, and outcomes of autoimmune encephalitis after herpes simplex encephalitis: a prospective observational study and retrospective analysis.* Lancet Neurol, 2018. **17**(9): p. 760-772.
- 184. Lim, H.K., et al., Severe influenza pneumonitis in children with inherited TLR3 deficiency. J Exp Med, 2019. **216**(9): p. 2038-2056.
- 185. Liang, F., et al., Recurrent Herpes Zoster Ophthalmicus in a Patient With a Novel Toll-Like Receptor 3 Variant Linked to Compromised Activation Capacity in Fibroblasts. J Infect Dis, 2020. 221(8): p. 1295-1303.

186.	McCartney, S.A., et al., <i>RNA sensor-induced type I IFN prevents diabetes caused by a beta cell-tropic virus in mice</i> , J Clin Invest, 2011. 121 (4): p. 1497-507.
187.	Crabtree, J.N., et al., Autoimmune Variant PTPN22 C1858T Is Associated With Impaired Responses to Influenza Vaccination Infect Dis 2016 214 (2): p. 248-57
188.	Bottini, N. and E.J. Peterson, <i>Tyrosine phosphatase PTPN22: multifunctional regulator of immune signaling, development, and disease.</i> Annu Rev Immunol, 2014. 32 : p. 83-119
189.	Wang, Y., et al., <i>The autoimmunity-associated gene PTPN22 potentiates toll-like receptor-driven, type 1 interferon-dependent immunity</i> . Immunity, 2013. 39 (1): p. 111-22.
190.	Afzali, B., et al., <i>BACH2 immunodeficiency illustrates an association between super-</i> enhancers and haploinsufficiency. Nat Immunol 2017 18 (7): p. 813-823
191.	Hellesen, A. and E. Bratland, <i>The potential role for infections in the pathogenesis of autoimmune Addison's disease</i> . Clin Exp Immunol, 2019. 195 (1): p. 52-63.
192.	Tresoldi, A.S., et al., <i>Increased Infection Risk in Addison's Disease and Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia.</i> J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2020. 105 (2): p. 418-29.
193.	Pazderska, A., et al., <i>Impact of Month of Birth on the Risk of Development of Autoimmune Addison's Disease</i> . J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2016. 101 (11): p. 4214-4218.
194.	Burckhardt, MA., et al., <i>Human 3β-hydroxysteroid-dehydrogenase deficiency seems</i> to affect fertility but may not harbor a tumor risk: lesson from an experiment of nature. European journal of endocrinology, 2015: p. EJE-15-0599.
195.	Reinehr, T., et al., <i>Vanishing 17-Hydroxyprogesterone Concentrations in 21-</i> <i>Hydroxylase Deficiency</i> . Horm Res Paediatr, 2018. 90 (2): p. 138-144.
196.	Pang, S., et al., <i>Carriers for type II 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (HSD3B2)</i> deficiency can only be identified by HSD3B2 genotype study and not by hormone test. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf), 2003, 58 (3): p. 323-31.
197.	Codner, E., et al., <i>Molecular study of the 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase gene type II in patients with hypospadias</i> . J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2004. 89 (2): p. 957-64
198.	Neslund-Dudas, C., et al., <i>SRD5A2 and HSD3B2 polymorphisms are associated with prostate cancer risk and aggressiveness.</i> Prostate, 2007. 67 (15): p. 1654-63.
199.	Brønstad, I., et al., <i>CYP21A2 polymorphisms in patients with autoimmune Addison's disease, and linkage disequilibrium to HLA risk alleles.</i> Eur J Endocrinol, 2014. 171 (6): p. 743-50.
200.	Ruggiero, C. and E. Lalli, <i>Impact of ACTH Signaling on Transcriptional Regulation of Steroidogenic Genes</i> . Front Endocrinol (Lausanne), 2016. 7: p. 24.
201.	Monti, P., et al., <i>Evidence for in vivo primed and expanded autoreactive T cells as a specific feature of patients with type 1 diabetes.</i> J Immunol, 2007. 179 (9): p. 5785-92.
202.	Skowera, A., et al., <i>beta-cell-specific CD8 T cell phenotype in type 1 diabetes reflects chronic autoantigen exposure</i> . Diabetes, 2015. 64 (3): p. 916-925.
203.	Myhre, A.G., et al., <i>Autoimmune adrenocortical failure in Norway autoantibodies</i> <i>and human leukocyte antigen class II associations related to clinical features.</i> J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2002. 87 (2): p. 618-23.
204.	Smigoc Schweiger, D., et al., <i>High-risk genotypes HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR3-DQ2 and DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 in co-occurrence of type 1 diabetes and celiac disease.</i> Autoimmunity, 2016, 49 (4): p. 240-7.
205.	Kallenberg, C.G., et al., <i>HLA-B8/DR3 phenotype and the primary immune response</i> . Clin Immunol Immunopathol, 1985. 34 (1): p. 135-40.

- 206. Caruso, C., et al., *Natural killer and lymphokine-activated killer activity in HLA-B8,DR3-positive subjects*. Hum Immunol, 1993. **38**(3): p. 226-30.
- 207. Blais, M.E., T. Dong, and S. Rowland-Jones, *HLA-C as a mediator of natural killer and T-cell activation: spectator or key player*? Immunology, 2011. **133**(1): p. 1-7.
- 208. Valdes, A.M., H.A. Erlich, and J.A. Noble, *Human leukocyte antigen class I B and C loci contribute to Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) susceptibility and age at T1D onset.* Hum Immunol, 2005. 66(3): p. 301-13.
- Aly, T.A., et al., Multi-SNP analysis of MHC region: remarkable conservation of HLA-A1-B8-DR3 haplotype. Diabetes, 2006. 55(5): p. 1265-9.
- 210. Gambino, C.M., et al., *HLA-C1 ligands are associated with increased susceptibility* to systemic lupus erythematosus. Hum Immunol, 2018. **79**(3): p. 172-177.
- 211. Zhi, D., et al., Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor along with HLA-C ligand genes are associated with type 1 diabetes in Chinese Han population. Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2011. 27(8): p. 872-7.
- 212. Tozkır, J.D., et al., *The investigation of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor genotyping in patients with systemic lupus erytematosus and systemic sclerosis.* Clin Rheumatol, 2016. **35**(4): p. 919-25.
- Hou, Y., et al., Association of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor and human leucocyte antigen-Cw gene combinations with systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Exp Immunol, 2015. 180(2): p. 250-4.
- 214. Nazari, M., et al., Association of Killer Cell Immunoglobulin-Like Receptor Genes in Iranian Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. PLoS One, 2015. **10**(12): p. e0143757.
- Smigoc Schweiger, D., et al., *Genetic risk for co-occurrence of type 1 diabetes and celiac disease is modified by HLA-C and killer immunoglobulin-like receptors.* Tissue Antigens, 2014. 84(5): p. 471-8.
- Gudjonsson, J.E., et al., *Immunopathogenic mechanisms in psoriasis*. Clin Exp Immunol, 2004. 135(1): p. 1-8.
- 217. Chou, Y.C., et al., *Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) and human leukocyte antigen-C (HLA-C) allorecognition patterns in women with endometriosis.* Sci Rep, 2020. 10(1): p. 4897.
- 218. Kulkarni, S., M.P. Martin, and M. Carrington, *The Yin and Yang of HLA and KIR in human disease*. Semin Immunol, 2008. **20**(6): p. 343-52.
- 219. Husain, Z., et al., *HLA-Cw7 zygosity affects the size of a subset of CD158b+ natural killer cells.* J Clin Immunol, 2002. **22**(1): p. 28-36.
- 220. Richardson, S.J., et al., *Islet cell hyperexpression of HLA class I antigens: a defining feature in type 1 diabetes.* Diabetologia, 2016. **59**(11): p. 2448-2458.

Appendix

Journal of Translational Autoimmunity 1 (2019) 100005



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Translational Autoimmunity



Identification and characterization of rare toll-like receptor 3 variants in patients with autoimmune Addison's disease



Sigrid Aslaksen ^{a,b,*}, Anette B. Wolff ^{a,b}, Magnus D. Vigeland ^{c,d}, Lars Breivik ^{a,b,e}, Ying Sheng ^d, Bergithe E. Oftedal ^{a,b}, Haydee Artaza ^{a,b}, Beate Skinningsrud ^d, Dag E. Undlien ^{c,d}, Kaja K. Selmer ^{f,g}, Eystein S. Husebye ^{a,b,e}, Eirik Bratland ^{a,b}

^a Department of Clinical Science, University of Bergen, Norway

b KG Jebsen Center for Autoimmune Diseases, University of Bergen, Norway

^c Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway

^d Department of Medical Genetics, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

e Department of Medicine, Haukeland University Hospital, Norway

^f Department of Research and Development, Division of Neuroscience, Oslo University Hospital and the University of Oslo, Norway

8 National Centre for Epilepsy, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

ARTICLEINFO

Keywords: Autoimmunity Addison's disease Immunodeficiency Innate immunity Anti-viral immunity Toll-like receptor 3

ABSTRACT

Autoimmune Addison's disease (AAD) is a classic organ-specific autoimmune disease characterized by an immunemediated attack on the adrenal cortex. As most autoimmune diseases, AAD is believed to be caused by a combination of genetic and environmental factors, and probably interactions between the two. Persistent viral infections have been suggested to play a triggering role, by invoking inflammation and autoimmune disease involved in the recognition of conserved microbial patterns. In a whole exome sequencing study of anonymized AAD patients, we discovered several rare variants predicted to be damaging in the gene encoding Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3). TLR3 recognizes double stranded RNAs, and is therefore a major factor in antiviral defense. We here report the occurrence and functional characterization of five rare missense variants in *TLR3* of patients with AAD. Most of these variants occurred together with a common *TLR3* variant that has been associated with a wide range of immunopathologies. The biological implications of these variants on TLR3 function were evaluated in a cell-based assay, revealing a partial loss-of-function effect of three of the rare variants. In addition, rare mutations in other members of the TLR3-interferon (IFN) signaling pathway were detected in the AAD patients. Together, these findings indicate a potential role for TLR3 and downstream signaling proteins in the pathogenesis in a subset of AAD patients.

1. Introduction

Autoimmune Addison's disease (AAD), is a chronic endocrine disorder characterized by an immunological attack on the hormone-producing cells in the adrenal cortex [1]. The self-antigen 21-hydroxylase (21-OH) seems to be the dominant target of adrenal autoantibodies and autoreactive T cells [1–3]. The underlying causes of AAD are complex, involving both genetic and environmental factors. So far, the best characterized genetic factors are related to antigen presentation and T cell regulation, like certain HIA combinations and common variants in the genes *CTLA4* and *PTPN22* [4–6]. Most of these genetic risk factors are shared with other organ-specific

autoimmune diseases, including type 1 diabetes (T1D), celiac disease and thyroiditis, which often co-occur with AAD in patients with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 2 (APS-2). On very rare occasions AAD can also be monogenic, as part of autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 (APS-1), and caused by mutations in the *AIRE* gene encoding the autoimmune regulator protein [7]. However, apart from HLA genes and *AIRE*, the genetic factors discovered so far are only moderately increasing the susceptibility to develop AAD. In particular, the clustering of AAD in some families suggest the existence of highly penetrant AAD susceptibility alleles [8,9], but the specific alleles remain elusive. The involvement of rare variants in the pathogenesis of AAD is in line with AAD being a rare disorder,

E-mail address: Sigrid.Aslaksen@uib.no (S. Aslaksen).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtauto.2019.100005

Received 8 May 2019; Received in revised form 16 May 2019; Accepted 19 May 2019

2589-9090/© 2019 Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

^{*} Corresponding author. Department of Clinical Science, University of Bergen, Norway.

and may provide an explanation to the missing heritability problem of AAD. A possible strategy would therefore be to search for rare genetic variants (allele frequency <1% in the general population) affecting the phenotype [10].

Previous studies have demonstrated that errors in innate immunity are associated with autoimmunity [11-14]. Recent findings by others and us have suggested that alterations in the innate immune response might be present in AAD as well [15-17]. Persistent viral infections have further been proposed to act as triggers for immunopathological tissue destruction, resulting in autoimmune disease [11,13]. To detect and eliminate infectious agents, the innate immune system uses several recognition systems, including pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) [18, 19]. Some of the best characterized PRRs are the toll-like receptors (TLRs), which are not only expressed in innate immune cells, but also in the parenchyma of different organs such as the endocrine glands [19–21]. In particular, amongst the ten human TLR paralogs, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and rare variants in the TLR3 gene have been associated with several immune mediated diseases and different outcomes of infections [11,22-27]. TLR3 is localized intracellularly, within endosomes, and recognizes double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), which is the viral replication intermediate in most viruses and the actual genome in others [28,29]. Binding of dsRNA by TLR3's ectodomain initiates a signaling cascade resulting in activation of interferon (IFN) regulatory factor (IRF)-3/IRF-7 and nuclear factor kB (NF-kB) that stimulates cytokine production [22,30]. Mutations in TLR3 or associated key-members of the TLR3-IFN pathway, may cause sporadic cases of herpes simplex virus type-1 (HSV-1) encephalitis (HSE) [31]. Both dominant and recessive mutations have been described, but incomplete clinical penetrance has been observed for most genetic etiologies of HSE.

In the present work we have identified several rare *TLR3* variants in AAD patients, and characterized these with a novel NF-kB-based reporter assay. Some of these variants have not previously been functionally characterized. In addition, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from patients with *TLR3* variants were stimulated with dsRNA to examine any impairment of IFN production.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Patients and controls

The initial patient cohort consisted of 142 AAD patients that were subjected to whole-exome sequencing (WES). All patients were diagnosed with AAD based on clinical criteria as recommended by the Endocrine Society [32], and were recruited from the National Registry of Organ-specific Autoimmune Diseases (ROAS) at Haukeland University Hospital, Norway. The control group consisted of an in house database containing 308 exomes sequenced in research projects with no link to AAD or related phenotypes. We also compared our results with those from 795 exomes available from the Norwegian Cancer Genomics Consortium (NCGC) website (http://www.cancergenomics.no). This dataset contains more than 1.5 million individual variants coming from 1590 normal chromosomes of various cancer patients [33].

2.2. Ethics

The study was approved by the Regional Ethics Committee, project numbers 2013/1504, 2015/2053 and 2018/1417, and informed consent was obtained from each patient and family member included in the study.

2.3. Blood samples and DNA extraction

EDTA blood samples from patients and controls were used for purification of DNA and for the isolation of PBMCs. Genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood in house, using a QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kit (Qiagen), or performed by the Nord Trøndelag Health study (HUNT) biobank (Levanger, Norway). Blood samples were kept at -80 °C until DNA extraction using the MasterPureTM DNA purification kit version II B1 (Epicentre). Concentration of extracted DNA were normalized to 50 ng/ µl. PBMCs were isolated from whole blood using Ficoll density gradient centrifugation, and were cryopreserved at -150 °C.

2.4. Whole-exome sequencing

WES was done on an Illumina HiSeq (Illumina), after exome capture with the Roche Nimblegen SeqCap EZ Exome Library V2 kit (Roche Diagnostics Corporation). The sequences were aligned to the reference human genome (hg19) by using bwa mem (v0.7.12, [34]). The alignments were then refined by the Genome Analysis Toolkit (GATK, Version 2.8, [35,36]) and PCR duplicates were marked by Picard (v1.124, http://broadinstitute.github.io/picard]. The variants were called by UnifiedGenotyper by GATK (Version 2.8, [35,36]) and annotated by Annovar (v2017Jul16, [37]). Filtering of the exome variants was done in FILTUS [38]. To identify rare variants, we applied filters removing variants with allele frequencies greater than 1% in any of the databases gnomAD, 1000 Genomes Project, or our in house database.

2.5. Validation of WES results and follow-up of patients

Confirmation of the detected TLR3 variants were obtained by Sanger sequencing using BigDye Terminator v1.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems). Family members of selected patients were sequenced using the same sequencing kit. PCR was performed using AmpliTaq GoldTM DNA Polymerase with Gold Buffer and MgCl₂ (Applied Biosystems). For one of the patients, no DNA from family members was available. To determine the haplotype of this patient, exon 4 of TLR3 was amplified from genomic DNA and cloned into pCRTM2.1-TOPO vector, using TOPO TA cloning kit (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instructions. One Shot TOP10 chemically competent E. coli cells (Invitrogen) were transformed with cloned vector according to the manufacturer's recommendations, and plated onto ampicillin containing plates and grown overnight at 37°C. Plasmid DNA from single colonies were then amplified, purified using ExoProStar 1-Step enzymatic clean up system (GE Healthcare Life Sciences), and sequenced as described above. All primer sequences used for PCR and Sanger sequencing were designed using Primer3web version 4.0.0 and are available upon request.

2.6. In silico predictions

To estimate the degree of evolutionary conservation of the identified *TLR3* variants, 18 protein sequence homologs to the human TLR3 protein were aligned using the MUSCLE (Multiple Sequence Comparison by Log-Expectation) method [39] and ran by Jalview multiple sequence analysis or workbench version 2.10.4b1. The specific areas containing the variants of interest were aligned separately to avoid using gaps in the alignment.

Furthermore, the variants of TLR3 and the TLR3/IFN signaling pathway detected in patients were classified by the *in silico* variant pathogenicity predictors SIFT [40], PolyPhen2 [41], MutationTaster2 [42], PROVEAN [43] and CADD [44]. In particular, CADD score > 20 was used as a threshold for classifying variants as potentially damaging.

The structural implications of the F351I mutant were also analyzed using The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System v. 1.5 [45]. The x-ray crystallography structures of the ectodomains of human and mouse TLR3 [46,47] were used as templates.

2.7. Cell culture

HEK-Dual Null (NF/IL8) cells (InvivoGen) were grown in DMEM (1X) + GlutaMax (Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (Life Technologies), 50 U/ml penicillin, 50 µg/ml streptomycin (Sigma Aldrich) and 100 µg/ml Normocin (InvivoGen) at 37 °C with 5% CO₂ in a humidified incubator. These cells are stably transfected

with two different reporter genes (Secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) and the *Lucia* luciferase) inducible by NF-kB and IL-8, respectively, and are triply knocked out for TLR3, TLR5 and the TNF receptor genes.

2.8. Plasmids and site-directed mutagenesis

The following SNPs in Human TLR3 cDNA in pCMV6-Entry/TLR3 (OriGene) were produced using the QuickChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Strategene): T59N, G221R F351I, L412F, L742F and R867Q. The mutagenic primers were designed with PrimerX and are available upon request. All SNPs were confirmed by Sanger sequencing.

2.9. Reporter gene assay

HEK-Dual Null (NF/IL8) cells were harvested and plated in 6-well plates (6 \times 10⁵ cells/well) for 24 h. The cells were then transiently transfected with a mixture of the Lipofectamine 2000 reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and plasmids pCMV6-Entry/TLR3 (OriGene) encoding the full-length wild type (WT) gene, and/or TLR3 mutants. The cells were then incubated for 48 h, before being harvested and plated in a Micro-Amp Optical 96-well Reaction Plate. 100 µg/ml of polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid (poly(I:C)) (Invivogen) were then added to each well. The cells were allowed to incubate for 22-24 h to reach 70-80% confluency. 20 µl of cell supernatant of each well were then mixed with 180 µl of SEAP-inducer compound (InvivoGen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The SEAP activity was assessed by reading the optical density (OD) at 620-655 nm after 2 h. The units of SEAP activity were normalized to untreated controls within the same transfection, and the activity of the mutant TLR3 proteins was measured as a percentage of activity relative to the WT protein.

2.10. Western blots

Hek-Dual Null (NF/IL8) cells were transiently transfected with WT or mutant TLR3 as described above. The cells were then harvested and lysed using cOmplete Lysis-M buffer 0 (Sigma Aldrich), the lysates were centrifuged, and the supernatants obtained. The protein concentration of the supernatants was estimated using a DC protein assay kit (Bio-Rad) and equal amounts of protein were then mixed with LDS sample buffer (4X) (Life Technologies/Invitrogen) and Sample Reducing Agent (10X) (Life Technologies/Invitrogen). After 10 min at 70 °C, the samples were loaded on a NuPAGE 10% Bis-Tris Gel (Novex) and blotted onto polyvinylidine difluoride membrane (Invitrogen). The membrane was incubated with a mouse *anti*-DDK (FLAG) monoclonal antibody (clone OTI4C5, Origene). Mouse *anti*-GAPDH (clone 6C5, Millipore) was used as loading control. Bands were visualized using secondary horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody (Invitrogen) and the ECL system (Thermo Scientific).

2.11. PBMC stimulations

Cryopreserved PBMCs from patients, family members and controls, were thawed and plated onto 24-well plates (2×10^6 cells/well) and stimulated with either poly(I:C) (100 µg/ml) or polyadenylic-polyuridylic acid (poly(A:U)) (10, 50 and 100 µg/ml) for 24 h. The production of cytokines in the supernatants was determined by ELISA kits according to the manufacturer's instructions. These included IL28A/IFN λ , IFN γ (both from BioLegend) and IFN β (R&D systems).

2.12. Statistical analysis

In order to estimate whether rare and possibly damaging variants in *TLR3* were enriched among AAD patients, we compared the proportion of individuals carrying variants with CADD scores above 20 in our AAD cohort with the appropriate ethnic subpopulations of the Genome Aggregation Database (gnomAD), using a two-sided Fisher's exact test. Only exomes from controls were used for the analysis. All data from experiments using HEK-Dual Null (NF/IL8) cells are expressed as means of at least three independent experiments. All collected data were then tested by an ordinary one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. To test for IL28A/IFN\2 differences between controls and patients, multiple t-tests were used followed by the Holm-Sidak method to correct for multiple comparisons. For all tests, P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism v.8.0.1 software.

3. Results

3.1. General findings of WES

Initially, we searched for variants in a candidate list of 194 genes (available upon request) related to 1) APS-1 disease manifestations apart from AAD (e.g. chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis), 2) *AIRE*, molecular partners of *AIRE*, or related genes, 3) other autoimmune diseases or syndromes consisting of autoimmune manifestations, and 4) steroidogenesis, vitamin D metabolism, or adrenal disorders. A total number of 135 variants with CADD scores > 20 in 76 different genes was detected in the patients. 94 patients carried at least one variant (ranging from 1 to 6), while 38 patients did not carry any rare variants. The results from the last 10 patients were excluded from further analysis as the sequencing data failed to pass quality control. No significant findings were noted with regard to total number of coding variants, or enrichment of rare variants in any of the list of 194 candidate genes. However, when searching for tare and potentially damaging variants, we identified several interesting hits in *TLR3*. A complete list of all detected rare variants with CADD

Table 1

Overview of patients with *TLR3* **variants.** Abbreviations: AAD = autoimmune Addison's disease; APS-2 = autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 2; F = female; Het = heterozygous; Hom = homozygous; M = male; T1D = type 1 diabetes.

Patient	Sex	Autoimmune disease	Age of onset	HLA status	Affected relatives	TLR3 variants (NM_003265.2)	Zygosity
P1	М	Isolated AAD	22	High risk		c.176C > A (p.Thr59Asn)	Het
						c.1051T > A (p.Phe351Ile)	Het
					Brother: AAD	c.176C > A (p.Thr59Ans)	Het
					Brother: T1D		
P2	м	Isolated AAD	24	Neutral		c.1051T > A (p.Phe351Ile)	Het
						c.1234C > T (p.Leu412Phe)	Het
					Cousin: T1D		
P3	F	Isolated AAD	33	High risk		c.1234C > T (p.Leu412Phe)	Hom
						c.2600G > A (p.Arg867Gln)	Het
					Mother: hypothyroidism		
P4	M	Isolated AAD	47	Neutral		c.1234C > T (p.Leu412Phe)	Het
						c.2224C > T (p.Leu742Phe)	Het
P5	F	APS-2 + celiac disease	19	High risk		c.661G > A (p.Gly221Arg)	Het
					Father: T1D		

scores > 20.0 can be found in Supplementary Table 1.

3.2. Five TLR3 missense variants in five unrelated patients with AAD

WES revealed five rare TLR3 (transcript NM 003265.2) missense variants in five AAD patients: c.176C > A, c.661G > A, c.1051T > A (in two patients), c.2224C > T and c.2600G > A, leading to the predicted amino acid changes p.Thr59Asn, p.Gly221Arg, p.Phe351Ile, p.Leu742Phe and p.Arg867Gln, respectively. In the following these variants will be referred to as T59N, G221R, F351I, L742F and R867Q. None of these variants were detected among the 308 exomes in our in house database, but some were present at low frequencies in the NCGC exome database (summarized in Table 2). Using Sanger sequencing to validate the variants, we discovered that three patients carrying the F351I, L742F and R867O single nucleotide variants (SNVs), respectively, also carried the more common TLR3 variant c.1234C > T (p.Leu412Phe), from here on referred to as L412F. One patient carried both the T59N and the F351I variant. Therefore, four of the five patients had two variants each. All variants, except G221R, were present at low frequencies in gnomAD, which includes data from ~140,000 unrelated individuals [48]. G221R was absent in gnomAD, but was detected in a single allele in the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) cohort as part of the UK10K consortium [49]. The F351I variant detected in two AAD patients, is extremely rare, with only one allele (detected in Finland) deposited in gnomAD. T59N and R867Q have previously been implicated in HSE. R867Q has been described in homozygous combination in a Finnish patient with HSE, and was shown to be a hypomorphic allele resulting in a partial form of autosomal recessive TLR3 deficiency [31], and T59N was detected in a HSE patient along with a rare variant in the TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) gene, but did not confer any impairment on TLR3 function in vitro [50].

3.3. Clinical features of patients with rare TLR3 variants

The five patients carrying *TLR3* variants, three males and two females, were all typical AAD patients (Fig. 1 and Table 1): All had autoantibodies against 21-OH and 3/5 had the HLA class II genotype (DR3-DQ2/DR4.4-DQ8) conferring the highest risk of developing AAD [5]. Patient 1, 2, 3 and 4 (P1–P4) had isolated AAD, while Patient 5 (P5) had APS-2 consisting of AAD, T1D and hypothyroidism, as well as celiac disease. P1–P3 and P5 reported a family history of organ-specific autoimmunity, including AAD in a brother of P1. P1–P3 did not report any serious viral infections, but P1 and P2 had records of recurrent upper respiratory tract infections requiring antibiotics. P1 had also been suffering from chronic sinusitis that required surgery. P4 died in 2016 at the age of 87, probably due to cardiac arrest, and no follow-up study could be done for this patient. The patient had been admitted to hospital care with possible L2-L3 fracture and lower respiratory tract and urinary infections shortly prior to his death.

For P1-P3, DNA was available from family members (Fig. 1B). The brother of P1 was diagnosed with AAD and carried T59N, whereas the brother diagnosed with T1D harbored two WT alleles. The unaffected father carried F351I. Four additional healthy siblings were also sequenced; three were heterozygous for T59N and one of them carried F351I. The latter, a seemingly healthy brother of P1, tested negative for 21-OH autoantibodies. For P2, the mother and one sibling were genotyped. Both of them were heterozygous for L412F, and both were healthy. P3 was homozygous for L412F and heterozygous for the hypomorphic R867Q variant. Unfortunately, the patient's mother who was diagnosed with hypothyroidism was deceased and therefore no DNA was available for genotyping. Two healthy siblings were genotyped, whereby one was heterozygous for L412F variant, and the other homozygous, in addition to being heterozygous for R867Q. This sibling was negative for 21-OH autoantibodies. In order to genotype P4, we used a TOPO cloning kit, revealing that also L412F and L742F were positioned on opposite alleles. Collectively, the results indicated that the variants in P1-P4 were compound heterozygous (except P3 that was homozygous for L412F and

.

Variant annotat	ion			Frequencies				In silico predict	ion tools			
TLR3 variant	Protein change	Chromosomal location NC_000004.11 GRCh37 (hg19)	Exon number	AAD frequency	In-house database frequency	NCGC ^a frequency	GnomAD frequency	SIFT	PolyPhen2	Mutation taster	PROVEAN	CADD ^b
c.176C > A	p.Thr59Asn	g.186997949C > A	2	0.0038 (1/264)	0	0.00062	0.0002	Deleterious	Benign	Disease causing	Neutral	25.7
c.661G > A	p.Gly221Arg	g.187003501G > A	4	0.0038	0	0	0	Tolerated	Damaging	Disease causing	Neutral	23.4
c.1051T > A	p.Phe351Ile	g.187003891T > A	4	0.0076 (2/264)	0	0	0.00003	Deleterious	Possibly damaging	Disease causing	Deleterious	24.6
c.2224C > T	p.Leu742Phe	g.187005064C > T	4	0.0038 (1/264)	0	0.0013	0.0017	Deleterious	Probably damaging	Disease causing	Neutral	26.1
c.2600G > A	p.Arg867Gln	g.187005912G > A	5	0.0038 (1/264)	0	0.0019	0.0007	Deleterious	Probably damaging	Disease causing	Neutral	31.0
^a NCGC = No ^b CADD (Com	rwegian Cancer (bined Annotatior	Genomics Consortium ex n Dependent Depletion)	ome databas scores above	se, http://invitro.ht 20 indicate that a	oc.uio.no:8082/vcf-mi variant is amongst th	ner/. e top 1% of d	eleterious var	iants in the hur	nan genome.			

4

Table 2



Journal of Translational Autoimmunity 1 (2019) 100005

Fig. 1. *TLR3* genotypes and pedigrees for AAD patients with rare *TLR3* variants. (A) Overview of the five unrelated AAD patients carrying *TLR3* variants (red). P1–P4 were compound heterozygous for two *TLR3* variants (except for the homozygous state of L412F in P3), whereas P5 was heterozygous for one variant, G221R. (B) Family pedigrees of P1, P2 and P3, with allele segregation. Individuals affected by AAD or T1D are shown in black or grey, respectively. Healthy relatives are shown in white. Since P3 was homozygous for L412F, genotyping of parents was omitted. Mother of P1 and father of P2 were not genotyped.

heterozygous for R867Q), hence no WT variant was present (Fig. 1A).

3.4. In silico studies of the variants

Sequence alignment analysis of the six *TLR3* variants indicated that F351, L412, L742 and R867 were highly conserved in the 18 species studied, whereas T59 and G221 were less conserved, especially among the fish species (Fig. 2). Thus, based on evolutionary conservation, F351I, L412F, L742F and R867Q would be expected to be more damaging than T59N and G221R.

T59N, G221I, F351I, L742F and R867Q were all classified by the *in silico* pathogenicity prediction tools SIFT, PolyPhen2, MutationTaster, PROVEAN and CADD, through the respective web services (Table 2). A schematic diagram of the TLR3 protein is presented in Fig. 3. T59N, G221R, F351I and L412F are all located in different parts of the ectodomain of TLR3, which is essential for the recognition and direct binding of dsRNA at acidic pH [51,52]. L742F is located in the linker region, which bridges the transmembrane domain and the TIR domain [31]. Furthermore, R867Q is located in the TIR domain essential for the interaction with TRIF and thus the intracellular signal transduction upon binding of dsRNA [31,51]. All these variants, especially F351I, L412F, L742F and R867Q could potentially have a negative impact on the function of the TLR3 protein.

When taking into account all the alleles containing *TLR3* variants predicted to be damaging (CADD score > 20), we found 6/264 (2.27%) AAD patients and 213/26926 (0.79%) controls of Swedish and North Western European origin. This difference was significantly different (Odds ratio, 2.92 (95% CI 1.38–6.37), two-sided P value = 0.02). The difference was also significant when comparing rare variants in *TLR3* in AAD patients (6/264, 2.27%) and Norwegian exomes of the NCGC database and our in house database (19/2206, 0.86%): Odds ratio, 2.68 (95% CI 1.12–6.77, two-sided P value = 0.043).

3.5. Effects of variants on TLR3 activity

To determine the functional impact of the six variants, we studied the response to poly(I:C) stimulation in cells transfected with constructs encoding the WT or variant TLR3 proteins. This was achieved using Hek

Dual Null cells, stably transfected with a SEAP reporter gene induced by NF-kB. As the endogenous *TLR3* gene is specifically knocked out, all expression and activity of the receptor is therefore dependent on transfected TLR3. Stimulation of TLR3, and subsequent activation of NF-kB, is achieved by treating the cells with a TLR3 ligand such as poly(I:C). The units of SEAP activity were normalized to untreated controls within the same transfection, and the activity of the mutant TLR3 proteins was measured as a percentage of activity relative to the WT protein.

T59N, G221R and L412F demonstrated approximately the same level of activity as WT TLR3 (Fig. 4A). F351I had reduced activity by ~70% (P < 0.001), L742F had reduced activity by ~ 50% (P < 0.01), and R867Q had reduced reporter activity by ~ 55% (P < 0.01) which increased to ~ 60% together with L412F (P < 0.001) compared to the WT. Thus, consistent with the *in silico* studies, the F351I, L742F and R867Q TLR3 variants were dysfunctional.

Although TLR3 exists as a monomer in solution, dimerization is required in order for TLR3 to bind dsRNA [53]. To examine whether the WT allele could rescue the activity of dimers in presence of the mutants, we performed co-transfections of equal amounts of both variants and WT (Fig. 4B). The WT protein fully restored the function of TLR3 when expressed together with the variants, except from T59N and L742F, which still showed reduced activity, but without being statistically significant.

To mimic the patients' genotypes, in which all variants were located on opposite alleles, four different co-transfections were performed. These included (1) constructs encoding T59N together with constructs encoding F351I (P1), (2) constructs encoding F351I together with constructs encoding L412F (P2), (3) constructs encoding L412F together with constructs encoding both L412F and R867Q (P3), and (4) constructs encoding L412F together with constructs encoding L742F (P4) (Fig. 4C). The F351I, L742F and R867Q TLR3 proteins combined with L412F showed a significant reduction in receptor activity by 40–45% (P < 0.001for all combinations).

3.6. Expression of the TLR3 variants

The reduction or complete loss of TLR3 activity caused by the mutations could be an effect of low protein expression/stability, or of an impairment of a specific function. To examine the protein expression of

Homo_sapiens
Macaca_mulatta
Pan troglodytes
Bos taurus
Bubalus bubalis
Boselaphus_tragocamelus
Sus_scrofa
Equus_caballus
Felis_catus
Oryctolagus_cuniculus
Gallus_gallus
Rattus_norvegicus
Mus_musculus
Oncorhynchus_mykiss
Carassius_auratus
Danio_rerio
lctalurus_punctatus
Takifugu rubripes

Homo sapiens Macaca mulatta Pan troglodytes Bos_taurus Bubalus_bubalis Boselaphus_tragocamelus Sus_scrofa Equus_caballus Felis catus Oryctolagus cuniculus Gallus gallus Rattus norvegicus Mus musculus Oncorhynchus_mykiss Carassius_auratus Danio_rerio Ictalurus_punctatus Takifugu_rubripes

Homo sapiens
Macaca_mulatta
Pan_troglodytes
Bos_taurus
Boselaphus_tragocamelus
Bubalus_bubalis
Sus_scrofa
Equus_caballus
Felis_catus
Oryctolagus_cuniculus
Gallus_gallus
Rattus_norvegicus
Mus_musculus
Oncorhynchus_mykiss
Carassius_auratus
Danio_rerio
lctalurus_punctatus
Takifugu ruhripes

53	,	ŀ	6
ITVL-	-NL	HNQL	RRL
ITVL-	-NL	HNQL	RRL
I TVL -	-NL	HNQL	RRL
I TVL -	-NL	HNQL	.RRL
I TVL -	-NL	HNQL	.RRL
ITVL -	-NL	HNQL	.RRL
ITVL-	-NL	HNQL	.RRL
ITVL-	-NL	HNQF	RRL
ITVL-	-NL	HNQL	.RRL
I TVL -	-NL	HNQI	KRL
I TGL -	-DI	HNQL	.KKL
ITVL-	-NL	HNQL	RGL
ITVL-	-NL	HNQL	RRL
INTLC	ISM	HGEN	IRSM
ITTL-	- DV\$	HNRL	.KNL
ITTL-	- DV\$	HNRL	.KTL

F351

43 359 LPKIDDFS QMLKCLEH LPKIDDFS QMLKCLEH LPKIDDFS QMLKCLEY HPNIDDFS QMLKCLEY HPNIDDFS QMLKCLEH HPNIDDFS QMLKCLEH HPNIDDFS QMLKCLEH HPNIDDFS QMLKCLEH HPNIDDFS QMLKCLEH HPNIDDFS QMLKCLEH HPTH-LDWHFISSLKK LPIIEDFS QMLKCLEY LPVIDDFS QMLKCLEY LPVIDFS QMLKYLEY LPVIDFS QMLYLEY LP

L742

ISVL -LTSL -

343

T59

	ŧ	67
-NL	THN	QLRRLP
-NL	THN	QLRRLP
-NL	THN	QLRRLP
- NL	THN	QLRRLP
-NL	THN	QFRRLP
-NL	THN	QLRRLP
-NL	THN	QIKRLP
- D I	SHN(QLKKLV
-NL	THN	QLRGLP
-NL	THN	QLRRLP
ISM	THG	ENRSMS
- DV	ыни	RLKNLS
- DV	БНИ	RLKTLS
- DV	ыни	RLVELK
- DV	SHN	RLRGIP

359

Homo_sapiens
Macaca_mulatta
Pan troglodytes
Bos_taurus
Bubalus_bubalis
Boselaphus_tragocamelus
Sus_scrofa
Equus_caballus
Felis_catus
Oryctolagus cuniculus
Gallus gallus
Rattus_norvegicus
Mus musculus
Oncorhynchus_mykiss
Carassius auratus
Danio_rerio
Ictalurus punctatus
Takifugu_rubripes

Journal of Translational Autoimmunity 1 (2019) 100005

G	G221				
213	ţ	229			
SPGCFHAI	RLFG	LFLN			
SPGCFHAI	GRLLG	LFLN			
SPGCFHAI	GRLFG	LFLN			
SPGCFHTL	GELSG	LSLN			
SPGCFHAI	GKLSG	LSLN			
SPGCFHAI	GKLSG	LSLN			
SPGCFHAI	GKLFG	LSLN			
SPGCFQAI	GKLFG	LSLN			
SPGCFHAI	GKLFG	LSLN			
SPGCFHAI	GQLFG	LFLN			
HTGCLHAI	GNLFG	LILN			
SPGCFHAI	GKLFV	LLLN			
SPGCFQTI	GKLFA	LLLN			
EPDCLKP I	ASIYE	LVMN			
ENGCF QA I	SRLSD	LVLD			
ENGCFKAI	DTLSD	LVLD			
DRGCFKP I	AGLOD	LVLD			
EPGCLKP I	SGLST	LILD			

Homo_sapiens Macaca_mulatta Pan_troglodytes Bos taurus Bubalus bubalis Boselaphus_tragocamelus Sus scrofa Equus_caballus Felis_catus Oryctolagus_cuniculus Gallus_gallus Rattus norvegicus Mus musculus Oncorhynchus mykiss Carassius_auratus Danio_rerio Ictalurus_punctatus Takifugu_rubripes

L	.41	2

404	+ 420
LAHSPLH - I	
LAHSPLH - I	LNLTKNKIS
LAHSPLH - I	LNLTKNKIS
LAGCPLL-L	LNLTKNKIS
LAGSPLL-L	
LAGSPLL-L	
LADSPLL - I	
LAHSPLL - T	
LAQSPLV-T	
LAHSPLL - I	
LANSSLQ-V	LNLTKTRIS
LTHSPLL - T	NLTKNHIS
LAHSPLL-T	NLTKNHIS
LVK LQ - Y	
LQESPLLET	LNL TAMG I N
LQESPLLQT	NLTGMGIN
LNGSSLLQM	
LAASPLR-K	NLTGAAVV

	734	750	
	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Homo_sapiens
	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Macaca_mulatta
	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Pan_troglodytes
	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Bos_taurus
JS	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Bubalus_bubalis
	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Boselaphus_tragocamelus
	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Sus_scrofa
	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Equus_caballus
	WNVSVHRV	G-FKEI	Felis_catus
	WNVSVHRI	G-FKEI	Oryctolagus_cuniculus
	WNISINRI	G-FKEL	Gallus_gallus
	WNVSVHRI	G-FKEI	Rattus_norvegicus
	WNVSVHRI	G-FKEI	Mus_musculus
	WNVLINRT	G-LSDA	Oncorhynchus_mykiss
	WNIIVNRM	GSPKDE	Carassius_auratus
	WN I MVNRM	GSLKDA	Danio_rerio
	WNILVNRT	D- INDSRY	lctalurus_punctatus
	WNIVVNRT	G-FSDA	Takifugu rubripes

R867 859 875 KLNHALCLRRGMFKSHC KLNHALCLRRGMFKSHC KLNHALCLRRGMFKSHC KLNHALCLRRGMFKSHC KLNHALCLRRGMFKSHC KLNHALCLRRGMFKSHC KLNHALCLRRGMFKSHC KLNHALCLRRGMFKSHC KLNHALCLARGMFKSRC KLNHALCLARGMFKSHC KLNHALCLARGMFKSRC KLNHALCLARGMFRSCC KLNHALCLARGMFKSHC NLNRSLYLRRGMLKPRC NLNRSLHLRRGMLKPKC RLTQSLMLRKGMLKHRC KLSRTLFLRRGMLRSCC

Fig. 2. Sequence alignment of TLR3 from multiple species and conservation of the identified variants. Alignment of the TLR3 region in humans and the corresponding regions in the other 17 species studied, containing the six identified variants. The conserved amino acids where the variants are located are shaded in purple.



Fig. 3. Schematic presentation of the TLR3 protein with functional domains. Model of the TLR3 protein with the location of each identified variant, and the different domains (leader sequence (L), 24 leucine-rich repeats (LRRs), the transmembrane domain (TM), linker region (LR) and Toll/interleukine-1 receptor (TIR) domain).



Fig. 4. Activity and expression of the WT and mutated TLR3 alleles. (A) Activity levels were determined by TLR3-dependent reporter expression induced by NF-kB in TLR3-deficient Hek-Dual Null cells transfected with various TLR3 proteins (WT TLR3, T59N, G221R, F351I, L412F, L742F, and R867Q mutant TLR3), followed by stimulation with 100 µg/ml poly(I:C). Activity levels are presented as percentages relative to the activity of the WT protein. An ordinary one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test was used to test for statistical differences between WT and mutated TLR3 proteins (**P < 0.01). (B) Activities of the WT alone and combined with the TLR3 mutated proteins, transfected in equal amounts. (C) Activity of the WT and co-transfected TLR3 mutants mimicking the genotype of the four patients carrying two different variants (***P < 0.01). (D) A representative Western blot showing the expression of WT and TLR3 mutants in Hek-Dual Null cells. The cells were transfected with plasmids encoding the WT or the mutated TLR3 proteins listed above the gel image.

the *TLR3* variants, we performed a Western blot using *Anti*-DDK (FLAG) as the primary antibody (Fig. 4D). The results from three independent experiments demonstrated that the expression levels of all variants (T59N, G221R, F3511, L412F, L742F and R867Q) were comparable with the WT. Thus, the decrease in activity was most likely not an effect of altered expression levels.

3.7. Impaired responses to dsRNA in PBMCs from patients with TLR3 variants

For P1–P3, we were able to collect live PBMCs for functional studies. For stimulation experiments with PBMCs, we chose to use the alternative TLR3 ligand poly(A:U) over poly(I:C). There are several additional receptors for dsRNA, in particular in PBMCs, and poly(A:U) has been shown to be more exclusive to TLR3 than poly(I:C) [54]. PBMCs from P1, P2 and P3, as well as three healthy blood donors with only WT *TLR3* alleles, were stimulated with

increasing amounts of poly(A:U). The secretions of different IFNs into the cell culture supernatant were then measured using ELISA. For IFN β and IFN γ the production was either undetectable or no differences were observed between patients and controls (results not shown). The secreted levels of IL28A/IFN λ 2 were also relatively low (1–10 pg/ml), but a dose dependent response was observed for the controls but not the patients (Fig. 5). For the highest dose of poly(A:U), 100 µg/ml, the difference between patients and controls was significant (P < 0.01 for fold change and P < 0.05 for absolute levels). Thus, the PBMCs from AAD patients with certain combinations of deleterious *TLR3* variants are functionally impaired in response to dsRNA.

3.8. Structural analysis of the F3511 TLR3 variant

Since the structure of the ligand-binding ectodomain of TLR3 has been solved by x-ray crystallography, we were able to analyze the structural implications of the rare and predicted deleterious variant,



Journal of Translational Autoimmunity 1 (2019) 100005





Controls

Fig. 6. Consequences of the F3511 variant on TLR3 ectodomain protein structure. (A) Overview of the TLR3 ectodomain with the phenylalanine spine in purple (F351 in red). The importance of consecutive aromatic amino acids, in particular phenylalanine, in this regard is probably due to the favorable action of π -electrons on top and below the aromatic rings. This excess of electrons gives the face of the ring a small net negative charge, while the hydrogen atoms on the edge of the ring gets a correspondingly small positive charge. The aromatic rings of the phenylalanines consecutive therefore interact with each other with their rings in parallel but slightly offset so that the edge of each ring is interacting with the face of the next. (B) Close-up view of F351 (in red) and two of its neighbouring phenylalanines. (C) Modelling of the F351I variant (in yellow), indicating both a disruption of the phenylalanine spine, but probably also steric hindrance in the interior of the TLR3 ectodomain.

F3511. The F351 residue is part of a phenylalanine spine that helps stabilize the interior of the convex face of the horseshoe-shaped tertiary structure of the TLR3 ectodomain (Fig. 6A, B). This particular structural feature are conserved in many of the TLR proteins, but also in other proteins containing leucine rich repeat (LRR) domains [55, 56]. Changing the phenylalanine at residue 351 to an isoleucine will not only disrupt the spine of consecutive phenylalanines, but perhaps also destabilize the convex shape of the TLR3 ectodomain by steric effects (Fig. 6C).

3.9. Additional rare variants in the TLR3-IFN signaling pathway in AAD patients

As mutations in a number of genes in the TLR3-IFN pathway have been described to result in impaired TLR3 signaling [57], we reexamined our WES data to search for rare variants in these genes in AAD patients. Specifically, we searched for variants in the genes IKBKE, IKBKG, IRF3, TBK1, TICAM1, TRAF3 and UNC93B, as none of these were among our original candidate list of 194 genes. As with TLR3, we focused on variants with frequencies less than 1% in gnomAD, 1000GP and our in house exome database, that received a CADD score >20. Both novel and previously described variants were discovered in IRF3, IKBKE and TICAM1 (Table 3). Intriguingly, one AAD patient carried the previously described c.854G > A (p.Arg285Gln) mutation in IRF3, from here on referred to as R285O. This autosomal dominant mutation, leading to haploinsufficiency, has previously been reported in an adolescent with HSE [58]. Furthermore, two AAD patients had a variant in TICAM1, whereby one of the variants (c.479C > T (p.Ser160Phe)) also has been described in an adult patient with HSE [50, 591.

4. Discussion

In the present study, we have identified and characterized several rare variants in TLR3 and associated members of the TLR3-IFN signaling pathway in patients with AAD. The discovery of mutations in these genes indicates that inborn errors of immunity could influence the genetic susceptibility to develop AAD.

Our exome sequencing approach revealed five rare missense variants in TLR3 in five different AAD patients. All variants were absent in healthy Norwegian controls, whereas their allele frequencies in a cohort of Norwegian cancer patients were ranging from 0 to 0.0019. Similar frequencies were found for the TLR3 variants in the gnomAD database, ranging from 0 to 0.0017. To study if the identified variants displayed an impaired response against viral dsRNA in general, we designed and established a cell-based reporter assay using poly(I:C) as the stimulating factor. Of the five rare missense variants discovered, three were found to have significantly impaired function; F351I, an extremely rare variant carried by two of our patients, L742F, which has, together with F351I,

Table 3

verview of rare	variants of th	e TLR3-IFN sign	aling cascade (other that	n TLR3) foun	d in AAD pati€	ents.							
Variant annotation	_				Frequencies				In silico predi	ction tools			
Gene	Variant	Protein change	Chromosomal location GRCh37 (hg19)	Exon number	AAD frequency	In-house database frequency	NCGC ^a frequency	GnomAD frequency	SIFT	PolyPhen2	Mutation taster	PROVEAN	CADD ^b
IRF3	c.613G >	p.Glu205Lys	NC_000019.9	6	0.0038 (1/	0	0	0.000018	Tolerated	Possibly	Disease	Neutral	24.6
IRF3	A c.854G >	p.Arg285Gln	8.201023/4C < 1 NC 000019.9	9	204) 0.0038 (1/	0	0.000063	0.000039	Deleterious	Probably	Causing Polymorphism	Deleterious	26.8
NM_001571.5	A	•	g.50165333C > T		264)					damaging	•		
IKBKE	c.275G >	p.Gly92Arg	NC_00001.10	5	0.0038 (1/	0	0	0	Deleterious	Probably	Disease	Deleterious	28.9
NM_014002.3	V		g.206648254G > A		264)					damaging	causing		
IKBKE	c.560G >	p.Arg187Gln	NC_000001.10	7	0.0038 (1/	0	0.0019	0.0013	Deleterious	Benign	Disease	Deleterious	24.4
NM_014002.3	A		g.206650040G > A		264)						causing		
IKBKE	c.1393C	p.Leu465Phe	NC_000001.10	13	0.0038 (1/	0.0033	0.00063	0.00050	Tolerated	Possibly	Disease	Neutral	22.0
NM_014002.3	> T		g.206653842C > T		264)					damaging	causing		
TICAM1	c.479C >	p.Ser160Phe	NC_000019.9	2	0.0076 (2/	0.0016	0.0038	0.0022	Deleterious	Probably	Polymorphism	Deleterious	23.1
NM_182919.3	Т		g.4817911G > A		264)					damaging			
TICAM1	c.1537C	p.Leu513Met	NC_000019.9	2	0.0038 (1/	0	0	0	Deleterious	Probably	Disease	Neutral	23.3
	< A		g.4816853G > T		264)					damaging	causing		
^a NCGC = Norw	egian Cancer	r Genomics Cons	sortium exome database,	http://invitr	o.hpc.uio.no:8	082/vcf-miner/.							

CADD (Combined Annotation Dependent Depletion) scores above 20 indicate that a variant is amongst the top 1% of deleterious variants in the human genome

Journal of Translational Autoimmunity 1 (2019) 100005

never been functionally characterized before, and R867Q, previously described to be causative (when homozygous) of HSE [31]. The reduced activity was probably not due to low levels of translated protein, as Western blot analyses revealed approximately the same levels of variant proteins as the WT. Instead, we believe that the variants displaying impaired function are disrupting key functional domains of the TLR3 protein. Using the available crystal structures of the TLR3 ectodomain, we were able to model the structural consequence of the F351I variant. It appears that F351 is a crucial part of the phenylalanine spine of the ectodomain, which serves to stabilize the interior of the convex side of the domain. Switching F351 into a non-aromatic amino residue, such as isoleucine, could therefore be detrimental to the stability of the ectodomain. Unfortunately, no structural analysis could be made of L742F and R867O, as these residues are located in domains of TLR3 that have not yet been structurally solved. It is possible that the exchange of the leucine at position 742 with a phenylalanine may affect the protein's stability, solubility, oligomeric state and proteolytic resistance [60]. Variants in this region have been reported as possibly pathogenic before, in particular the G743D variant in cis with the R811I variant was shown to result in autosomal dominant TLR3 deficiency by haploinsufficiency in a HSE patient [31]. The exchange of an arginine to an asparagine at position 867 makes the mutant protein partially dysfunctional [31]. The previous reporting of R867Q as a hypomorphic allele is consistent with our functional characterization of the variant.

Interestingly, four of the five patients carrying rare TLR3 variants were compound heterozygous for an additional TLR3 variant, except for the homozygous state of L412F in P3. For patients P2-P4, these genotypes resulted in an impaired signaling activity in our in vitro reporter assay. For three of the patients the additional allele was the common L412F variant which has been associated with a wide range of aberrant immune responses, including an APS-1-like phenotype characterized by cutaneous candidiasis, increased susceptibility to cytomegalovirus infections and autoimmunity, including AAD and hypothyroidism [61]. However, the L412F variant was not found to be associated with AAD in a Polish cohort of 168 AAD patients [62]. In our functional characterization of the TLR3 variants, we could not detect any functional defect of L412F compared to the WT, which is in agreement with some previous reports [63], but in contrast to others [64,65]. On the other hand, L412F did not rescue the TLR3 activity when co-expressed with the hypomorphic alleles F351I, L742F and L412F + R867Q. Finally, we demonstrated that PBMCs from P1-P3 had impaired responses to dsRNA, as revealed by a significant loss in production of IL28A/IFN\2.

Although TLR3 deficiency and other inborn errors of the TLR3-IFN signaling pathway have been shown to confer defects in innate immunity, their ascribed clinical phenotypes appear surprisingly narrow. Apart from infections of the CNS by HSV-1, HSV-2 and probably varicella zoster virus (VZV), potentially leading to encephalitis, TLR3 and associated partners appear functionally redundant for immunity against most other viruses [63,66]. This may be due to the extensive activation of cytosolic RNA sensors, including MDA5 (encoded by the gene IFIH1) and RIG-I [67], when TLR3 is deficient. At the same time, a wide range of immunopathologies and immunological traits have been associated with common polymorphisms in TLR3 [68], strongly suggesting that genetic variations in TLR3 induce immunological phenotypes that eventually lead to immune-mediated diseases.

Interestingly, in addition to variants in TLR3, we also identified AAD patients carrying previously described variants in genes encoding other proteins in the TLR3-IFN signaling pathway: The autosomal dominant variant R285Q in IRF3 [58], and several other, both rare and novel, missense variants in IRF3, TICAM1 and IKBKE.

Identifying rare genetic variants that drive the onset of a disease is challenging, and a central question here would be if the identified variants in the TLR3-IFN signaling pathway play any etiological roles in AAD. Importantly, approaches typically used for testing associations of genetic variants with phenotype based on simple regression models are

underpowered for rare variants [69]. Although numerous studies have demonstrated the ability of WES to identify low frequency variants associated with autoimmune disease, it is difficult to conclude any association when only a few individuals carry the variants. In addition, studying the genetic basis of complex diseases such as AAD is challenging because the genotype of a patient does not necessarily clearly correlate with the phenotype; phenocopies may occur, meaning that environmental factors could induce an AAD phenotype in a patient without known disease susceptible variants that matches the phenotype of a patient that does carry such variants. This may explain why none of our patients carrying TLR3 variants, exhibit a unique phenotype compared to the other 127 AAD patients. Hence, several different variants could induce the same phenotype, and multiple of these may be necessary to produce it [8]. On the other hand, even though the genotype does not correlate with the phenotype, we could speculate that it may predict the etiology of the disease. In that case, patients with damaging variants in innate immune genes may share the same triggers, such as viral infections, initiating or perpetuating the immunological attack of adrenal tissue [70].

Another caveat in our study is the presence of the *TLR3* variants in unaffected carriers and family members, indicating incomplete penetrance, which is a common phenomenon for mutations associated with AAD [8]. The impact of rare *TLR3* variants may therefore seem relative subtle when standing alone, but could confer an increased risk of developing AAD when present together with HLA risk alleles. In this regard, it should be noted that the patients (P1 and P3) sharing *TLR3* genotypes with healthy siblings, both carried the HLA class II haplotypes giving the highest risk to develop AAD. However, incomplete penetrance seems to characterize the majority of mutations in the TLR3 pathway causing HSE, especially for the autosomal dominant mutations involving haploinsufficiency [57,58].

Taken together, our findings support that decreased or aberrant antiviral defense is associated with risk for AAD. This observation is consistent with previous research showing that patients with primary adrenal insufficiency have higher intake of antimicrobial agents, especially antifungal and antiviral drugs, and increased hospital admission as a result of infection compared to controls [17]. Moreover, the adrenal cortex has previously been shown to be permissive to a variety of viral, fungal and bacterial agents [71-75]. Decreased resistance or inappropriate responses to viruses can therefore lead to a persistent viral infection in the adrenal glands, resulting in destruction of adrenocortical cells, which may initiate an autoimmune process [1]. AAD may therefore only develop if there is an adrenal infection that effectively triggers the condition. The specific pathogens involved in this process, however, are yet to be discovered. Interestingly, experimental infections with HSV-1 in mice have shown that the adrenal cortex is among the first locations colonized by the virus [74]. Given the previous shown association between TLR3 mutations and HSE, we tested for an increased susceptibility to HSV-1 infections in AAD affected individuals. However, no significant difference in IgM and IgG antibodies against HSV-1 between patients and healthy controls was detected (data not shown)

In conclusion, this study provides the first identification of several rare and damaging variants in the TLR3-IFN pathway in patients with AAD and highlights the significance of studying the interplay between genes and viral infections in immune mediated diseases.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by grants from Novo Nordisk Foundation (Authors ESH and EB, grant number, NNF14OC0011005) and the Research Council of Norway (author BEO, grant number 250030; authors SA and ESH, grant number 262677). We thank the patients and their family members for participating in our research, and Elisabeth Halvorsen, Elin Theodorsen and Hajirah Muneer for great technical assistance.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtauto.2019.100005.

References

- E. Bratland, E.S. Husebye, Cellular immunity and immunopathology in autoimmune Addison's disease, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 336 (1–2) (2011) 180–190.
- [2] A. Dawoodji, et al., High frequency of cytolytic 21-hydroxylase-specific CD8+T cells in autoimmune Addison's disease patients, J. Immunol. 193 (5) (2014) 2118-2126.
- [3] E. Bratland, et al., T cell responses to steroid cytochrome P450 21-hydroxylase in patients with autoimmune primary adrenal insufficiency, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94 (12) (2009) 5117–5124.
- [4] A.S.B. Wolff, et al., CTLA-4 as a genetic determinant in autoimmune Addison's disease, Genes Immun. 16 (6) (2015) 430.
- [5] M.M. Erichsen, et al., Clinical, immunological, and genetic features of autoimmune primary adrenal insufficiency: observations from a Norwegian Registry, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94 (12) (2009) 4882–4890.
- [6] D. Eriksson, et al., Common genetic variation in the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) locus is associated with autoimmune Addison's disease in Sweden, Sci. Rep. 8 (1) (2018) 8395.
- [7] E.S. Husebye, M.S. Anderson, O. Kämpe, Autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes, N. Engl. J. Med. 378 (12) (2018) 1132–1141.
- [8] A.L. Mitchell, S.H. Pearce, Autoimmune Addison disease: pathophysiology and genetic complexity, Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 8 (5) (2012) 306.
- [9] J. Skov, et al., Heritability of Addison's disease and prevalence of associated autoimmunity in a cohort of 112,100 Swedish twins, Endocrine 58 (3) (2017) 521–527.
- [10] E.T. Cirulli, D.B. Goldstein, Uncovering the roles of rare variants in common disease through whole-genome sequencing, Nat. Rev. Genet. 11 (6) (2010) 415.
- [11] T.S. Assmann, et al., Polymorphisms in the TLR3 gene are associated with risk for type 1 diabetes mellitus, Eur. J. Endocrinol. 170 (4) (2014) 519–527.
- [12] S.R. Christensen, et al., Toll-like receptor 7 and TLR9 dictate autoantibody specificity and have opposing inflammatory and regulatory roles in a murine model of lupus, Immunity 25 (3) (2006) 417–428.
- [13] D.L. Eizirik, M.L. Colli, F. Ortis, The role of inflammation in insulitis and β-cell loss in type 1 diabetes, Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 5 (4) (2009) 219–226.
- [14] P. Pisitkun, et al., Autoreactive B cell responses to RNA-related antigens due to TLR7 gene duplication, Science 312 (5780) (2006) 1669–1672.
- [15] K. Edvardsen, et al., Peripheral blood cells from patients with autoimmune Addison's disease poorly respond to Interferons in vitro, despite elevated serum levels of interferon-inducible Chemokines, J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 35 (10) (2015) 759–770.
- [16] I. Bancos, et al., Primary adrenal insufficiency is associated with impaired natural killer cell function: a potential link to increased mortality, Eur. J. Endocrinol. 176 (4) (2017) 471–480.
- [17] L.C. Smans, et al., Increased use of antimicrobial agents and hospital admission for infections in patients with primary adrenal insufficiency: a cohort study, Eur. J. Endocrinol. 168 (4) (2013) 609–614.
- [18] J. Sun, et al., Structural and functional analyses of the human toll-like receptor 3 ROLE OF GLYCOSYLATION, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (16) (2006) 11144–11151.
- [19] A. Iwasaki, R. Medzhitov, Control of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system, Nat. Immunol. 16 (4) (2015) 343.
- [20] É. Bratland, A. Hellesen, E.S. Husebye, Induction of CXCL10 chemokine in adrenocortical cells by stimulation through toll-like receptor 3, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 365 (1) (2013) 75–83.
- [21] A.M. Hosseini, et al., Toll-like receptors in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases, Adv. Pharmaceut. Bull. 5 (Suppl 1) (2015) 605.
- [22] A. Nahum, et al., The biological significance of TLR3 variant, L412F, in conferring susceptibility to cutaneous candidiasis, CMV and autoimmunity, Autoimmun. Rev. 11 (5) (2012) 341–347.
- [23] M. Studzińska, et al., Association of TLR3 L412F polymorphism with cytomegalovirus infection in children, PLoS One 12 (1) (2017) e0169420.
- [24] E. Kindberg, et al., A functional Toll-like receptor 3 gene (TLR3) may be a risk factor for tick-borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) infection, J. Infect. Dis. 203 (4) (2011) 523–528.
- [25] M.R. Al-Anazi, et al., Association of toll-like receptor 3 single-nucleotide polymorphisms and hepatitis C virus infection, J. Immunol. Res. (2017) 2017.
- [26] H. He, et al., Association of Toll-like receptor 3 gene polymorphism with the severity of enterovirus 71 infection in Chinese children, Arch. Virol. 162 (6) (2017) 1717–1723.
- [27] Q. Zhang, et al., Polymorphisms in Toll-like receptor 3 are associated with asthmarelated phenotypes in the Chinese Han patients, Int. J. Immunogenet. 43 (6) (2016) 383–390.
- [28] L. Alexopoulou, et al., Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-κB by Toll-like receptor 3, Nature 413 (6857) (2001) 732–738.
- [29] A.L. Blasius, B. Beutler, Intracellular toll-like receptors, Immunity 32 (3) (2010) 305–315.
- [30] J.K. Bell, et al., The dsRNA binding site of human Toll-like receptor 3, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103 (23) (2006) 8792–8797.
- [31] H.K. Lim, et al., TLR3 deficiency in herpes simplex encephalitis. High allelic heterogeneity and recurrence risk, Neurology 83 (21) (2014) 1888–1897.

- [32] S.R. Bornstein, et al., Diagnosis and treatment of primary adrenal insufficiency: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 101 (2) (2016) 364–389.
- [33] O. Myklebost, Norwegian Cancer Genomics Consortium: a platform for research on personalized cancer medicine in a public health system, Drug Discov. Today 20 (12) (2015) 1419.
- [34] H. Li, R. Durbin, Fast and accurate long-read alignment with Burrows–Wheeler transform, Bioinformatics 26 (5) (2010) 589–595.
- [35] A. McKenna, et al., The Genome Analysis Toolkit: a MapReduce framework for analyzing next-generation DNA sequencing data, Genome Res. 20 (9) (2010) 1297–1303.
- [36] M.A. DePristo, et al., A framework for variation discovery and genotyping using next-generation DNA sequencing data, Nat. Genet. 43 (5) (2011) 491.
- [37] K. Wang, M. Li, H. Hakonarson, ANNOVAR: functional annotation of genetic variants from high-throughput sequencing data, Nucleic Acids Res. 38 (16) (2010) e164-e164.
- [38] M.D. Vigeland, K.S. Gjøtterud, K.K. Selmer, FILTUS: a desktop GUI for fast and efficient detection of disease-causing variants, including a novel autozygosity detector, Bioinformatics 32 (10) (2016) 1592-1594.
- [39] S. Chojnacki, et al., Programmatic access to bioinformatics tools from EMBL-EBI update: 2017, Nucleic Acids Res. 45 (W1) (2017) W550–W553.
- [40] P. Kumar, S. Henikoff, P.C. Ng, Predicting the effects of coding non-synonymous variants on protein function using the SIFT algorithm, Nat. Protoc. 4(7) (2009) 1073. [41] I. Addhubei, D.M. Jordan, S.R. Sunyaev, Predicting functional effect of human
- [41] I. AUZHUDE, D.M. JORAH, S.K. Sunyaev, Predicting functional effect of numari missense mutations using PolyPhen-2, Curr. Protoc. Human Genet. 76 (1) (2013) 7.20.1–7.20.41.
- [42] J.M. Schwarz, et al., MutationTaster2: mutation prediction for the deep-sequencing age, Nat. Methods 11 (4) (2014) 361.
- [43] Y. Choi, et al., Predicting the functional effect of amino acid substitutions and indels, PLoS One 7 (10) (2012) e46688.
- [44] M. Kircher, et al., A general framework for estimating the relative pathogenicity of human genetic variants, Nat. Genet. 46 (3) (2014) 310.
- [45] W. DeLano, The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System, Version 1.5. 0.4, Schrödinger, LLC, 2002.
- [46] J.K. Bell, et al., The molecular structure of the Toll-like receptor 3 ligand-binding domain, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 102 (31) (2005) 10976–10980.
 [47] L. Liu, et al., Structural basis of toll-like receptor 3 signaling with double-stranded
- [47] L. Liu, et al., Structural basis of toll-like receptor 3 signaling with double-stranded RNA, Science 320 (5874) (2008) 379–381.
- [48] M. Lek, et al., Analysis of protein-coding genetic variation in 60,706 humans, Nature 536 (2016) 285.
- [49] U.K. Consortium, The UK10K project identifies rare variants in health and disease, Nature 526 (7571) (2015) 82.
 [50] L.L. Andersen, et al., Frequently used bioinformatics tools overestimate the
- [50] L.L. Andersen, et al., Frequently used bioinformatics tools overestimate the damaging effect of allelic variants, Genes Immun. (2017) 1.
- [51] K. Fukuda, et al., Modulation of double-stranded RNA recognition by the N-terminal histidine-rich region of the human toll-like receptor 3, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (33) (2008) 22787–22794.
- [52] C. Ranjith-Kumar, et al., Biochemical and functional analyses of the human Toll-like receptor 3 ectodomain, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (10) (2007) 7668–7678.
- [53] Y. Wang, et al., Dimerization of Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) is required for ligand binding, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (47) (2010) 36836–36841.
- [54] I. Perrot, et al., TLR3 and Rig-like receptor on myeloid dendritic cells and Rig-like receptor on human NK cells are both mandatory for production of IFN-γ in response to double-stranded RNA, J. Immunol. (2010) 1000532.

Journal of Translational Autoimmunity 1 (2019) 100005

- [55] A. Yamagata, et al., Structural insights into modulation and selectivity of transsynaptic neurexin–LRRTM interaction, Nat. Commun. 9 (1) (2018) 3964.
- [56] I. Botos, D.M. Segal, D.R. Davies, The structural biology of Toll-like receptors, Structure 19 (4) (2011) 447–459.
- [57] M.B. Mielcarska, M. Bossowska-Nowicka, F.N. Toka, Functional failure of TLR3 and its signaling components contribute to herpes simplex encephalitis, J. Neuroimmunol. 316 (2018) 65–73.
- [58] L.L. Andersen, et al., Functional IRF3 deficiency in a patient with herpes simplex encephalitis, J. Exp. Med. 212 (9) (2015) 1371–1379.
- [59] N. Mørk, et al., Mutations in the TLR3 signaling pathway and beyond in adult patients with herpes simplex encephalitis, Genes Immun. 16 (8) (2015) 552.
- [60] A.D. Nagi, L. Regan, An inverse correlation between loop length and stability in a four-helix-bundle protein, Fold. Des. 2 (1) (1997) 67–75.
- [61] A. Nahum, et al., The L412F variant of Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) is associated with cutaneous candidiasis, increased susceptibility to cytomegalovirus, and autoimmunity. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 127 (2) (2011) 528–531.
- [62] M. Fichna, et al., Polymorphisms of the toll-like receptor-3 gene in autoimmune adrenal failure and type 1 diabetes in polish patients, Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. 64 (1) (2016) 83–87.
- [63] Y. Guo, et al., Herpes simplex virus encephalitis in a patient with complete TLR3 deficiency: TLR3 is otherwise redundant in protective immunity, J. Exp. Med. 208 (10) (2011) 2083-2098.
- [64] C. Ranjith-Kumar, et al., Effects of single nucleotide polymorphisms on Toll-like receptor 3 activity and expression in cultured cells, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (24) (2007) 17696–17705.
- [65] C. Gorbea, et al., A role for Toll-like receptor 3 variants in host susceptibility to enteroviral myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (30) (2010) 23208–23223.
- [66] M. Sironi, et al., TLR3 mutations in adult patients with herpes simplex virus and varicella-zoster virus encephalitis, J. Infect. Dis. 215 (9) (2017) 1430–1434.
- [67] K.T. Chow, M. Gale Jr., Y.-M. Loo, RIG-I and other RNA sensors in antiviral immunity, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 36 (2018) 667–694.
- [68] A. Trejo-de la O, P. Hernandez-Sancen, C. Maldonado-Bernal, Relevance of singlenucleotide polymorphisms in human TLR genes to infectious and inflammatory diseases and cancer, Genes Immun. 15 (4) (2014).
- [69] L. Moutsianas, et al., The power of gene-based rare variant methods to detect disease-associated variation and test hypotheses about complex disease, PLoS Genet. 11 (4) (2015) e1005165.
- [70] A. Hellesen, E. Bratland, The potential role for infections in the pathogenesis of autoimmune Addison's disease, Clin. Exp. Immunol. 195 (1) (2019) 52–63.
- [71] M. Trevisan, et al., Human cytomegalovirus productively infects adrenocortical cells and induces an early cortisol response, J. Cell. Physiol. 221 (3) (2009) 629–641.
- [72] F. Kelestimur, The endocrinology of adrenal tuberculosis: the effects of tuberculosis on the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis and adrencocrtical function, J. Endocrinol. Investig. 27 (4) (2004) 380-386.
- [73] D.S. McLeod, et al., Histoplasmosis in Australia: report of 16 cases and literature review, Medicine 90 (1) (2011) 61–68.
 [74] T. Hill, D. Virrell, W. Blyth, Infection of the adrenal gland as a route to the central
- [74] T. Hill, D. Yirrell, W. Blyth, Infection of the adrenal gland as a route to the central nervous system after viraemia with herpes simplex virus in the mouse, J. Gen. Virol. 67 (2) (1986) 309–320.
- [75] M. Nachtigal, J. Caulfield, Early and late pathologic changes in the adrenal glands of mice after infection with herpes simplex virus type 1, Am. J. Pathol. 115 (2) (1984) 175.

ΙΙ





Coexistence of Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia and Autoimmune Addison's Disease

Sigrid Aslaksen^{1,2*}, Paal Methlie^{1,2,3}, Magnus D. Vigeland^{4,5}, Dag E. Jøssang⁶, Anette B. Wolff^{1,2}, Ying Sheng⁵, Bergithe E. Oftedal^{1,2}, Beate Skinningsrud⁵, Dag E. Undlien^{4,5}, Kaja K. Selmer^{7,8}, Eystein S. Husebye^{1,2,3} and Eirik Bratland^{1,2}

¹ Department of Clinical Science, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway, ² K.G. Jebsen Center for Autoimmune Diseases, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway, ³ Department of Medicine, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway, ⁴ Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway, ⁵ Department of Medical Genetics, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway, ^e Department of Radiology, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway, ⁷ Division of Clinical Neuroscience, Department of Research and Development, Oslo University Hospital, University of Oslo, Norway, ⁸ National Centre for Epilepsy, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Background: Underlying causes of adrenal insufficiency include congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) and autoimmune adrenocortical destruction leading to autoimmune Addison's disease (AAD). Here, we report a patient with a homozygous stop-gain mutation in 3 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (3 β HSD2), in addition to impaired steroidogenesis due to AAD.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandro Loche, Ospedale Microcitemico, Italy

Reviewed by:

Alberto Falorni, University of Perugia, Italy Luigi R. Garibaldi, University of Pittsburgh, United States

> *Correspondence: Sigrid Aslaksen sigrid.aslaksen@uib.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 10 July 2019 Accepted: 06 September 2019 Published: 27 September 2019

Citation:

Aslaksen S, Methlie P, Vigeland MD, Jassang DE, Wolff AB, Sheng Y, Oftedal BE, Skinningsrud B, Undlien DE, Selmer KK, Husebye ES and Bratland E (2019) Coexistence of Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia and Autoimmune Addison's Disease. Front. Endocrinol. 10:648. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00648 **Case Report:** Whole exome sequencing revealed an extremely rare homozygous nonsense mutation in exon 2 of the *HSD3B2* gene, leading to a premature stop codon (NM_000198.3: c.15C>A, p.Cys5Ter) in a patient with AAD and premature ovarian insufficiency. Scrutiny of old medical records revealed that the patient was initially diagnosed with CAH with hyperandrogenism and severe salt-wasting shortly after birth. However, the current steroid profile show complete adrenal insufficiency including low production of pregnenolone, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and DHEA sulfate (DHEA-S), without signs of overtreatment with steroids.

Conclusion: To the best of our knowledge, this is the first description of autoimmune adrenalitis in a patient with 3β HSD2 deficiency and suggests a possible association between AAD and inborn errors of the steroidogenesis.

Keywords: adrenal insufficiency, congenital adrenal hyperplasia, 3β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 deficiency, autoimmune adrenalitis, autoimmune Addison's disease

INTRODUCTION

 3β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (3β HSD2) catalyzes the conversion of $\Delta 5$ -steroids into $\Delta 4$ -steroids (**Figure 1**). Deficiency of 3β HSD2 causes a rare autosomal recessive form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) characterized by high levels of pregnenolone, 17-hydroxypregnenolone, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), DHEA sulfate (DHEA-S), and androstenediol, and lack of cortisol, aldosterone, and androstenedione (1). There are two isozymes of 3β HSD encoded by HSD3B1 and HSD3B2. 3β HSD2 is expressed in the gonads and the adrenal cortex, whereas 3β HSD1 is expressed in peripheral tissues, converting circulating DHEA to testosterone (1). 3β HSD2



FIGURE 1 | Steroidogenesis in the adrenal cortex. Cholesterol is converted to aldosterone, cortisol, and androgens through different pathways that require specific enzymes (cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme (CYP11A), 17α-hydroxylase (CYP17), 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (3βHSD2), 21-hydroxylase (CYP21), 11β-hydroxylase (CYP11B1), and aldosterone synthase (CYP11B2)]. Androstenedione and testosterone are further converted to dihydrotestosterone (DHT) and estrogens in peripheral tissue.



FIGURE 2 | Levels of circulating 21OH autoantibodies in the patient (P1) and steroid profiling. (A) Using radioimmunoprecipitation assay, levels of 21OH autoantibodies (blue) were measured in serum samples taken at different time points from 1996 to 2013. The cut-off value (red) was set to obtain the maximal accuracy as calculated by an interlaboratory study (6). (B) Using ELISA, levels of pregnenolone, DHEA, and DHEA-S were measured in serum samples from the patient (P1, blue) taken from different time points from 1996 to 2013. Normal adult values (green) are based on established reference values from the textbook "Gynecologic Endocrinology" (pregnenolone) (7), hormone laboratory at Oslo University Hospital (DHEA) (https://ehandboken.ous-hf.no/api/File/GetFile?entityld= 105475) and hormone laboratory at Haukeland University Hospital (DHEA-S) (https://analyseoversikten.no/analyse/14). The average value of AAD patients (yellow) is measured from serum samples of patients included in our biobank.

deficiency can therefore cause relatively high levels of testosterone in females, whereas it cannot compensate for the absence of adrenal and gonadal synthesis of testosterone in males. This causes ambiguous genitalia in males, whereas female newborns exhibit mild virilization or normal sexual differentiation, and may remain undiagnosed until a salt-wasting crisis occurs (1-3).

Adrenal insufficiency can also be due to autoimmune adrenalitis, or autoimmune Addison's disease (AAD), characterized by an immunological attack of the adrenal cortex leading to decreased production of cortisol and aldosterone (4). The self-antigen 21-hydroxylase (21OH) is the dominant target of adrenal autoantibodies and autoreactive T cells (4). Therefore, autoantibodies against 21OH and

Frontiers in Endocrinology | www.frontiersin.org

low serum cortisol levels are important diagnostic markers for AAD.

To the best of our knowledge, we here report the first patient affected by both inborn 3β HSD2 deficiency and acquired AAD.

CASE REPORT

A whole-exome sequencing study involving 142 AAD patients (5) revealed a patient with a rare homozygous mutation in exon 2 of HSD3B2 [frequency ~0.00003 in the Genome Aggregation Database (gnomAD)] at nucleotide position 15 (NM_000198.3:c.15C>A), resulting in the exchange of the cysteine codon to a premature stop codon (p.Cys5Ter). Subsequent screening of the Norwegian Addison Registry identified the patient harboring the mutation, a 55-yearold female with AAD, premature ovarian insufficiency and vitamin B12 deficiency, accompanied by 21OH- and parietal cell autoantibodies (Figure 2A). Notably, she did not carry any of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) alleles conferring high risk to develop AAD (4). She tested negative for other autoantibodies such as anti-thyroid peroxidase, and had normal levels of thyroid stimulating hormone (0.40-4.50 mIU/L). Scrutiny of early medical records showed that

TABLE 1 | Steroid profile of the patient.

Steroids	LLoQ (nM)	Patient serum sample
Progesterone	0.114	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
11-deoxycorticosterone	0.023	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Corticosterone	0.114	<ll0q< td=""></ll0q<>
Tetrahydrocorticosterone	0.114	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
18-hydroxycorticosterone	0.069	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Aldosterone	0.0023	<ll0q< td=""></ll0q<>
Tetrahydroaldosterone	0.062	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
17-hydroksyprogesterone	0.114	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
11-deoxycortisol	0.114	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
21-deoxycortisol	0.023	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Cortisol	0.914	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Tetrahydrocortisol	0.114	0.308
5α-tetrahydrocortisol	0.114	0.187
18-hydroxycortisol	0.046	<ll0q< td=""></ll0q<>
18-oxocortisol	0.046	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Cortisone	0.914	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Tetrahydrocortisone	0.343	<ll0q< td=""></ll0q<>
5α-tetrahydrocortisone	0.343	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Dehydroepiandrosterone	0.617	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate	22.862	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Androstenedione	0.023	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Testosterone	0.023	0.066
Dihydrotestosterone	0.023	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>
Epitestosterone	0.023	<lloq< td=""></lloq<>

Overview of the levels of 24 analytes in a fasting serum sample from the patient, including the Lower Limit of Quantification Levels (LLoQ) for each analyte. The analysis was performed using LC-MS/MS.

	Muta	tion annotation			Frequ	lencies			In sil	ico prediction tools		
HSD3B2 variant	Protein change	Chromosomal location NC_00001.10 GRCh37 (hg19)	Exon number	AAD cohort	In-house exome database	NCGCa	gnomAD ^b	SIFT ^o	PolyPhen2 ^c	Mutation taster ^c	PROVEAN^c	CADD°
c.15C>A	p.Cys5Ter	g.119958057C>A	N	0.0076	0	0	0.000032 ^d	NA	NA	Disease causing	NA	36.0
c.707T>C	p.Leu236Ser	g.119964831T>C	4	0.0038	0	0	0.0038	Tolerated	Benign	Polymorphism	Neutral	13.74
c.931C>T	p.Gln311Ter	g.119965055C>T	4	0.0038	0	0	0.0000040	NA	NA	Disease causing	NA	34.0
c.995A>C	p.Lys332Thr	g.119965119A>C	4	0.0038	0	0	0	Deleterious	Probably damaging	Disease causing	Deleterious	25.0
^a NCGC, Non ^b gnomAD, Tr ^c In silico varié deleterious ve ^d The variant t	vegian Cancer Ger ve Genome Aggreg ant pathogenicity <i>p</i> triants in the humau nas previously beer	romics Consortium exome databu lation Database, https://gnomad. neotoons: SIFT (g), PolyPhen2 (1 n genome (13). n reported in gnomAD, but never.	ase, http://in .broadinstitut 10), Mutation in a homozyc	vitro.hpc.uio. e.org/. Taster2 (11), jous state as	no:8082/vcf-m PROVEAN (12 in this case rej	iner/.), and CADE port.	(Combined Ann	otation Depend	ent Depletion) scores ab	ove 20 indicate that a v	ariant is amongst th	e top 1% c

TABLE 2 | Overview of rare variants of HSD3B2 (NM_000198.3) found in AAD patients

she exhibited hyperpigmentation of genitalia and clitoris hypertrophy already at birth. One week of age, she started to vomit and developed hyponatremia (127 mmol/L) and hyperkalemia (6.1 mmol/L). Elevated levels of 17-ketosteroids were detected. She was therefore diagnosed with CAH and supplemented with cortisone acetate and eventually fludrocortisone. Her sister had also been diagnosed with CAH, but unfortunately died in an adrenal crisis at 2 years of age.

Given these conflicting findings, computer tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance (MR) scans, taken from age 43 to 51, were re-evaluated and the adrenals were found to be in the lower range of normal thickness 2-3 mm, indicating adrenocortical atrophy rather than hyperplasia as would be expected in case of isolated CAH. We then obtained a steroid profile by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectroscopy (LC-MS/MS) of a serum sample taken after an overnight medication fast (Table 1). Levels of all mineralocorticoids, and most glucocorticoids and androgens were below the detection limit, except for tetrahydrocortisol (0.308 nmol/L), 5a-tetrahydrocortisol (0.187 nmol/L), and testosterone (0.066 nmol/L). Total pregnenolone, DHEA and DHEA-S levels were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) from previously collected serum samples spanning the years 1996-2013 (Figure 2B). Normal levels of pregnenolone and DHEA were found in samples from the first 2 years, but then levels decreased toward the subnormal levels generally seen in AAD patients. DHEA-S was also below the normal range, typical of AAD patients, at all time points. ACTH was measured at several time points, revealing elevated levels on multiple occasions. The highest levels were observed in 2011 at 130 pmol/L (normal range 2.0-11.6 pmol/L). Importantly, we detected no subsequent increase in pregnenolone, DHEA, and DHEA-S in spite of elevated ACTH levels (Figure 2B).

She is currently, at age 57, treated with 20 mg hydrocortisone (PlenadrenTM) and 100 μ g fludrocortisone, and does not have suppressed ACTH-values.

DISCUSSION

This is the first report of a patient with primary adrenal insufficiency due to both 3 β HSD2 deficiency and AAD. At inclusion in the national Addison registry, she was classified as having AAD with vitamin B12 deficiency, and 210Hand parietal cell autoantibodies. However, genetic screening and scrutiny of old records revealed a rare form of CAH due to a stop-gain mutation in HSD3B2. The presence of small sized adrenal glands instead of hyperplastic glands, normally seen in CAH, and no overproduction of Δ 5-steroids following elevated ACTH levels, suggest that the adrenal cortex is not functioning. Presence of tetrahydrocortisol and α -tetrahydrocortisol is consistent with her ongoing replacement therapy which includes hydrocortisone. The low, but detectable, level of testosterone may be due to conversion of DHEA by 3β HSD1 in the periphery. Previously measureable pregnenolone levels suggest that the autoimmune destruction of the adrenal cortex commenced sometimes in the 1990-ties.

According to literature, we could only find one reported case of CAH occurring together with complete adrenal cortex insufficiency suspected to be autoimmune adrenalitis. This patient, however, had neither 21OH autoantibodies, nor MHC risk alleles, but was positive for autoantibodies against 17ahydroxylase (8). Therefore, we speculate there might be other rare unreported cases of autoimmune adrenalitis due to early diagnosis of CAH, masking the clinical symptoms of AAD. Interestingly, several other AAD patients included in our exome sequencing analysis carry rare heterozygous non-synonymous variants in HSD3B2 (Table 2). Although it appears that family members of CAH patients, carrying heterozygous HSD3B2 mutations, maintain normal 38HSD2 activity in vivo (14), genetic variations in HSD3B2 are associated with other conditions such as idiopathic hypospadias and prostate cancer (15, 16). Therefore, both subtle molecular abnormalities and deleterious mutations in HSD3B2 could have biological consequences, and may play a role in the pathogenesis of the immune-mediated adrenocortical destruction in AAD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

This manuscript contains previously unpublished data. The name of the repository and accession number(s) are not available.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Regional Committee for Medical and Health Ethics. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Novo Nordisk Foundation (grant number NNF14OC0011005); and the Research Council of Norway (grant numbers 250030, 262677).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the patients participating in our research, and Nina Henne, Elisabeth Halvorsen, Elin Theodorsen, and Hajirah Muneer for great technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Al Alawi AM, Nordenstrom A, Falhammar H. Clinical perspectives in congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 deficiency. *Endocrine*. (2019) 63:407–21. doi: 10.1007/s12020-01 8-01835-3
- Alos N, Moisan A-M, Ward L, Desrochers M, Legault L, Leboeuf G, et al. A novel A10E homozygous mutation in the HSD3B2 gene causing severe salt-wasting 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase deficiency in 46,XX and 46,XY French-Canadians: evaluation of gonadal function after puberty*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2000) 85:1968–74. doi: 10.1210/jc.85.5.1968
- Burckhardt MA, Udhane SS, Marti N, Schnyder I, Tapia C, Nielsen JE, et al. Human 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase deficiency seems to affect fertility but may not harbor a tumor risk: lesson from an experiment of nature. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2015) 173:K1–2. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0599
- Bratland E, Husebye ES. Cellular immunity and immunopathology in autoimmune Addison's disease. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2011) 336:180–90. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2010.12.015
- Aslaksen S, Wolff AB, Vigeland MD, Breivik L, Sheng Y, Oftedal BE, et al. Identification and characterization of rare Toll-like receptor 3 variants in patients with autoimmune Addison's disease. *J Transl Autoimmun.* (2019) 2019:100005. doi: 10.1016/j.jtauto.2019. 100005
- Falorni A, Bini V, Betterle C, Brozzetti A, Castaño L, Fichna M, et al. Determination of 21-hydroxylase autoantibodies: inter-laboratory concordance in the Euradrenal International Serum Exchange Program. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2015) 53:1761–70. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2014-1106
- Josimovich J. Gynecologic Endocrinology. New York, NY: Springer Science & Business Media (2013).
- Reinehr T, Rothermel J, Wegener-Panzer A, Hartmann MF, Wudy SA, Holterhus PM. Vanishing 17-hydroxyprogesterone concentrations in 21-hydroxylase deficiency. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2018) 90:138–44. doi: 10.1159/000487927
- Kumar P, Henikoff S, Ng PC. Predicting the effects of coding non-synonymous variants on protein function using the SIFT algorithm. *Nat Protoc.* (2009) 4:1073–81. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2009.86

- Adzhubei I, Jordan DM, Sunyaev SR. Predicting functional effect of human missense mutations using PolyPhen-2. *Curr Protoc Hum Genet*. (2013) Chapter7:Unit7.20. doi: 10.1002/0471142905.hg0720s76
- Schwarz JM, Cooper DN, Schuelke M, Seelow D. MutationTaster2: mutation prediction for the deep-sequencing age. *Nat Methods*. (2014) 11:361–2. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2890
- Choi Y, Sims GE, Murphy S, Miller JR, Chan AP. Predicting the functional effect of amino acid substitutions and indels. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e46688. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046688
- Kircher M, Witten DM, Jain P, O'roak BJ, Cooper GM, Shendure J. A general framework for estimating the relative pathogenicity of human genetic variants. Nat Genet. (2014) 46:310–5. doi: 10.1038/ng.2892
- Pang S, Carbunaru G, Haider A, Copeland KC, Chang YT, Lutfallah C, et al. Carriers for type II 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (HSD3B2) deficiency can only be identified by HSD3B2 genotype study and not by hormone test. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2003) 58:323–31. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2003.01716.x
- Codner E, Okuma C, Iñiguez Gn, Boric MAI, Avila A, Johnson MC, et al. Molecular study of the 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase gene type II in patients with hypospadias. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2004) 89:957–64. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020873
- Neslund-Dudas C, Bock CH, Monaghan K, Nock NL, Yang JJ, Rundle A, et al. SRD5A2 and HSD3B2 polymorphisms are associated with prostate cancer risk and aggressiveness. *Prostate*. (2007) 67:1654–63. doi: 10.1002/pros.20625

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Aslaksen, Methlie, Vigeland, Jøssang, Wolff, Sheng, Oftedal, Skinningsrud, Undlien, Selmer, Husebye and Bratland. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





uib.no

ISBN: 9788230856277 (print) 9788230844601 (PDF)